Beebe High School Beebe Junior High OASIS Center Dream Academy

2025-2026 Student Handbook



Table of Contents

BEEBE SCHOOL DISTRICT	8
Core Values	8
Vision Statement	8
Mission Statement	8
Alma Mater	8
SCHOOL INFORMATION	10
Foreword	10
Student Handbook	10
Pledge of Allegiance	11
School Mascot- Badger	11
School Colors	11
Phone Numbers for District Offices	11
School Telephone	11
Civic Responsibility	12
Philosophy of Beebe School District	12
Code of Ethics	12
Definitions	13
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)	13
Equal Educational Opportunity	14
Student Religious Expression	14
Special Education	16
Daily Time Schedule	17
Early Dismissal Procedures	17
Daily Bulletin	18
Emergency Drills	18
Beebe Public School Police Officers	18
Guidance and Counseling	18
Security Surveillance	19
Visitors on School Campus	19
Deliveries	19
Contact with Students While at School	20
Contact by Non-Custodial Parent	20
Contact by Law Enforcement, Social Services, or by Court Order	20
Contact by Professional Licensure Standards Board Investigators	21
Privacy of Students' Records/District Information	21
Student Name, Title, Pronoun	24

Free Textbooks	25
Distribution of Literature	25
Library	25
Fees/Lockers	25
Reports to Parents	26
Parent Involvement Plan	26
Volunteer Organizations	26
College Entrance Requirements	27
Student Participation in Surveys (Act 1100 of 2003)	27
Lost and Found	28
Check Return Policy	28
Video Surveillance and Other Student Monitoring	28
SCHOOL ENROLLMENT	29
Residence Requirements	29
Entrance Requirements	30
Uniformed Services Member's Children	32
Student Transfers	35
School Choice	36
Arkansas Course Choice Program	36
Opportunity School Choice	39
Independent Students	42
Homeless Students	43
Home Schooling	44
Foster Children	46
Moving from the School District	48
Virtual Academy	48
ATTENDANCE	50
Attendance Policy	50
Absences from School	50
Compulsory Attendance Requirements	53
Procedures for Absences	54
Make-Up Work	54
Dropping/Changing a Class	56
Semester Test Policy	56
Tardiness	57
Truancy	57

ACADEMICS	58
Classification of Students	58
Graduation Requirements for the Classes 2026 and Thereafter	58
Grading	62
Grading Policy	63
Grading, Class Standing, and Grade Point	63
Report Cards and Progress Reports	64
Homework Policy	64
Student Promotion and Retention	65
Seventh and Eighth-Grade Promotion Policy	70
Student Acceleration	70
Correspondence and Summer School Work	73
Concurrent Credit	73
Graduation	74
Early Graduation	74
Honor or High Honors Graduate	75
Honor Graduate Requirements	75
Valedictorian and Salutatorian Requirements	76
Arkansas Scholars Program	76
Athletic Scholarship Awards	77
Transcripts	77
REGULATIONS FOR SCHOOL ORGANIZATIONS	77
School Organizations	77
Holding Student Council Offices	77
Holding Class Office	78
Who's Who	78
Trying Out for Cheerleader/Dancer/Mascot	78
Homecoming Queen and Maids	79
Badger Pride Maids	79
Prom	79
Other School Dances	80
Assembly Programs and Class Meetings	81
Student Organizations / Equal Access	81
EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES	82

Extra Curricular Activities	82
Extra Curricular Elligibility	82
Interscholastic Activities	83
Academic Requirements: Junior High	83
Academic Requirements: Senior High	84
Students with an Individual Education Program	84
Arkansas Activities Association	84
Interscholastic Activities	84
School Choice Transfers	85
Extracurricular Activity Eligibility for Home-Schooled Students	85
Extracurricular Activity Eligibility for Private-Schooled Students	88
Random Drug Testing	90
Random Drug Testing Policy Forms	95
Random Drug Testing Opt-Out Form	98
Activities Conduct	99
STUDENT CONDUCT & DISCIPLINE	99
Who is Responsible for Student Conduct?	99
Bullying	100
Demonstrations and Strikes	104
Dress Code	105
Drug and Alcohol Policy	106
Sexual harassment	108
Search, Seizure, and Interrogations	110
Terroristic Threats	111
Student Discipline	111
Misconduct/Discipline	113
Physical Abuse or Assault of Staff	113
Weapons and Dangerous Instruments	113
Fighting	115
Theft	116
Forging Doctor Notes	116
Damage or Destruction of School Property	116
Cell Phones/Electronics Regulations	116
Profanity: Inappropriate language / gestures / slurs	118
Gang Signs, Symbols, and Attire	118
False Alarms of Danger	118
Hazing	119

Insubordination (Disregard of Directions or Commands)	119
Disruption and Interference with School	119
Fireworks	119
Gambling	119
Leaving Campus/Skipping Class	120
Loitering	120
Public Display of Affection	120
Cheating	121
Use of Artificial Intelligence (AI)	121
Behavior Not Covered	122
Student Use of Multiple Occupancy Room	122
Discipline for Disabled Students	123
Corporal Punishment	123
Suspension from School	123
Expulsion	125
Student and Parent Complaints and Grievances	126
Due Process	127
Definitions	128
MEDICAL INFORMATION	129
Health Services	129
Physical Examinations / Screenings	130
Student Illness/Accident	130
Personal Illness	130
Administration of Medication	131
Communicable Diseases and Parasites	136
Head Lice	137
Wellness Policy	138
ELECTRONICS	143
District Website	143
Beebe School Technology for Parent Use	144
Network User Policy/Internet Safety/ School Issued Electronic Policy	145
Possession and Use of Personal Electronic Devices	148
FOOD SERVICE	150
Payment Procedures	150
Student Meal Charges	150
School Meal Modifications	152

Rules Governing Nutrition in Arkansas Public Schools	153
TRANSPORTATION	153
Policies for Students Riding School Buses	153
Student Parking	155
CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT & SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT	156
Curriculum Development	156
Beebe Public Schools Planning for Education	157
School Improvement Team	157
BEEBE SCHOOLS ALTERNATIVE EDUCATION PROGRAMS	160



BEEBE SCHOOL DISTRICT

Core Values

Committed to: Safety, Equity, Growth, & Community

Vision Statement

Leading excellence by empowering all Badgers for success.

Mission Statement

Beebe School District is committed to providing a safe and equitable community for personal and academic growth.

Alma Mater

Badgers, we are loyal Yes, we're loyal to you And to the school we love Let us always be true, Badgers.

Fight for our future, Let's win this game. Give Us a victory for Beebe Senior High

Beebe School District

2024-2025 K-12 School Calendar

377 Instructional Minutes per Day: 7:50 am - 3:19 pm (7-12 Bell Schedule)

*K-6 Start & Stop times may vary slightly.

4 inclement weather days are built into the minutes of this calendar.

Any additional inclement weather days will be made up beginning Friday, May 23rd. If inclement weather causes.

school to go past Friday, May 23rd, there will be NO SCHOOL on Monday, May 26th (Memorial Day).

Tuesday August 6 - First Day for Faculty/Staff - Policies and Procedures (8:30-3:30)

Wednesday August 7 - Faculty/Staff Professional Development (8:30-3:30)

Thursday August 8 - Open House (1:30-7:00); Faculty/Staff (12:00-7:00)

Monday August 12 - "Badger" Day 1 (Teacher Work Day, No School for Students)

Wednesday August 14 - First Day of School

Monday September 2 - No School - Labor Day

Thursday October 17- End of First Quarter - 46 days

Thursday October 24 - "Badger" Day 2 (Teacher Work Day, No School for Students),

PT Conferences (3:00-8:00)

Friday October 25 - No School

Mon. - Fri. November 25-29 - No School - Fall Break

Friday December 20 - End of Second Quarter - 39 days

Mon. - Fri. Dec 23 - Jan. 3 - No School - Winter Break

Monday January 6 - "Badger" Day 3 (Teacher Work Day, No School for Students)

Tuesday January 7 - First Day of 2nd Semester

Monday January 20 - No School - Martin Luther King Jr. Day

Thursday February 13 - "Badger" Day 4 (Teacher Work Day, No School for Students),

PT Conferences (3:00-8:00), 8th-11th CAPS Conferences (1:00-8:00)

Friday February 14 - No School

Friday March 14 - End of Third Quarter - 46 Days

Mon. - Fri. March 24-28 - No School - Spring Break

Friday April 18 - No School - Good Friday

Thursday May 22 - End of Fourth Quarter (Last Day of School) - 43 Days

Friday May 23 - Teacher Work Day - No School for Students (Possible Weather Make Up

Day: Will only be used if we are out more than 4 days for inclement

weather)

SCHOOL INFORMATION

Foreword

Many policies in this handbook are based on state and federal legislation. It is our sincere desire that this handbook may provide a clearer understanding for teachers, students, and parents so that by working together, we may accomplish our school mission.

To new students who come to the Beebe School District, this book brings you the assurance of welcome and goodwill. May your time at Beebe be happy and profitable.

The material in this handbook is published to familiarize new students with the regulations, organizations, and student activities of our school and to serve as a reference for all students, teachers, and parents. It is prepared for you, and we hope you will make frequent use of it.

Student Handbook

It shall be the policy of the Beebe School District that the most recently adopted version of the Student Handbook be incorporated by reference into the policies of this district. In the event there is a conflict between the student handbook and a general board policy or policies, the more recently adopted language will be considered binding and controlling on the matter provided the parent(s) of the student, or the student is 18 years of age or older have acknowledged receipt of the controlling language.

Principals shall review all changes to student policies and ensure that such changes are provided to students and parents, either in the Handbook or, if changes are made after the handbook is printed, as an addendum to the handbook.

Principals and counselors shall also review Policies 4.45 – Smart Core Curriculum and Graduation Requirements and the current ADE Standards for Accreditation Rules to ensure that there is no conflict. If a conflict exists, the Principal and/or Counselor shall notify the Superintendent and Curriculum Coordinator immediately so that corrections may be made and notice of the requirements given to students and parents.

During the months of May and June each year, a Handbook Committee is formed, and the handbook is reviewed. The 2024-25 Handbook Committee members are

Mark Bivens - Admin. Justin Edwards -Admin. Mark Bivens- Admin. Kelli McNeill - Admin. Zach Rigsby - SRO Forrest Haley - Admin. Kendra Rainey- BHS Nurse Kelli Faith- Parent Landa Kerr - Parent Emily Stroud- Teacher Gabriel Rhynes - Admin.

Cameron Johnson - Student Addilynn Kerr - Student Nicole Mitsunaga - Counselor

Pledge of Allegiance

The pledge to the flag is given each morning. A student will be designated to lead the student body in stating the pledge. All students will stand and place their right hands over their hearts and say:

I pledge allegiance to the flag of the United States of America and to the Republic for which it stands, one nation under God, indivisible, with liberty and justice for all.

School Mascot- Badger

Many years ago, the founders of our school, along with students and patrons, put their heads together in an effort to select a school mascot that would represent our school with pride. The Badger was elected because it could overcome all odds with its tremendous strength, courage, alertness, and intelligence.

School Colors

The colors of Beebe School are cardinal red and white. These are used in all school interscholastic activities, in letters given by the school, and in all uniforms worn by various organizations and teams.

Phone Numbers for District Offices

District number	501-882-5463
Central Office	Ext. 1010
Support Services	Ext. 1000
Bus Shop	Ext. 1200
Special Education	Ext. 1248/1065
High School	Ext. 1058/1033
High School Counseling Center	Ext. 1067
Junior High	Ext. 1056/1057
Middle School	Ext. 2008
Elementary – 4 th grade	Ext. 1033
Elementary -2^{nd} and 3^{rd} grade	Ext. 1115
Early Childhood	Ext. 1099/1100
OASIS Center	Ext. 1246

School Telephone

Phone messages should not be left for students in the office except in case of an emergency. Students will not be called to the office to take a phone call. Students should not ask to use the office phone unless there is an emergency or a teacher has asked a student to place a call.

Civic Responsibility

As patrons of Beebe School District, students, teachers, and staff are all responsible for maintaining the school's facilities. Students are expected to participate in scheduled clean-up activities, as well as to make personal efforts to preserve a safe, clean school environment.

Philosophy of Beebe School District

The Beebe Board of Education, administration, and teachers consider education a cooperative endeavor that includes the home, community, and state.

The primary role of the school is to teach educational skills while offering a broad-based and flexible curriculum that provides opportunities for individual students regardless of race, color, national origin, sex, or handicap.

Educational experiences, which include extracurricular activities, should promote good citizenship, encourage students to take responsibility for their own actions, encourage students to perform well in the classroom, teach the importance of cooperation and working together to achieve common goals and provide opportunities for students to succeed.

The school should provide competent, qualified, and dedicated instructors for its students as well as a physical plant that lends itself to changing educational programs while providing a stimulating atmosphere.

In applying this philosophy, the following specific objectives will be sought:

- 1. To strengthen the curriculum in the basic areas such as reading, language arts, and math.
- 2. To broaden the scope of the curriculum to meet or exceed the recommended state educational standards.
- 3. To provide in-service training to help teachers to keep abreast of new developments in education.
- 4. To offer programs that will help each learner to develop toward his/her potential.
- 5. To provide educational experiences which will promote good citizenship, responsibility, and a spirit of cooperation.
- 6. To encourage increased parent-community participation in the school program.
- 7. To promote maximum student attendance.

Code of Ethics

- As a student of Beebe Public School, I shall uphold its standards and strive to raise them at all times.
- I shall endeavor to raise my scholastic record and to influence other students to do their best
- I shall consider it an honor to represent my school to the best of my ability whenever possible.

- Because good manners and good conduct are essential to good citizenship, I shall practice them at all times.
- As a part of being a good citizen, I shall keep my school building and grounds clean and attractive.
- I shall cooperate with the school officials in taking the best possible care of the school, its grounds, and its equipment.
- I shall consider it an honor as well as a duty to live up to this "Code of Ethics" in order to be a good student of Beebe Schools.

Definitions:

Anytime these words are used in the handbook, please refer to these meanings:

- Female/girl gender identified at birth.
- Male/boy gender identified at birth.
- Bullying means the intentional harassment, intimidation, humiliation, ridicule, defamation, or threat or incitement of violence by a student against another student or public school employee by a written, verbal, electronic, or physical act that may address an attribute of the other student, public school employee, or person with whom the other student or public school employee is associated and that causes or creates actual or reasonably foreseeable:
 - Physical harm to a public school employee or student or damage to the public school employee's or student's property;
 - Substantial interference with a student's education or with a public school employee's role in education;
 - A hostile educational environment for one (1) or more students or public school employees due to the severity, persistence, or pervasiveness of the act or
 - Substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school or educational environment.
- Electronic Device means anything that can be used to transmit or capture images, sound, or data.

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) is a federal law designed to protect the privacy of students' educational records. The law applies to all schools which receive funds under an applicable program of the U.S. Department of Education.

Generally, schools must have written permission from their parent or eligible student before releasing any information from a student's record.

However, the law allows schools to disclose those records, without consent, to the following parties:

- School employees who need to know;
- Other schools to which a student is transferring;

- Certain government officials to carry out our lawful functions;
- Appropriate parties in connection with financial aid to a student;
- Organizations conducting certain studies for the school;
- Accrediting organizations;
- Individuals who have obtained court orders or subpoenas;
- Persons who need to know in cases of health and safety emergencies and
- State and local authorities within a juvenile justice system, pursuant to specific State law.

Other state laws may apply depending on your situation. You are required to follow all federal, state, and local laws pertaining to student confidentiality.

"No Child Left Behind Act" required that school districts receiving certain federal funding provide student names, addresses, and phone numbers on request to various branches of the United States military for recruiting purposes. In addition, schools must allow military recruiters the same access to students as they do institutions of higher education and employers.

The law also requires that schools give students and parents the opportunity to have their contact information withheld from the military (20 U.S.C 7908).

A secondary school student or the parent of the student may request that the student's name, address, and telephone listing described in paragraph one not be released without prior written parental consent, and the local educational agency or private school shall notify parents of the option to make a request and shall comply with any request.

If you would like to exercise your opportunity to opt out of releasing your child's information, name, address, and telephone number to military recruiters and/or institutions of higher education, you may complete the required form and turn it in at the High School office.

A student's parent or student over the age of 18 requesting to review the student's education records will be allowed to do so within no more than forty-five (45) days of the request.

Parents or guardians choosing to opt out of Medicaid billing for hearing and vision testing may contact their building principal.

Equal Educational Opportunity:

No student in the Beebe School District shall, on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, or disability, be excluded from participating in or denied the benefits of or subjected to discrimination under any educational program or activity sponsored by the District. The District has a limited open forum granting equal access to the Boy Scouts of America and other groups.

Student Religious Expression

The Beebe School District Board of Directors does not allow discrimination against a student based on a student's voluntary religious expression, if any. At the same time, the District shall

provide a process to eliminate any actual or perceived sponsorship or attribution to the District of a student's public, voluntary expression of a religious viewpoint, if any.

Student Assignments

Student assignments include, but are not limited to:

- o Homework
- Classwork
- Artwork, and
- Other written or oral assignments.

A student may express the student's religious viewpoint, if any, in the student's assignments without discrimination based on the religious content. A student's assignments shall:

- 1. Be graded and judged:
 - · By ordinary academic standards of substance and relevance and
 - · Against other conventional, pedagogical topics as identified by the District curriculum; and
- 2. Not be penalized or rewarded based on the religious content, if any, of the student's assignments.

Student Presenters

A student's expression of a religious viewpoint, if any, on an otherwise permissible subject shall not be excluded from a forum, whether oral or in writing, where students are allowed to speak.

The District has the right to restrict student speech that is inappropriate in the school setting by being obscene, vulgar, offensively lewd, or indecent.

Review of written student forums shall be handled in accordance with Policy 4.14—STUDENT MEDIA AND THE DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE.

If the forum is a scheduled event with designated student speakers, the building principal shall have an opportunity to review pre-written remarks prior to the student's presentation at the scheduled forum. The principal may require the student to amend the student's remarks to the extent necessary to address any portions that are determined to be inappropriate. A student's refusal to amend the remarks that were determined to be inappropriate may be prohibited from participation in the forum. A student who diverts from the approved pre-written remarks during a speech in such a manner that is determined to be inappropriate by the building principal or another present District staff member may be asked to return to the approved remarks. If a student refuses to return to the approved remarks or continues to divert from the approved

remarks in a manner that is determined to be inappropriate may be escorted from the forum and disciplined in accordance with the District's Student Code of Conduct.

If the timing or format of the forum does not provide for pre-written remarks to be reviewed, then the building principal or other District staff shall have the authority to address a student whose remarks are determined to be inappropriate. The building principal or District staff member shall initially ask the student to cease the inappropriate remarks. If the student refuses or makes additional inappropriate remarks after being directed to cease such remarks, Then the building principal or District staff member may escort the student from the forum, and the student may be disciplined in accordance with the District's Student Code of Conduct.

There shall be a disclaimer that a student speaker's speech does not reflect the endorsement, sponsorship, position, or expression of the District. The disclaimer shall be provided at all forums where students speak and at all graduation ceremonies. The disclaimer shall be provided orally or in writing as most appropriately fits the format of the forum.

Information on how to participate in a student forum shall be provided to all students via email.¹

In addition to the salutatorian and valedictorian selection process in Policy 5.17—HONOR ROLL AND HONOR GRADUATES, the following students may speak during the District's graduation ceremony:²

Any student deemed appropriate by the high school principal and guidance counselor.

Inquiries on non-discrimination may be directed to the Assistant Superintendent/Curriculum and Student Affairs, who may be reached at the Central Office, 1201 West Center Street, Beebe, Arkansas.

For further information on notice on non-discrimination or to file a complaint, visit http://wdcrobcolp01.ed.gov/CFAPPS/OCR/contactus.cfm; for the address and the phone number of the office that serves your area, or call 1-800-421-3481.

Special Education

In accordance with the Individuals With Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans With Disabilities Act, and Arkansas Statutes, the district shall provide free appropriate public education and necessary related services to all children with disabilities who reside within the district boundaries or outside of the district boundaries but are enrolled in the district.

It is the intent of the district to ensure that students who are disabled within the definition of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 are identified, evaluated, and provided with

appropriate educational services. Students may be disabled within the meaning of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act even though they do not require services pursuant to the IDEA.

For students eligible for services under IDEA, the District shall follow procedures for identification, evaluation, placement, and delivery of services to children with disabilities provided in the state and federal statutes governing special education. Implementation of an Individualized Education Program (IEP) in accordance with the IDEA satisfies the district's obligation to provide a free and appropriate education under Section 504.

The Board directs the superintendent to ensure procedures are in place for the implementation of special education services and that programs are developed to conform to the requirements of state and federal legislation. The superintendent is responsible for appointing a district coordinator to oversee the district's fulfillment of its responsibilities regarding students with disabilities. Among the coordinator's responsibilities shall be ensuring district enforcement of the due process rights of students with disabilities and their parents.

Daily Time Schedule:

School begins at 7:50 a.m. and dismisses at approximately 3:19 p.m.

Early Dismissal Procedures

Students are not permitted to leave campus from the time of arrival until dismissal time at the end of the day without special permission from the principal's office. A student who fails to check out through the office will be considered truant. If it does become necessary for a student to leave campus during the school day, the student's parent may come to the school to check him/her out. If a parent is unable to come to school, it is requested that the parent telephone the school to give permission. If the parent is unable to telephone, he or she may have a relative or friend give proper permission if the designee is identified in a note from the parent.

In the event that a student gets sick at school or has an accident, every effort will be made to contact a parent or guardian. If, however, a parent cannot be contacted, the school nurse will take whatever steps are appropriate for the situation.

If a parent sends a note for their child to check out, the student must bring the note to the office prior to the start of the school day in which they are checking out. The parent, if possible, needs to have a contact phone number to verify the checkout time and day.

A student checking out during the school day may not return to school that day unless he/she leaves for one of the following reasons: documentation from the appointment is required for the student to return to school.

- Official school-sponsored activity
- Required court appearance
- Medical appointment
- Extenuating circumstances as determined by the school

Daily Bulletin

A bulletin containing general announcements is issued each day. Announcements to appear in the bulletin should be given to the office by 2:00 p.m. the previous day.

Emergency Drills:

All schools in the District shall conduct fire drills at least monthly. Tornado drills shall also be conducted no fewer than three (3) times per year, with at least one each in the months of September, January, and February. Students who ride school buses shall also participate in emergency evacuation drills at least twice each school year.

The District shall annually conduct a lockdown drill and school safety assessment for all District schools in collaboration with local law enforcement, medical professionals, fire department officials, and emergency management personnel. The training will include a lockdown exercise with panic button alert system training. Students will be included in the drills to the extent that is developmentally appropriate for the age of both the students and the grade configuration of the school.

All pupils should read closely the directions posted by the teacher in each classroom. Each teacher will instruct the individual classes as to warning signals and actions to be taken in his/her classroom. When drills are conducted during the school day, and the signal is given, students should leave the building quickly and quietly by assigned routes. Return to the building shall be signaled by a warning bell.

Beebe Public School Police Officers

Beebe School District employs five full-time uniformed police officers on the school campus who also police extracurricular activities. Any such officer is a resource for the school, the students, and the parents. The officer(s) will work interactively with students, teachers, and administrators in an effort to maintain a safe and wholesome environment that is conducive to learning. Any such officer(s) will be involved in law enforcement, instruction, and counseling.

Guidance and Counseling

Beebe High School maintains counseling and guidance for all its students. Students needing assistance with educational, vocational, and personal issues may secure help at the guidance office. An up-to-date library of college catalogs, vocational information, and related materials are kept in the Guidance Office for use by students and teachers.

An educational and social record of each student from the time he entered school is kept on file. This includes test information, vocational choice, grades, and other information considered

beneficial to the student. A student may review this information and bring it up to date at his convenience. The counselor requests at least one personal conference with each student a year.

The faculty and staff want to provide each student with the support to make every day a good day for learning. There are days when students face challenges that affect them mentally, emotionally, and socially, which can interfere with their schoolwork. The Beebe School District is fortunate to be staffed with guidance counselors who are prepared to assist students when support is needed in one of these areas. In addition to our school counselors, mental health agencies sometimes provide counselors for students during the school day. These counselors work with the building administrators and counselors to assist students in addressing behaviors that interfere with learning.

Parents are always welcome to contact the building counselor at any time during the school day. Parent involvement is a key ingredient for student success, and we appreciate your efforts in making your child's days at Beebe Schools a positive experience. Parents are welcome to visit with the counselor to see their child's test scores, discuss educational plans, or discuss other problems that their child might be experiencing. If requested, building counselors can provide information to parents regarding available resources for additional student support.

Security Surveillance

Beebe Public School utilizes security cameras to monitor the buildings and campus for safety purposes. School administrators and School Resource Officers will monitor the system.

Visitors on School Campus

Visitors to the campus during school hours are to register with the principal prior to fulfilling the purpose of the visit. Visitors failing to register with the principal may be considered as trespassing. The school discourages students from bringing visitors to the school. The school officials and teachers feel that bringing a visitor will result in one's getting less from his/her day than normal, plus the fact that, quite often the visitor should be in attendance in his/her own respective school. Students from other schools may not eat lunch with our students. All persons on school grounds, in school buildings, or at any school-sponsored activity must identify themselves to school authorities upon request.

Deliveries:

No flowers, balloons, candy, or restaurant/fast food lunches shall be delivered to the school. It tends to be disruptive and might create problems during the school day. Any other item must be delivered via the principal's office.

Contact with Students While at School

Parents wishing to speak to their student during the school day shall report to the office. By law, if parents are legally separated or divorced, each parent has equal rights to access to the student's school records unless a parent has a court order that indicates which parent has access to the student's school records. The school must have a copy of the court order on file. Otherwise, either parent may check the student out of school or obtain school records with proper identification.

Contact by Non-Custodial Parent

If there is any question concerning the legal custody of the student, the custodial parent shall present documentation to the principal or the principal's designee establishing the parent's custody of the student. It shall be the responsibility of the custodial parent to make any court ordered no contact or other restrictions regarding the non-custodial parent known to the principal by presenting a copy of a file marked court order. Without such a court order on file, the school will release the child to either of his/her parents. Non-custodial parents who file with the principal a date-stamped copy of current court orders granting unsupervised visitation may each lunch, volunteer in their child's classroom, or otherwise have contact with the child during school hours and the prior approval of the school's principal. Such contact is subject to the limitations outlined in Policy 4.16, Policy 6.5, and any other policies that may apply.

Arkansas law provides that, in order to avoid continuing child custody controversies from involving school personnel and to avoid disruptions to the educational atmosphere in the District's schools, the transfer of a child between his/her custodial parent and non-custodial parent, when both parents are present, shall not take place on the school's property or normal school days during normal hours of school operation. The custodial or non-custodial parent may send to/drop off the student at school to be sent to/picked up by the other parent on predetermined days in accordance with any court order provided by the custodial parent or by a signed agreement between both the custodial and non-custodial parents that was witnessed by the student's building principal. Unless a valid no-contact order has been filed with the student's principal or the principal's designee, district employees shall not become involved in disputes concerning whether or not that parent was supposed to pick up the student on any given day.

Contact by Law Enforcement, Social Services, or by Court Order

State Law requires that Department of Human Services employees, local law enforcement, or agents of the Crimes Against Children Division of the Arkansas State Police may interview students without a court order for the purpose of investigating suspected child abuse. In instances where the interviewers deem it necessary, they may exercise a "72-hour hold" without first obtaining a court order. Except as provided below, other questioning of students by non-school personnel shall be granted only with a court order directing such questioning, with permission of the parents of a student (or the student if above eighteen (18) years of age), or in response to a subpoena or arrest warrant.

If the District makes a report to any law enforcement agency concerning student misconduct or if access to a student is granted to a law enforcement agency due to a court order, the principal or the principal's designee shall make a good-faith effort to contact the student's parent, legal guardian, or other person having lawful control by court order, or person acting in loco parentis identified on student enrollment forms. The principal or the principal's designee shall not attempt to make such contact if presented documentation by the investigator that notification is prohibited because a parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis is named as an alleged offender of the suspected child maltreatment. This exception applies only to interview requests made by a law enforcement officer, an investigator of the Crimes Against Children Division of the Division of Arkansas State Police, or an investigator or employee of the Department of Human Services.

In instances other than those related to cases of suspected child abuse, principals must release a student to either a police officer who presents a subpoena for the student, or a warrant for arrest, or to an agent of state social services or an agent of a court with jurisdiction over a child with a court order signed by a judge. Upon release of the student, the principal or designee shall give the student's parent, legal guardian, or other person having lawful control of the student or person standing in loco parentis notice that the student has been taken into custody by law enforcement personnel or a state's social services agency. If the principal or designee is unable to reach the parent, he or she shall make a reasonable, good-faith effort to get a message to the parent to call the principal or designee and leave both a day and an after-hours telephone number.

Contact by Professional Licensure Standards Board Investigators

Investigators for the Professional Licensure Standards Board may meet with students during the school day to carry out the investigation of an ethics complaint.

Privacy of Students' Records/District Information

Parents should notify the school <u>immediately</u> if there is a change in address, phone number, or emergency contact person(s). It is important to have correct information on file in the event of illness or injury.

Except when a court order regarding a student has been presented to the District to the contrary, all student's educational records are available for inspection and copying by the parent of his/her student who is under the age of eighteen (18). At the age of 18, the right to inspect and copy a student's records transfer to the student. A student's parent or the student, if over the age of 18, requesting to review the student's educational records will be allowed to do so within no more than forty-five (45) days of the request. The District forwards educational records, including disciplinary records, to schools that have requested them and in which the student seeks or intends to enroll or is already enrolled so long as the disclosure is for purposes related to the student's enrollment or transfer.

The District shall receive written permission before releasing educational records to any agency or individual not authorized by law to receive and/or view the educational records without prior

parental permission. The District shall maintain a record of requests by such agencies or individuals for access to, and each disclosure of, personally identifiable information (PII) from the education records of each student. Disclosure of education records is authorized by law to school officials with legitimate educational interests. A personal record kept by a school staff member is not considered an educational record if it meets the following tests:

- 1. It is in the sole possession of the individual who made it
- 2. It is used only as a person's memory aid
- 3. Information contained in it has never been revealed or made available to any other person except the maker's temporary substitute.

For the purposes of this policy, a school official is a person employed by the school as an administrator, supervisor, instructor, or support staff member (including health or medical staff and law enforcement unit personnel), a person serving on the school board, a person or company with whom the school has contracted to perform a special task (such as attorney, auditor, medical consultant, or therapist), or a parent or student serving on an official committee, such as disciplinary or grievance committee, or assisting another school official in performing his or her tasks. For the purpose of this policy, a school official has a legitimate educational interest if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill his or her professional responsibility, contracted duty, or duty of elected office.

In addition to releasing PII to school officials without permission, the District may disclose PII from the education records of students in foster care placement to the student's caseworker or to the caseworker's representative without prior consent of the parent (or the student if over 18. For the District to release the student's PII without getting permission:

- The student must be in foster care
- The individual to whom the PII will be released must have legal access to the student's case plan and
- The Arkansas Department of Human Services, or a sub-agency of the Department, must be legally responsible for the care and protection of the student.

The District discloses personally identifiable information from an education record to appropriate parties, including parents, in connection with an emergency if knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals. The Superintendent or designee shall determine who will have access to and who is responsible for disclosing information in emergency situations.

When deciding whether to release in a health or safety emergency, the District may take into account the totality of the circumstances pertaining to a threat to the health or safety of a student or other individuals. If the District determines that there is an articulable and significant threat to the health or safety of a student or other individuals, it may disclose information from education records to any person whose knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals.

For the purpose of this policy, the Beebe School District does not distinguish between a custodial and noncustodial parent or a non-parent, such as a person acting in loco parentis or a foster

parent with respect to gaining access to a student's records. Unless a court order restricting such access has been presented to the District to the contrary, the fact of a person's status as parent or guardian alone enables that parent or guardian to review and copy his/her child's records.

If there exists a court order that directs that a parent not have access to a student or his/her records, the parent, guardian, person acting in loco parentis, or an agent of the Department of Human Services must present a file marked copy of such order to the building principal and the Superintendent. The school will make good faith efforts to act in accordance with such court order, but the failure to do so does not impose legal liability upon the school. The actual responsibility for enforcement of such court orders rests with the parent or guardian, their attorney, and the court which issued the order.

A parent or guardian does not have the right to remove any material from a student's records, but such a parent or guardian may challenge the accuracy of a record. The right to challenge the accuracy of a record does not include the right to dispute a grade, which must be done only through the appropriate teacher and/or administrator, the decision of whom is final. A challenge to the accuracy of material contained in a student's file must be initiated with the building principal, with an appeal available to the Superintendent or his/her designee. The challenge shall clearly identify the part of the student's record the parent wants changed and specify why he/she believes it is inaccurate or misleading. If the school determines not to amend the record as requested, the school will notify the requesting parent or student of the decision and inform them of their right to a hearing regarding the request for amending the record. The parent or eligible student will provide information regarding the hearing procedure when notified of the right to a hearing.

Unless the parent or guardian of a student (or student, if above the age of 18) objects, directory information about a student may be made available to the public military recruiters, post-secondary educational institutions, prospective employers of those students, as well as school publications such as annual yearbook and graduation announcements. "Directory Information" includes, but is not limited to, a student's name, address, telephone number, electronic email address, photograph, date and place of birth, dates of attendance, his/her placement on the honor roll (or other types of honors), as well as his/her participation in school clubs and extracurricular activities, among others. If the student participates in inherently public activities (for example, basketball, football, or other interscholastic activities), the publication of such information will be beyond the control of the District. "District Information" also includes a student identification (ID) number, user ID, or other unique personal identifier used by a student for purposes of accessing or communicating in electronic systems and a student ID number or other unique personal identifier that is displayed on a student's ID badge, provided the ID cannot be used to gain access to education records except when used in conjunction with one or more factors that authenticate the user's identity, such as a personal identification number (PIN), password or other factor known or possessed only by the authorized user. A student's name and photograph will only be displayed on the District or School's web page(s) after receiving written permission from the student's parent or student if over age 18.

The form for objecting to making directory information available is located in the office and must be completed and signed by the parent or age-eligible student and filed with the building principal's office no later than ten (10) school days after the beginning of each school year or the date the student is enrolled for school. Failure to file an objection by that time is considered a specific grant of permission. The District is required to continue to honor any signed opt-out form for any student no longer in attendance at the District.

The right to opt out of the disclosure of directory information under FERPA does not prevent the District from disclosing or requiring a student to disclose the student's name, identifier, or institutional email address in a class in which the student is enrolled. Parents and students over the age of 18 who believe the District has failed to comply with the requirements for the lawful release of student records may file a complaint with the U. S. Department of Education at the Student Privacy Policy Office, U.S. Dept. of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20202.

The District shall ensure that all contracts that disclose or make available student personally identifiable information to vendors, including school service contract providers, school service on-demand providers, and other third parties, including without limitation subcontractors of contract providers, include express provisions that safeguard the privacy and security of student personally identifiable information that meet the requirements under A.C.A. § 6-18-2601 et seq. The District shall maintain a list of the school service contract providers that the District contracts with for school services that include or make available student personally identifiable information. The list shall be updated at least once at the beginning of each semester and provided to parents upon request.

Student Name, Title, or Pronoun

Unless a District employee has the written permission of the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student or the student if the student is an emancipated minor or over eighteen (18) years of age, a District employee shall not address a student with a:

- 1. Name other than that listed on the student's birth certificate, except for a derivative of the name; or
- 2. Pronoun or title that is inconsistent with the student's biological sex.

A student or staff member shall not be subject to discipline for declining to address a person using a:

- a. Name other than that listed on the student's birth certificate, except for a derivative of the name; or
- b. Pronoun or title that is inconsistent with the person's biological sex.

Graduation documents will reflect the legal documents associated with the student regardless of any written permission of the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis.

Free Textbooks

Textbooks, workbooks, and many other educational materials will be supplied to the student by the school. It must be kept in mind that many of these books are purchased by the school with the expectation of using them for five years. Students who lose, destroy, or deface books that are issued to them will be charged with the responsibility of paying for these items on a pro-rated basis.

Distribution of Literature

Students shall have the right to distribute and possess literature subject to individual building procedures and in accordance with Board of Education policies. The District may prohibit a specific issue of a publication if there is a substantial basis to believe its distribution or possession will cause disruption of school activities. Principals have the responsibility to see the Board of Education policies are adhered to.

Library

The library is for your use and convenience. Do not hesitate to consult the librarian or the student assistants for help in locating a book or finding information.

The library is open from 7:30 a.m. until 3:30 p.m. Students do not need permission to go to the library before school, during lunch periods, or after school.

All books taken from the library must be checked out to the student. Students are responsible for books checked out until they are returned to the circulation desk and have been placed under the counter. Fines will be charged for overdue or lost books. Information concerning overdue books will be posted in the library. Students who lose books should consult with the librarian.

Fees/Lockers

- 1. Each student will be offered a locker with a lock for a rental fee. Students will be required to keep their lockers locked at all times throughout the school year.
- 2. Lockers are a part of the school and may be opened by school authorities when deemed necessary. Any student who wishes to carry his/her books may do so.
- 3. Students are to use only their assigned lockers. Sharing of lockers is not permitted.
- 4. Students will keep lockers neat, orderly, and closed. If the locker will not close, contents will be collected and students will pay a fine to get the contents back. Students may only pay locker fines and retrieve contents before and after school.

Reports to Parents:

The faculty and administration at Beebe Public School believe that communication between the school and home is extremely important. Several methods will be used by the school to communicate with parents. An open house will be held in the fall for parents to meet teachers and view classrooms. Teachers shall meet the parent(s) or guardian(s) of each student at least once a semester in a parent-teacher conference, a telephone conference, or a home visit. In addition, teachers are encouraged to contact parents frequently through phone calls and e-mail. Parents may also keep abreast of their student's academic progress by using the Home Access Center on the Beebe Public School home page on the Internet.

Report cards will be issued at the end of each nine-week grading period. Notices for report card dates will be made in the local newspaper and on the school's web page to inform parents. Progress reports will also be sent home at the midpoint of each grading period. Teachers or parents may request a conference at this time if they feel it will benefit the student. Parents may request a conference with their child's teacher at any time.

Parent Involvement Plan

Philosophy

We recognize the family as the primary influence in a child's life. We believe

- A child's education is a responsibility shared by the school staff and family during the entire time they are in school.
- Families and school staff must work as knowledgeable partners.
- Families must play a positive role in providing for student success.

A successful Parental Involvement Plan will include, but not be limited to, the following components:

- Parents, Alumni, and Community Involvement-Volunteer plan, activities and events, resource materials, recognition of parents, information kits, parent center, and a parent facilitator.
- School Programs-School programs are provided to assist parents, including but not limited to those with limited English proficiency, parents with disabilities, and parents of migratory children.
- **School Policies- School** policies are implemented to encourage parental involvement and participation.

Volunteer Organizations

Beebe School has some parent volunteer organizations. Through these programs, parents and interested citizens have an opportunity to contribute their time in a variety of ways and make a significant contribution to the educational program of the school. Applications for being a volunteer can be obtained through the district office.

College Entrance Requirements

Beebe High School is fully accredited by the North Central Association; however, most colleges and universities recommend either the American College Test (ACT) or the College Entrance Examination Board Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) for admission. Applications for these tests are available in the Guidance Office. Frequent announcements will be made concerning various tests.

Entrance requirements differ; therefore, students should check with the bulletin of the school for their choice. College catalogs for many of the colleges and universities are on file in the Guidance Office.

Colleges and universities also consider the student's scholastic record, intelligence, health, personality, character, and activities in which one participates.

Student Participation in Surveys (Act 1100 of 2003)

No student shall be required to submit to a survey, analysis, or evaluation which is administered or distributed by the Beebe School District, and is funded in whole or in part by any program administered by the U.S. Department of Education without the prior written consent of the Parent/Guardian that reveals information concerning the following: political affiliations, mental and psychological problems potentially embarrassing to the student or his/her family, sex behavior, and attitudes, illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, demeaning behavior, critical appraisals of other individuals with whom respondents have close family relationships; legally recognized privileged or analogous relationships, such as those of lawyers, physicians, and ministers; religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or student's parents: or income (other than required by law to determine eligibility for participation in a program or for receiving financial assistance under such program.) No survey will be administered without the prior approval of the school principal. Prior written parental permission is required before any survey or questionnaire is administered.

Surveys will be in the administrative office, where they will be available for inspection by the parents or guardians for a period of ten (10) days prior to being sent. Information will be given on how the survey will be conducted, where the surveys shall be available for inspections, how they will be utilized, and the persons or entities that will have access to the results.

Parents may refuse to allow their students to participate before or after reviewing the survey or questionnaire. This does not apply to students in accordance with the IDEA. This does not include mandated tests by state or federal law or regulation and standardized scholastic achievement tests.

Lost and Found

Found articles are to be turned in at the office. Recovery will be made at the office upon identification by the student. Articles that are not claimed by the end of the year will be distributed to needy families or organizations that help those in need.

Check Return Policy

The Beebe School Board of Education has entered into an agreement with CHECKredi for the collection of all returned checks issued to Beebe Public School District. The Board requires that the following information be on all checks written: Full Name, Street Address, and Phone Number with Area Code.

If your bank returns your check, it will be automatically forwarded by the Beebe Public School District's bank directly to CHECKredi after the first presentation. CHECKredi will contact you in order to collect the face amount of the returned check plus the state collection fee. The amount of the collection fee is currently \$25.00 in our state; however, this fee is subject to change as allowed by law. If you do not properly respond to CHECKredi or CHECKredi is unable to contact you, CHECKredi may resubmit your check to the bank electronically, along with applicable collection fees.

Video Surveillance and Other Student Monitoring

The Board of Directors has a responsibility to maintain discipline, protect the safety, security, and welfare of its students, staff, and visitors while at the same time safeguarding district facilities, vehicles, and equipment. As part of fulfilling this responsibility, the board authorizes the use of video/audio surveillance cameras, automatic identification technology, data compilation devices, and technology capable of tracking the physical location of district equipment, students, and/or personnel.

The placement of video/audio surveillance cameras shall be based on the presumption and belief that students, staff and visitors have no reasonable expectation of privacy anywhere on or near school property, facilities, vehicles, or equipment, with the exception of places such as rest rooms or dressing areas where an expectation of bodily privacy is reasonable and customary.

Signs shall be posted on campus buildings and in district vehicles to notify students, staff, and visitors that video cameras may be in use. Parents and students shall also be notified through the student handbook that cameras may be in use in school buildings, on school grounds and in school vehicles. Students will be held responsible for any violations of school discipline rules caught by the cameras and other technologies authorized in this policy.

The district shall retain copies of video recordings until they are erased, which may be accomplished by either deletion or copying over with a new recording. Other than video recordings being retained under the provisions of this policy's following paragraph, the district's video recordings may be erased any time greater than 30 days after they were created.

Videos, automatic identification, or data compilations containing evidence of a violation of student conduct rules and/or state or federal law shall be retained until the issue of the misconduct is no longer subject to review or appeal as determined by board policy or student handbook; ² any release or viewing of such records shall be in accordance with current law.

Students who vandalize, damage, disable, or render inoperable (temporarily or permanently) surveillance cameras and equipment, automatic identification, or data compilation devices shall be subject to appropriate disciplinary action and referral to appropriate law enforcement authorities. (20USC 1232(g), 34CFR 99.3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12, 31)

SCHOOL ENROLLMENT

Residence Requirements

Definitions:

"In loco parentis" means relating to the responsibility to undertake the care and control of another person in the absence of:

- 1. Supervision by the person's parent or legal guardian; and
- 2. Formal legal approval.

"Reside" means being physically present and maintaining a permanent place of abode for an average of no fewer than four (4) calendar days and nights per week for a primary purpose other than school attendance.

"Resident" means a student whose parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis reside in the school district.

"Residential Address" means the physical location where the student's parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis reside. A student may use the residential address of a parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis only if the student resides at the same residential address and if the guardianship or other legal authority is not granted solely for educational needs or school attendance purposes.

The schools of the District shall be open and free through the completion of the secondary program to all persons between the ages of five (5) and twenty-one (21) years whose parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis reside within the District and to all persons between those ages who have been legally transferred to the District for educational purposes.

Any person eighteen (18) years of age or older may establish a residence separate and apart from his or her parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or a person standing in loco parentis for school attendance purposes.

In order for a person under the age of eighteen (18) years to establish a residence for the purpose of attending the District's schools separate and apart from his or her parent, legal guardian, a person having lawful control of the student, or a person standing in loco parentis, the student is required to reside in the District for a primary purpose other than that of school attendance; however, a student previously enrolled in the district whose parents move the student into another district or who is placed under the legal guardianship of a noncustodial parent living outside the district by a custodial parent on active military duty may continue to attend district schools. A foster child who was previously enrolled in a District school and who has had a change in placement to a residence outside the District may continue to remain enrolled in his/her current school unless the presiding court rules otherwise.

Under instances prescribed in A.C.A. § 6-18-203, a child or ward of an employee of the district or of the education coop to which the district belongs may enroll in the district even though the employee and the employee's child or ward reside outside the district.⁴

Children whose parent or legal guardian relocates within the state due to mobilization, deployment, or available military housing while on active duty in or serving in the reserve component of a branch of the United States Armed Forces or National Guard may continue attending school in the school district the children were attending prior to the relocation or attend school in the school district where the children have relocated. A child may complete all remaining school years at the enrolled school district regardless of mobilization, deployment, or military status of the parent or guardian. Legal References: A.C.A. § 6-4-302; A.C.A. § 6-18-202, A.C.A. § 6-18-203, A.C.A. § 9-28-113

Entrance Requirements

To enroll in a school in the District, the child must be a resident for the District as defined in District Policy (Residence Requirements), meet the criteria outlined in policy (Homeless Students or Students Who Are Foster Children), be accepted as a transfer student, or participate under a school choice option and submit the required paperwork.

Students may enter kindergarten if they attain the age of five (5) on or before August 1 of the year in which they are seeking initial enrollment. Any student who has been enrolled in a state-accredited or state-approved kindergarten program in another state for at least sixty (60) days will become five (5) years old during the year in which he/she is enrolled in kindergarten

and meets the basic residency requirement for school attendance may be enrolled in kindergarten upon written request to the District. Any student who was enrolled in a state-accredited or state-approved kindergarten program in another state or in a kindergarten program equivalent in another country becomes a resident of this state as a direct result of active military orders or a court-ordered change of custody, will become five (5) years of age during the year in which he or she is enrolled in kindergarten, and meets the basic residency requirement for school attendance may be enrolled in kindergarten upon a written request to the District.

Any child who will be six (6) years of age on or before October 1 of the school year of enrollment and who has not completed a state-accredited kindergarten program shall be evaluated by the district and may be placed in the first grade if the results of the evaluation justify placement in the first grade and the child's parent or legal guardian agrees with placement in the first grade; otherwise, the child shall be placed in kindergarten.

Any child may enter first grade in a District school if the child attains the age of six (6) years during the school year in which the child is seeking enrollment and the child has successfully completed a kindergarten program in a public school in Arkansas.

Any child who has been enrolled in the first grade in a state-accredited or state-approved elementary school in another state for a period of at least sixty (60) days, who will become age six (6) years during the school year in which he/she is enrolled in grade one (1), and who meets the basic residency requirements for school attendance may be enrolled in the first grade.

Students who move into the District from an accredited school shall be assigned to the same grade as they were attending in their previous school (mid-year transfers) or as they would have been assigned in their previous school. Private school students shall be evaluated by the District to determine their appropriate grade placement. Home school students enrolling or re-enrolling as public school students shall be placed in accordance with policy 4.6—HOMESCHOOLING.

The district shall make no attempt to ascertain the immigration status, legal or illegal, of any student or his/her parent or legal guardian presenting for enrollment.

Prior to the child's admission to a District school:

- 1. The parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis shall furnish the child's social security number, or if they request, the district will assign the child a nine (9) digit number designated by the Division of Elementary and Secondary education.
- 2. The parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis shall provide the district with one (1) of the following documents indicating the child's age:
 - A. A birth certificate;
 - B. A statement by the local registrar or a county recorder certifying the child's date of birth;
 - C. An attested baptismal certificate;

- D. Passport
- E. An affidavit of the date and place of birth by the child's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis;
- F. United States military identification; or
- G. Previous school records.
- 3. The parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis shall indicate on school registration forms whether the child has been expelled from school in any other school district or is a party to an expulsion proceeding. Any person who has been expelled from any other school district shall receive a hearing before the Board at the time the student is seeking enrollment in the District. The Board reserves the right to not allow the enrollment of such students until the time of the person's expulsion has expired following the hearing before the Board.³
- 4. In accordance with Policy 4.57—IMMUNIZATIONS, the child shall be age-appropriately immunized or have an exemption issued by the Arkansas Department of Health.



The Arkansas Purple Star School Award for military-friendly schools recognizes schools that show a major commitment to serving students and families connected to our nation's armed forces. Purple Star awardees receive a special Purple Star recognition to display in their building and are recognized on the Arkansas Department of Education Division of Elementary and Secondary Education website.

Uniformed Services Member's Children

For the purposes of this policy:

"Activated reserve components" means members of the reserve component of the uniformed services who have received a notice of intent to deploy or mobilize under Title 10 of the United States Code, Title 32 of the United States Code, or state mobilization to active duty.

"Active duty" means full-time duty status in the active, uniformed services of the United States, including, without limitation, members of The National Guard and Reserve on active duty orders under 10 U.S.C. chapters 1209 and 1211 or 42 U.S.C. § 204.

"Deployment" means a period of time extending from six (6) months before a member of the uniformed services' departure from their home station on military orders through six (6) months after return to his or her home station.

"Eligible child" means the children of:

- Active duty members of the uniformed services;
- Members of the active and activated reserve components of the uniformed services;

- Members or veterans of the uniformed services who are severely injured and medically discharged or retired for a period of one (1) year after medical discharge or retirement;
 and
- Members of the uniformed services who die on active duty or as a result of injuries sustained on active duty for a period of one (1) year after death.

"Uniformed services" means the United States Army, United States Navy, United States Air Force, United States Marine Corps, United States Coast Guard, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Commissioned Officer Corps, the United States Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Services, and the state and federal reserve components of each of these bodies.

"Veteran" means an individual who served in the uniformed services and who was discharged or released from the uniformed services under conditions other than dishonorable.

The superintendent shall designate an individual as the District's military education coordinator, who shall serve as the primary point of contact for an eligible child and for the eligible child's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the eligible child, or person standing in loco parentis. The individual, the superintendent designated as the District's military education coordinator, shall have specialized knowledge regarding the educational needs of children of military families and the obstacles that children of military families face in obtaining an education.

An eligible child, as defined in this policy, shall:

- 1. Be allowed to continue his/her enrollment at the grade level commensurate with his/her grade level he/she was in at the time of transition from his/her previous school, regardless of age;
- 2. Be eligible for enrollment in the next highest grade level, regardless of age if the student has satisfactorily completed the prerequisite grade level in his/her previous school;
- 3. Enter the District's school on the validated level from his/her previous accredited school when transferring into the District after the start of the school year;
- 4. Be enrolled in courses and programs the same as or similar to the ones the student was enrolled in his/her previous school to the extent that space is available. This does not prohibit the District from performing subsequent evaluations to ensure appropriate placement and continued enrollment of the student in the courses/and/or programs;
- 5. Be provided services comparable to those the student with disabilities received in his/her previous school based on his/her previous Individualized Education Program (IEP). This does not preclude the District school from performing subsequent evaluations to ensure appropriate placement of the student;
- 6. Make reasonable accommodations and modifications to address the needs of an incoming student with disabilities, subject to an existing 504 or Title II Plan, necessary to provide the student with equal access to education. This does not preclude the District school from performing subsequent evaluations to ensure appropriate placement of the student;

- 7. Be enrolled by an individual who has been given the special power of attorney for the student's guardianship. The individual shall have the power to take all other actions requiring parental participation and/or consent;
- 8. Be eligible to continue attending District schools if he/she has been placed under the legal guardianship of a noncustodial parent living outside the district by a custodial parent on active military duty.

In the event that official copies of an eligible child's education records are not available at the time the eligible child is transferring, then the District shall:

- Pre-register and place an eligible child based on the eligible child's unofficial education records pending receipt of the eligible child's official records; and
- Request the eligible child's official education records from the sending district.

International Exchange Students

"Host family" means the individual or family with whom an international exchange student is placed by an international student exchange visitor placement organization under the International Student Exchange Visitor Placement Organization Registration Act, § 6-18-1701 et seq..

"International exchange student" means a student who is placed with a host family by an international student exchange visitor placement organization under the International Student Exchange Visitor Placement Organization Registration Act, § 6-18-1701 et seq.

Before an international exchange student may attend a District school, the District requires all international student exchange visitor placement organizations that are placing international exchange students within the District to:

- Be certified by the Council on Standards for International Educational Travel;
- Provide documented proof of the international exchange student's English proficiency;
 and
- Notify the District at least three (3) weeks before the beginning of the academic semester the international exchange student plans to enroll in the District.

The District shall admit an international exchange student for enrollment and attendance who has been placed with a host family who resides within the District boundaries. The international exchange student shall attend the school in the District based on the attendance zone where the host family resides.⁶

Upon an international exchange student's arrival, the international exchange student may be required to submit to quarantine to prevent the spread of infectious diseases as may be necessary, which shall not exceed seven (7) days unless otherwise recommended by the Arkansas Department of Health or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

International exchange students are expected to follow the District handbook and student code of conduct as the District has the authority to expel a student for violations of the school district's written student discipline policies or if the international exchange student presents a danger to the District's students or employees.

Statewide assessment results achieved by an international exchange student enrolled in the District shall be included in the District's results on the statewide assessments.⁷

The District shall provide English-language services to international exchange students as necessary.

Student Transfers

Transfer applications received by the District shall be placed on the Board's next meeting agenda.¹ At least five (5) days before the meeting where the transfer application appears on the agenda, the superintendent shall notify the Board regarding:

- All transfer applications received since the last meeting and
- The superintendent's recommendation concerning each transfer application.

Each transfer application shall be considered individually and receive a separate vote by the Board. The parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to a student who submits a transfer application shall be given at least five (5) minutes to present the student's case for a transfer to the Board.

The Board may reject a non-resident's application for admission if its acceptance would necessitate the addition of staff or classrooms, exceed the capacity of a program, class, grade level, or school building, or cause the District to provide educational services not currently provided in the affected school.² The District shall reject applications that would cause it to be out of compliance with applicable laws and regulations regarding desegregation.

If the superintendent intends to recommend the Board deny the transfer application, the superintendent shall provide a written explanation of the reasons for the recommendation to the

Board and the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student.

The parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student who submitted a transfer application that was rejected may appeal the decision of the Board to the State Board of Education.

Any student transferring from a school accredited by the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) to a school in this district shall be placed into the same grade the student would have been in had the student remained at the former school. Any grades, course credits, and/or promotions received by a student while enrolled in the Division of Youth Services system of education shall be considered transferable in the same manner as those grades, course credits, and promotions from other accredited Arkansas public educational entities.

Any student transferring from a home school or a school that is not accredited by the DESE to a District school shall be evaluated by District staff to determine the student's appropriate grade placement. A student transferring from homeschool will be placed in accordance with Policy 4.6—HOME SCHOOLING.

Any person who has been expelled from any other school district shall receive a hearing before the Board at the time the student is seeking enrollment in the District. The Board reserves the right to not allow the enrollment of such students until the time of the person's expulsion has expired following the hearing before the Board.

Except as otherwise required or permitted by law, the responsibility for transportation of any nonresident student admitted to a school in this District shall be borne by the student or the student's parents. The District and the resident District may enter into a written agreement with the student or student's parents to provide transportation to or from the District or both.

School Choice Standard School Choice

Definition

"Sibling" means each of two (2) or more children having a common parent in common by blood, adoption, marriage, or foster care.

TRANSFERS INTO THE DISTRICT

Arkansas Course Choice Program

District students are eligible to take courses through the Arkansas Course Choice Program (ACCP) if the student is:

• Seeking to take a course not offered by the District; or

• Attending a District school that received a school letter grade of C, D, or F.¹

The ACCP course catalog shall be made available to all students during student course selection. The District shall not actively discourage, intimidate, or threaten a student during course selection to not take a course through the ACCP.

A student attending courses through the ACCP shall enroll in at least one (1) course at the District, which may be either in person or a digital course offered by the District.

A District student attending courses through the ACCP is entitled to the following services as if the student were attending courses at the District:

- 1. Required assessments, including without limitation:
 - A. Statewide assessments;
 - B. Accelerated learning courses and other approved courses for weighted credit.
- 2. Participation in extracurricular or co-curricular activities; and
- 3. Special education services pursuant to the student's individualized education program.

Credits earned through the ACCP shall appear on a student's official transcript and count fully toward the student's graduation requirements.

Capacity Determination and Public Pronouncement:

The Board of Directors will adopt a resolution containing the capacity standards for the District. The resolution will contain the acceptance determination criteria identified by academic program, class, grade level, and individual school. The school is not obligated to add any teachers, other staff, or classrooms to accommodate choice applications. The District may only deny a Standard School Choice application if the District has a lack of capacity by the District having reached ninety percent (90%) of the maximum student population in a program, class, grade level, or school building authorized by the Standards or other State/Federal law.

The District shall advertise in appropriate broadcast media and either print media or on the Internet to inform students and parents in adjoining districts of the range of possible openings available under the School Choice program. The public pronouncements shall state the application deadline, the requirements and procedures for participation in the program, and include contact information for the primary point of contact at the District for school choice questions. Such pronouncements shall be made in the spring, but in no case later than January 31.

Application Process

The student's parent shall submit a school choice application on a form approved by DESE to this District and the student's resident district for students transferring into the District. Except

for students who are transferring under Uniformed Service Member Dependent School Choice, the transfer application must be postmarked or hand-delivered on or before June 1 of the year preceding the fall semester the applicant would begin school in the District. The District shall date and time stamp all applications the District receives as both the resident and nonresident district as they are received in the District's central office. Except for applications from students who are transferring under Uniformed Service Member Dependent School Choice, applications postmarked or hand-delivered on or after June 2 will not be accepted. Statutorily, preference is required to be given to siblings of students who are already enrolled in the District. Therefore, siblings whose applications fit the capacity standards approved by the Board of Directors may be approved ahead of an otherwise qualified non-sibling applicant who submitted an earlier application as identified by the application's date and time stamp.

Except for students who are transferring under Uniformed Service Member Dependent School Choice, no earlier than January 1 of each year, the Superintendent will consider all properly submitted applications for School Choice-no later than the fifteenth (15th) calendar day following the receipt of an application, the Superintendent shall notify the following, in writing, of the decision to accept or reject the application:

- o For transfers within the District, the student's parent; or
- o For transfers into the District, the student's parent and the student's resident district.

Accepted Applications

Applications that fit within the District's stated capacity standards shall be provisionally accepted, in writing, with the notification letter stating a reasonable timeline by which the student shall enroll in the District by taking the steps detailed in the letter, including submission of all required documents. If the student fails to enroll within the stated timeline, or if all necessary steps to complete the enrollment are not taken, or if examination of the documentation indicates the applicant does not meet the District's stated capacity standards, the acceptance shall be null and void.

A student whose application has been accepted and who has enrolled in the District is eligible to continue enrollment until completing his/her secondary education. Continued enrollment is conditioned upon the student meeting applicable statutory and District policy requirements. Any student who has been accepted under choice and who fails to initially enroll under the timelines and provisions provided in this policy chooses to return to his/her resident district or enrolls in a home school, or private school voids the transfer and must reapply if in the future, the student seeks another school choice transfer. A subsequent transfer application will be subject to the capacity standards applicable to the year in which the application is considered by the District.

A present or future sibling of a student who continues enrollment in this District may enroll in the District by submitting a Standard School Choice application. Applications of siblings of presently enrolled choice students are subject to the provisions of this policy, including the capacity standards applicable to the year in which the sibling's application is considered by the District. A sibling who enrolls in the District through Standard School Choice is eligible to remain in the District until completing his/her secondary education.

Students whose applications have been accepted and who have enrolled in the district shall not be discriminated against on the basis of gender, national origin, race, ethnicity, religion, or disability.

Rejected Applications:

The District may reject an application for a transfer into the District under Standard School Choice due to a lack of capacity. However, the decision to accept or reject an application may not be based on the student's previous academic achievement, athletic or other extracurricular ability, English proficiency level, or previous disciplinary proceedings other than a current expulsion.

Rejection of applications shall be in writing and shall state the reason(s) for the rejection. A student whose application was rejected may request a hearing before the State Board of Education to reconsider the application. The request for a hearing must be submitted in writing to the State Board within ten (10) days of receiving the rejection letter from the District.

Transfers Out of the District:

All Standard School Choice applications for transfers out of the District shall be granted.

Facilities Distress School Choice Applications:

There are a few exceptions from the provisions of the rest of this policy that govern choice transfers triggered by facility distress. Any student attending a school district that has been identified as being in facilities distress may transfer under the provisions of this policy, but with the following four (4) differences:

- The receiving district cannot be in facilities distress;
- The transfer is only available for the duration of the time the student's resident district remains in facilities distress;
- The student is not required to meet the May 1 application deadline; and
- The student's resident district is responsible for the cost of transporting the student to this District's school.

OPPORTUNITY SCHOOL CHOICE

Transfers Into or Within the District

For the purposes of this section of the policy, a "lack of capacity" is defined as when the receiving school has reached the maximum student-to-teacher ratio allowed under federal or state law, the DESE Rules for the Standards for Accreditation, or other applicable rules. There is a lack of capacity if, as of the date of the application for Opportunity School Choice, ninety-five percent (95%) or more of the seats at the grade level at the nonresident school are filled.

Unless there is a lack of capacity at the District's school or the transfer conflicts with the provisions of a federal desegregation order applicable to the District, a student may transfer from the student's assigned school to another school in the District or from the student's resident district into the District if:

• Either:

- The student's resident district has been classified by the state board as in need of Level 5 intensive support; or
- The student's assigned school has a rating of "F"; and
- Except for students who are transferring under Uniformed Service Member Dependents School Choice, the student's parent, guardian, or the student if the student is over eighteen (18) years of age has submitted an application of the student's request to transfer by no earlier than January 1 and no later than May 1 of the school year before the school year the student intends to transfer to both the sending and receiving school districts.

Except for students who are transferring under Uniformed Service Members Dependent School Choice or seeking to transfer within the District, the Superintendent shall notify in writing the parent or guardian or the student if the student is over eighteen (18) years of age and the student's resident district whether the Opportunity School Choice application has been accepted or rejected by no later than July 1 of the school year the student is seeking to enroll. If the student is seeking a transfer within the District, the Superintendent shall notify in writing the parent or guardian or the student if the student is over eighteen (18) years of age, whether the Opportunity School Choice application has been accepted or rejected within fifteen (15) days from receipt of the student's application. The notification shall be sent via First-Class Mail to the address on the application.

If the application is accepted, the notification letter shall state the deadline by which the student must enroll in the receiving school, or the transfer will be null and void.

If the District rejects the application, the District shall state in the notification letter the specific reasons for the rejection. Unless the student's application was rejected due to the application not being timely received by both the resident and nonresident districts, a parent or guardian, or the student, if the student is over eighteen (18) years of age, may appeal the District's decision to deny the application to the State Board of Education. The appeal must be in writing to the State Board of Education via certified mail, return receipt requested, no later than ten (10) calendar days, excluding weekends and legal holidays, after the notice of rejection was received from the District.

Except for students who are transferring under Uniformed Service Member Dependent School Choice, a student's transfer under Opportunity School Choice is effective at the beginning of the next school year, and the student's enrollment is irrevocable for the duration of the school year and is renewable until the student completes high school or is beyond the legal age of enrollment. This provision for continuing eligibility under Opportunity School Choice does not negate the student's right to apply for transfer to a district other than the student's assigned school or resident district under the Standard School Choice provisions of this policy.

The District may, but is not obligated to provide transportation to and from the transferring district.

Transfers out of, or within, the District

If a District school receives a rating of "F" or the District has been classified by the State Board as in need of Level 5 Intensive Support, the District shall timely notify the parents, guardians, or students, if over eighteen (18) years of age, as soon as practicable after the school or district designation is made of all options available under Opportunity School Choice. The District shall offer the parent or guardian, or the student if the student is over eighteen (18) years of age, an opportunity to submit an application to enroll the student in a school district that has not been classified by the State Board as in need of Level 5 Intensive Support or in a public school that does not have a rating of "F."

Additionally, the District shall request public service announcements to be made over the broadcast media and in the print media at such times and in such a manner as to inform parents or guardians of students in adjoining districts of the availability of the program, the application deadline, and the requirements and procedure for nonresident students to participate in the program.

<u>Uniformed Service Member Dependent School Choice</u>

"Uniformed service member" means an active or reserve component member of the:

- United States Army, United States Navy, United States Air Force, United States Marine Corps, United States Space Force, or United States Coast Guard;
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Commissioned Officer Corps; or
- United States Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Service.

"Uniformed service veteran" means a former uniformed service member who has been discharged under conditions other than dishonorable.

A student shall be eligible for school choice under Uniformed Service Member Dependent School Choice if the student is a dependent of a:

- Uniformed service member in full-time active-duty status;
- Surviving spouse of a uniformed service member;

- Reserve component uniformed service member during the period six (6) months before until six (6) months after a Title 10, Title 32, or state active duty mobilization and service; or
- Uniformed service veteran who is returning to civilian status at the conclusion of the uniformed service veteran's active duty status.

A student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student shall submit a school choice application by mail, e-mail, or in person to the student's nonresident district and resident district. The application shall be accompanied by:

- A copy of the identification card of the student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis that qualifies the student under this section; and
- A copy of the official orders, assignment notification, or notice of mobilization of the student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis.

The application deadline required under Standard School Choice and Opportunity School Choice shall not apply to uniformed service member dependents.

The superintendent of the nonresident district shall notify the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis of the student in writing whether the student's application has been accepted or rejected within fifteen (15) days of the nonresident district's receipt of the application. A student's transfer under the Uniformed Services Member Dependent School Choice is effective immediately upon the nonresident district's written notification of an acceptance.

A student shall be permitted only one (1) school transfer per academic year.

The parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis to a student shall be responsible for transportation of the student.

Unsafe School Choice Program:

Any student who becomes the victim of a violent criminal offense while in or on the grounds of a District school or who is attending a school classified by DESE as a persistently dangerous public school shall be allowed to attend a safe public school within the District.

Independent Students

An independent student is a student who lives on their own. Students who meet this requirement have their own residence. These students are able to sign necessary documents and make guardianship decisions on their own. To be counted as an independent student the following must be met:

- Students must provide proof of residence with their name on it.
- Students must be 18 years of age or older.

Homeless Students

The Beebe School District will afford the same services and educational opportunities to homeless children as are afforded to non-homeless children. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall appoint an appropriate staff person to be the local educational liaison for homeless children and youth whose responsibilities shall include coordinating with the state educational liaison for homeless children and youth to ensure that homeless children are not stigmatized or segregated on the basis of their status as homeless and such other duties as are prescribed by law and this policy.

Homeless students living in the district are entitled to enroll in the district's school that non-homeless students who live in the same attendance area are eligible to attend. If there is a question concerning the enrollment of a homeless child due to a conflict, the child shall be immediately admitted to the school in which enrollment is sought pending resolution of the dispute. It is the responsibility of the District's local educational liaison for homeless children and youth to carry out the dispute resolution process.

To the extent feasible, the District shall do one of the following according to what is in the best interests of a homeless child. (For the purposes of this policy, "school of origin" means the school the child attended when permanently housed or the school in which the child was last enrolled.)

- 1. continue educating the child who becomes homeless between academic years or during an academic year in their school of origin for the duration of their homelessness;
- 2. continue educating the child in his/her school of origin who becomes permanently housed during an academic year for the remainder of the academic year; or
- 3. enroll the homeless child in the school appropriate for the attendance zone where the child lives.

If the District elects to enroll a homeless child in a school other than their school of origin and such action is against the wishes of the child's parent or guardian, the District shall provide the parent or guardian with a written explanation of their reason for so doing which shall include a statement of the parent/guardian's right to appeal.

In any instance where the child is unaccompanied by a parent or guardian, the District's local educational liaison for homeless children and youth shall assist the child in determining his/her place of enrollment. The Liaison shall provide the child with a notice of his/her right to appeal the enrollment decision.

The District shall be responsible for providing transportation for a homeless child, at the request of the parent or guardian (or in the case of an unaccompanied youth, the Liaison), to and from the child's school of origin.

A homeless student shall be immediately eligible to participate in interscholastic activities at the school in which the student is enrolled.

For the purposes of this policy, students shall be considered homeless if they lack a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence and

A. Are;

- Sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship, or a similar reason;
- Living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, or camping grounds due to the lack of alternative adequate accommodations;
- Living in emergency or transitional shelters;
- Abandoned in hospitals: or
- Awaiting foster care placement;
- B. Have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not designed for or ordinarily used as a regular sleeping accommodation for human beings;
- C. Are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard housing, bus or train stations, or similar settings;
- D. Are migratory children who are living in circumstances described in clauses (a) through (c).

Home Schooling

Enrollment in Home School

Parents or legal guardians desiring to provide a home school for their children shall give written notice to the Superintendent of their intent to home-school. The notice shall be given:

- 1. At the beginning of each school year, but no later than August 15;
- Fourteen (14) calendar days prior to withdrawing the child (provided the student is not currently under disciplinary action for violation of any written school policy, including, but not limited to, excessive absences) and at the beginning of each school year thereafter; or
- 3. Within thirty (30) calendar days of the parent or legal guardian establishing residency within the district during the school year.

Written notice of the parent or legal guardian's intent to home-school shall be delivered to the Superintendent through any of the following methods:

- Electronically, including without limitation by email;
- By mail; or
- In person.

The notice shall include:

- A. The name, sex, date of birth, grade level, and the name and address of the school last attended, if any;
- B. The mailing address and telephone number of the home school;
- C. The name of the parent or legal guardian providing the home school;
- D. Indicate if the home-schooled student intends to participate in extracurricular activities during the school year,
- E. A statement of whether the home-schooled student plans to seek a high school equivalency diploma during the current school year;
- F. A statement if the home-school student plans to seek a driver's license during the current school year;
- G. A statement that the parent or legal guardian agrees that the parent or legal guardian is responsible for the education of their children during the time the parents or legal guardians choose to homeschool; and
- H. A signature of the parent or legal guardian, which must be notarized if the home-schooled student plans to seek a driver's license during the school year.

To aid the District in providing a free and appropriate public education to students in need of special education services, the parents or legal guardians home-schooling their children shall provide information that might indicate the need for special education services.

Enrollment or Re-Enrollment in Public School

A home-schooled student who wishes to enroll or re-enroll in a District school shall submit:

- A transcript listing all courses taken and semester grades from the home school;
- A score of at least the thirtieth percentile on a nationally recognized norm-referenced assessment taken in the past year; and
- A portfolio of indicators of the home-schooled student's academic progress, including without limitation:
 - o Curricula used in the home school;
 - o Tests taken and lessons completed by the home-schooled student; and
 - Other indicators of the home-schooled student's academic progress.

If a home-schooled student is unable to provide a nationally recognized norm-referenced score, the District may either assess the student using a nationally recognized norm-referenced assessment or waive the requirement for a nationally recognized norm-referenced assessment score.

A home-schooled student who enrolls or re-enrolls in the District will be placed at a grade level and academic course level equivalent to or higher than the home-schooled student's grade level and academic course level in the home school:

1. As indicated by the documentation submitted by the home-schooled student;

- 2. By mutual agreement between the public school and the home-schooled student's parent or legal guardian; or
- 3. If the home-schooled student fails to provide the documentation required by this policy, with the exception of the nationally recognized norm-referenced assessment score, the District may have sole authority to determine the home-schooled student's grade placement and course credits. The District will determine the home-schooled student's grade placement and course credits in the same manner the District uses when determining grade placement and course credits for students enrolling or re-enrolling in the District who attended another public or private school.

The District shall afford a home-schooled student who enrolls or re-enrolls in a public school the same rights and privileges enjoyed by the District's other students. The District shall not deny a home-schooled student who enrolls or re-enrolls in the District any of the following on the basis of the student having attended a home school:

- A. Award of course credits earned in the home school;
- B. Placement in the proper grade level and promotion to the next grade level;
- C. Participation in any academic or extracurricular activity;
- D. Membership in school-sponsored clubs, associations, or organizations;
- E. A diploma or graduation, so long as the student has enrolled or re-enrolled in the District to attend classes for at least the nine (9) months immediately prior to graduation; or
- F. Scholarships.

Foster Children

The District will afford the same services and educational opportunities to foster children that are afforded to other children and youth. The District shall work with the Department of Human Services "DHS" the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE), and individuals involved with each foster child to ensure that he/she is able to maintain his/her continuity of educational services to the fullest extent that is practical and reasonable.

The Superintendent or his/her designee shall appoint an appropriate staff person to be the local educational liaison for foster children and youth whose responsibilities shall include ensuring the timely school enrollment of each foster child and assisting foster children who transfer between schools by expediting the transfer of relevant educational records.

The District, working with other individuals and agencies, shall, unless the presiding court rules otherwise or DHS grants a request to transfer under Foster Child School Choice, ensure that the foster child remains in his/her current school, even if a change in the foster child's placement results in a residency that is outside the District. In such a situation, the District will work to arrange transportation to and from school for the foster child to the extent it is reasonable and practical.

Upon notification to the District's foster care liaison by a foster child's caseworker that a foster child's school enrollment is being changed to one of the District's schools, the school receiving

the child must immediately enroll him/her. Immediate enrollment is required even if the child lacks the required clothing, academic or medical records, or proof of residency.

A foster child's grades shall not be lowered due to absences from school that are caused by a change in the child's school enrollment, the child's attendance at dependency-neglect court proceedings, or other court-ordered counseling or treatments.

Any coursework completed by the foster child prior to a school enrollment change shall be accepted as academic credit so long as the child has satisfactorily completed the appropriate academic placement assessment.

If a foster child was enrolled in a District school immediately prior to completing his/her graduation requirements while detained in a juvenile detention facility or while committed to the Division of Youth Services of DHS, the District shall issue the child a diploma.

Foster Child School Choice

If DHS approves a request from a foster parent, or the foster child if the foster child is eighteen (18) years of age, to transfer to another school in the District or into the district as being in the best interest of the foster child, the District shall allow the foster child to transfer to another school in the District or into the District if the foster parent, or the foster child if the foster child is eighteen (18) years of age, submits a request to transfer on a form approved by ADE that is postmarked by no later than June 1 of the year the student seeks to begin the fall semester at another school in the District or in the District.

By July 1 of the school year in which the student seeks to transfer under this section, the superintendent shall notify the foster parent or the foster child if the foster child is eighteen (18) years of age, in writing, whether the application has been accepted or rejected. If the application is accepted, the superintendent shall state in the notification letter a reasonable deadline for the foster child to enroll in the new school or the District and that failure to enroll by the date shall void the acceptance of the school choice. If the application is rejected, the superintendent shall state in the notification letter the reason for the rejection and that the foster parent, or the foster child if the foster child is eighteen (18) years of age, may submit a written appeal of the rejection to the State Board within ten (10) days of receiving the notification letter.

The District shall only reject a Foster Child School Choice application if:

- 1. The public school or District has reached the maximum student-to-teacher ratio allowed under federal law, state law, the standards for accreditation, or other applicable State rule or Federal regulation; or
- 2. Approving the transfer would conflict with a provision of an enforceable desegregation court order or a public school district's court-approved desegregation plan regarding the effects of past racial segregation in student assignment.

A foster child whose application is rejected by the District may submit a written request within ten (10) days following the receipt of the rejection letter from the superintendent to the State Board of Education for the State Board to reconsider the transfer.

A Foster Child School Choice transfer shall remain in effect until the foster child:

- Graduates from high school; or
- Transfers to another school or school district under
 - o The Foster Child School Choice Act:
 - o Opportunity Public School Choice Act of 2004;
 - o The Public School Choice Act of 2015; or
 - o Any other law that allows a transfer.

The District shall accept credits toward graduation that were awarded by another public school district.

When a foster child transfers from the foster child's school of origin to another school in the District or into the District, the foster child or the foster parent is responsible for the foster child's transportation to and from the school, the foster child transferred to. The District and the foster parent, or the foster child if the foster child is eighteen (18) years of age, may enter into a written agreement for the District to provide transportation to and from the school the foster child transferred to.

Moving from the School District

If a student leaves this school to go to another school, he/she should get a checkout sheet from the office and have his/her teachers, the food services manager, and the librarian sign it. The student should return the checkout sheet to the office for the principal's signature. All fees and fines should be paid before checking out. Any student who owes an obligation to the school will not be issued a transcript.

Virtual Academy

Students enrolled in the Virtual Academy must adhere to the following guidelines related to virtual learning, **in addition to** all other applicable guidelines from the Beebe School District 7-12 Student Handbook:

Virtual Courses:

- All instruction and course work will be delivered via the Edmentum platform and through teachers at the Virtual Academy at Beebe School District.
- Virtual course selections will follow those offered by Beebe School District and Edmentum.
- All students will follow the Arkansas requirements for course enrollment and work with counselors at Beebe Junior High and Beebe High School to ensure credit requirements are fulfilled according to Arkansas guidelines for grade promotion and graduation (9-12).
- 7-12 Virtual Course Offerings
- Students may enroll in up to 3 elective courses on-site.
- Students may participate in extracurricular activities.

Enrollment Requirements:

- All students applying for admission into the Virtual Academy must submit the following contracts for approval:
 - Virtual Academy Enrollment Application
 - Chromebook Contract
 - Hot Spot Contract (If applicable)
- Approval will be an automatic enrollment for the entire school year pending all qualifications have been met.
- Students and parents must attend the Virtual Academy Orientation (either virtually or in person).
- Students may opt out of the Virtual Academy by completing and submitting for approval the Virtual Academy Drop form by the following dates:
 - o 10 Days into the First Semester
 - o 10 Days into the Second Semester
 - o End of each Quarter
 - Approval will be granted by the Virtual Academy facilitator.
 - Re-enrollment to the Virtual Academy will not be approved for the current school year.
- Students may receive a directed drop from the Virtual Academy by an administrator for any of the following:
 - Failing grade in a course at the end of a quarter.
 - Failure to adhere to the attendance policy.
 - o Failure to comply with Student Handbook Guidelines.
- Any time a student transitions from virtual to on-site (due to their choice or mandated return), they and their parents will be required to complete the Virtual Academy Drop Form.

Virtual Classroom Policies and Procedures:

- Students will adhere to all applicable BJHS/BHS Student Handbook policies.
- All 7-12 Virtual learners are to attend on-site for ALL state and district-required assessments. Failure to comply with on-site attendance may result in removal from virtual learning.
- Student failure to engage in learning and/or complete digital assignments will result in the following steps taking place to the degree necessary to regain student engagement with learning:
 - District Virtual Academy personnel will contact the student and parent.
 - Discuss repercussions of disengagement -
 - Truancy
 - DHS
 - Retention
 - District personnel will contact SRO for home visits.
 - 7-12 Virtual Administrator will take necessary steps to ensure student protection by contacting the appropriate agency.
 - o Continued disengagement will result in the student being required to return to

ATTENDANCE

Attendance Policy

If any student's Individual Education Program (IEP) or 504 Plan conflicts with this policy, the requirements of the student's IEP or 504 Plan take precedence.

Education is more than the grades students receive in their courses. Important as that is, students' regular attendance at school, whether in person or digitally, is essential to their social and cultural development and helps prepare them to accept the responsibilities they will face as an adult. Interactions with other students and participation in the instruction within the classroom enrich the learning environment and promote a continuity of instruction, which results in higher student achievement.

Absences for students enrolled in synchronous digital courses shall be determined in the same manner as for District students attending courses in person.

Absences from School

School Districts are given the right to limit excused absences as well as unexcused absences. Missing more than 8 unexcused absences in a semester is considered chronic absenteeism and affects the education of the student. For this reason, Beebe School District is implementing the following attendance policy.

Students may not exceed more than eight (8) unexcused absences in a semester. At the discretion of the principal, after consultation with persons having knowledge of the circumstances of the absences, the student may be denied credit, promotion, or graduation if they have exceeded the number of days absent. Excessive absences shall not be a reason for expulsion or dismissal of a student.

When a student has (4) absences, his/her parents, legal guardians, persons with lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis shall be notified. Notification shall be by telephone by the end of the school day in which such absence occurred or by regular mail with a return address sent no later than the following school day.

Whenever a student exceeds (10) absences in a semester, the District shall notify the prosecuting authority, and the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis shall be subject to a civil penalty as prescribed by law.

It is the Arkansas General Assembly's intention that students having excessive absences be given assistance in obtaining credit for their courses. Therefore, at any time prior to when a student exceeds the number of absences permitted by this policy, the student, or his/her parent, legal guardian, person with lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis may petition the school or district's administration for special arrangements to address the student's absences. If formal arrangements are granted, they shall be formalized into a written agreement, which will include the conditions of the agreement and the consequences for failing to fulfill the agreement's requirements. The agreement shall be signed by the student, the student's parent, legal guardian, the person having lawful control of the student or person standing in loco parentis, and the school or district administrator or designee.

For the purpose of this agreement, the following definitions shall apply to excused and unexcused absences.

Excused absences are those where the student was on official school business or when the absence was due to one of the following reasons:

- 1. Attendance at a medical appointment
- 2. Death or serious illness in their immediate family.
- 3. Observance of recognized holidays observed by the student's faith;
- 4. Attendance at an appointment with a government agency;
- 5. Exceptional circumstances with prior approval of the principal;
- 6. Participation in an FFA, FHA, or 4-H sanctioned activity;
- 7. Participation in the election poll workers program for high school students.
- 8. Absences granted to allow a student to visit his/her parent or legal guardian who is a member of the military and has been called to active duty, is on leave from active duty or has returned from deployment to a combat zone or combat support posting. The number of additional excused absences shall be at the discretion of the superintendent or designee.
- 9. Absences are granted, at the Superintendent's discretion, to seventeen (17) year-old students who join the Arkansas National Guard while in eleventh grade to complete basic combat training between grades eleven (11) and twelve (12).
- 10. Absences for students excluded from school by the Arkansas Department of Health during a disease outbreak because the student has an immunization waiver or whose immunizations are not up to date.
- 11. Absences due to conditions related to pregnancy or parenting, including without limitation:
 - Labor, delivery, and recovery;
 - Prenatal and postnatal medical appointments and other medically necessary, pregnancy-related absences;
 - The illness or medical appointment of a child belonging to a parent who is enrolled at a District school;
 - A legal appointment related to pregnancy or parenting, including without limitation:

- Adoption;
- o Custody; and
- Visitation;
- A reasonable amount of time to accommodate a lactating student's need to express breast milk or to breastfeed the student's child on the District's campus; and
- At least ten (10) school days of absences for both a parenting mother and a parenting father after the birth of a child.⁶
- 12. Absences for a student who is the child of a fallen service member or fallen first responder:
 - Due to a mental health concern; or
 - To attend an event from a sponsoring organization that provides support to families of fallen service members or first responders or provides support for traumatic loss, grief, or resiliency.
- 13. Upon the written consent of a student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student, the District shall grant an excused absence for the following purposes:
 - · Social or public policy advocacy; or
 - Attempts to influence legislation or other governmental policy-making at the local, state, or federal level.

Students who serve as pages for a member of the General Assembly shall be considered on instructional assignment and shall not be considered absent from school for the day the student is serving as a page.

Up to one (1) time during each scheduled election, a student shall not be considered absent from school for the time the student accompanies the student's parent when the parent is exercising the parent's right to vote in a scheduled election.

In order for the absence to be considered excused, the student must:

- A. Bring a written statement to the principal or designee upon the student's return to school from the student's parent, legal guardian, or treating physician stating the reason for the student's absence. Absences due to student illness and/or medical appointments must be accompanied by a written statement by the student's treating physician in order to be considered excused.
- B. If the student is attending the District's courses digitally, upload a written statement from the student's parent or legal guardian stating the reason for the student's absence through the District's digital course management platform for review by the principal or designee.
- C. Provide documentation as proof of a student's participation in an activity or program scheduled and approved by the 4-H program that is provided by a 4-H county extension agent, 4-H educator, or other appropriate entity associated with the 4-H activity or program.

Students who are classified as a junior or senior will be allowed 2 college visits per year which will not count toward their absences if proper protocol is followed. Prior to the visit, it must be scheduled through the school or advance notice given. Documentation must be presented to the building administration upon return from the visit. School visits at ASU Beebe will be limited to 1/2 school day excused.

A written statement presented or uploaded for an absence will only be taken within (2) weeks of the last day absent (if for multiple days).

Unexcused Absences

Absences that are not defined above and do not have an accompanying note from the student's treating physician, or a 4-H county extension agent, 4-H educator, or other appropriate entity associated with the 4-H activity or program;

Students exceeding (8) unexcused absences in a course in a semester may not receive credit for that course. At the discretion of the principal after consultation with persons having knowledge of the circumstances of the absences, the student may be denied promotion or graduation. Excessive absences shall not be a reason for expulsion or dismissal of a student.

Students who attend in-school suspension shall not be counted absent for those days.

Days missed due to out-of-school suspension or expulsion shall be excused absences.

The District shall notify the Department of Finance and Administration whenever a student fourteen (14) years of age or older is no longer in school. The Department of Finance and Administration is required to suspend the former student's operator's license unless he/she meets certain requirements specified in the statute.

Compulsory Attendance Requirements

It is very important that all students and parents understand that school attendance is necessary for appropriate educational objectives to be met by the students. Every parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the child, or person standing in loco parentis of any child age five (5) through seventeen (17) years on or before August 1 of that year who resides, as defined by policy (4.1—RESIDENCE REQUIREMENTS), within the District shall enroll and send the child to a District school with the following exceptions

- 1. The child is enrolled in a private or parochial school.
- 2. The child is being home-schooled, and the conditions of policy (4.6—HOMESCHOOLING) have been met.
- 3. The child will not be age six (6) on or before August 1 of that particular school year, and the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the child, or person standing in

- loco parentis of the child elects not to have him/her attend kindergarten. A kindergarten waiver form prescribed by regulation of the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education must be signed and on file with the District administrative office.
- 4. The child has received a high school diploma, G.E.D., or its equivalent as determined by the State Board of Education.
- 5. The child is age sixteen (16) or above and is enrolled in a post-secondary vocational-technical institution, a community college, or a two-year or four-year institution of higher education.
- 6. The child is age sixteen (16) or seventeen (17) and has met the requirements to enroll in an adult education program as defined by A.C.A. § 6-18-201 (b).

Legal References: A.C.A. § 6-4-302

A.C.A. § 6-18-209

A.C.A. § 6-18-213

A.C.A. § 6-18-220

A.C.A. § 6-18-222

A.C.A. § 6-18-229

A.C.A. § 6-18-231

A.C.A. § 6-18-507(g)

A.C.A. § 6-18-702

A.C.A. § 6-28-114

A.C.A. § 7-4-116

A.C.A. § 9-28-113(f)

A.C.A. § 27-16-701

Division of Elementary and Secondary Education Rules Governing

Distance and Digital Learning

Procedures for Absences

Parents are to call before 9:00 a.m. to inform the school of their child's absence.

It is the responsibility of the parent and student to keep up with doctor's notes or any documentation for missed days.

It is the responsibility of the parent to contact their child's building administrator when their child is at risk of exceeding the number of allowed absences.

A parent who wishes to dispute a student's attendance record and/or loss of credit must do so within 30 days of the end of the semester for which the absences or loss of credit occurred. Doctor's notes or school excuses will only be taken within (2) weeks of the last day absent (if for multiple days).

Make-Up Work

Students who miss school due to an absence shall be allowed to make up the work they missed during their absence under the following rules.¹

- 1.Students are responsible for asking the teachers of the classes they missed what assignments they need to make up.
- 2. Teachers are responsible for providing the missed assignments when asked by a returning student.²
- 3. Students are required to ask for their assignments on their first day back at school or their first class day after their return.³
- 4. Make-up tests are to be rescheduled at the discretion of the teacher but must be aligned with the schedule of the missed work to be made up.
- 5. Students shall have one class day (unless specified by the teacher) to make up their work for each class day they are absent.³
- 6. Make-up work that is not turned in within the make-up schedule for that assignment shall receive a zero.⁴
- 7. Students are responsible for turning in their make-up work without the teacher having to ask for it.²
- 8. Students who are absent on the day their make-up work is due must turn in their work the day they return to school, whether or not the class for which the work is due meets the day of their return.
- 9. As required/permitted by the student's Individual Education Plan or 504 Plan.

Work for students serving an out-of-school suspension or expulsion shall be in accordance with the District's programs, measures, or alternative means and methods to continue student engagement and access to education during the student's period of suspension or expulsion.

A student, while suspended out of school, will not be allowed to receive credit for daily assigned work unless approved by the principal. If a student misses a test or major project while suspended, the student will be allowed to take the test the day the student returns from suspension. It is the student's responsibility to communicate with the teacher about possible missed tests.

In addition to the make-up work process above, at the conclusion of a pregnancy-related or parenting-related period of absence, a student may choose from various options to make up missed work, including without limitation:

- A. Retaking a semester at the District school where the student is enrolled;
- B. Participating in an online course credit recovery program;
- C. Being granted six (6) weeks to continue at the same pace and finish the semester at a later date, provided that the student may:
 - a. Complete the student's coursework within the current school year; or

- b. Attend previously scheduled summer school classes made available by the District Where the student is enrolled; and
- D. Receiving home-based instruction services.

Dropping/Changing a Class

Students may request a schedule change up to the deadline determined each semester by the Counseling Center. Deadlines will be publicized in the daily bulletin and in the announcements.

Any course may be dropped five days after progress reports at 4.5 weeks, provided there is a corresponding class to take. Students have the option to drop an Honors class with AP coordinator approval at 9 weeks or semester. Students who drop an AP course after November 10th (the date AP exams are ordered) in a given school year will be asked (per College Board guidelines) to pay a \$40 fee. If there is not a corresponding non-AP class to take, the student can drop the class during the semester.

Students may drop an Honors or AP course with the approval of their parents/guardians, the AP teacher, and the AP coordinator, provided there is a corresponding class to take. Schedules may have to be rearranged to accommodate the dropping of the course(s). Students who drop an AP course after AP exams are ordered, November 10th, will be required to pay a \$40 fee to College Board.

Semester Test Policy:

Students with a D or F in a class will not be exempt from that class period's semester test. Students with outstanding fines and invoices will not be exempt from semester tests. Students who are suspended from school during the semester will not be exempt from any semester test for that semester.

Any student having more than four (4) unexcused absences in a semester will not be exempt from semester tests in those classes.

Students taking online classes will not be exempt from semester tests.

Seniors who pass their classes in the spring semester will be exempt from semester tests for that semester.

Any student exempt from a semester test may take the test to improve their grade. If the semester test grade lowers the grade, the test will not be counted.

Administration may include, at their discretion, semester test exemptions based on student performance.

Students are NOT allowed to take the semester test early or before their scheduled time.

Tardiness

Students arriving at school must be in their first-period class by 7:50 in order not to be counted as tardy. Students who arrive at school between 7:50 and 8:10 will be considered tardy. In grades 7-12, students are considered absent from a class when they miss more than 15 minutes of that class during periods 2nd-8th. A student in grades 7-12 who arrives late to a class after the first arrival on campus will be counted as tardy.

Students in the Junior High and High School are allowed six (6) minutes between classes. This time is not for loitering in the halls or visiting. Students should move to their classrooms and prepare to begin class.

Junior High & High School

After the 4th tardy the following occurs:

- 5th tardy- 3 days Detention
- 6th tardy- 1 day Saturday School
- 7th tardy- 1 day ISS
- 8th tardy- 2 days ISS
- Additional tardies- ISS

Truancy

In accordance with the **Arkansas Compulsory Attendance Law (Ark. Code Ann. § 6-18-201 et seq.)**, **truancy** is defined as an absence from school without the knowledge or consent of the student's parent/guardian and/or school officials. Truancy is unexcused and parents will be contacted about each offense.

A student is considered **truant** when:

- They are absent from school without a valid excuse as defined by the school district's attendance policy.
- They are found off-campus during instructional hours without proper authorization.
- They skip or fail to attend an individual class period without permission.

A truant student may be assigned a minimum of Saturday School to a maximum of In-school suspension (ISS).

A student who is truant a second time must be accompanied by a parent to the office of the principal.

Juvenile and/or local authorities will be notified of truant students for appropriate action (Act 473 of 1989).

ACADEMICS

Classification of Students

The classification of a student is determined at the beginning of each school year and continues throughout the school year. Classifications do not change at semester. Classifications for 2006 and beyond:

- Sophomore 5.5 credits
- Junior 11 credit
- Senior 16.5 credits (beginning with the 23-24 school year, Seniors will be required to take 4 credited classes).

During the semester, any student who is on pace to gain the required credits to graduate during the current school year will need to meet with the building principal for approval to change the classification.

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CLASS OF 2026 AND THEREAFTER

Graduation requirements will be sent home with students prior to their enrolling in seventh (7th) grade, or when a seventh (7th) through twelfth (12th) grade student enrolls in the district for the first time. This policy is to be included in student handbooks for grades six (6) through twelve (12) and both students and parents must sign an acknowledgement they have received the policy. All students are required to fulfill the Core curriculum or the Alternate Pathway to Graduation when required by their IEP to be eligible for graduation. Counseling by trained personnel shall be available to students and their parents or legal guardians as part of the creation of the student's Student Success Plan.

This policy, and the courses necessary for graduation shall be reviewed by staff, students, and parents as part of the annual school district strategic plan development process³¹ to determine if changes need to be made to better serve the needs of the district's students. The superintendent, or the superintendent's designee, shall select the composition of the review panel.

Sufficient information relating to the district's graduation requirements shall be communicated to parents and students to ensure their informed understanding; this shall be accomplished through holding an informational meeting for parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis to students enrolled in grades six through twelve (6-12) with the school counselor and may be accomplished through any or all of the additional following means:⁴²

• Inclusion in the student handbook of the graduation requirements;

- Discussion of the Smart Core curriculum and graduation requirements at the school's annual public meeting, PTA meetings, or a meeting held specifically for the purpose of informing the public on this matter; and/or
- Distribution of a newsletter(s) to parents or guardians of the district's students.

Administrators, or their designees, shall train newly hired employees, required to be licensed as a condition of their employment, regarding this policy. The district's annual professional development shall include the training required by this paragraph.³

To the best of its ability, the District shall follow the requirements covering the transfer of course credit and graduation set forth in the Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children and the Arkansas Military Child School Transitions Act of 2021 for all students who meet the definition of "eligible child" in Policy 4.2—ENTRANCE REQUIREMENTS including the waiving of specific courses that are required for graduation if similar coursework has been satisfactorily completed.

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS

The number of units students must earn to be eligible for high school graduation is to be earned from the categories listed below. A minimum of twenty-two (22) units is required for graduation In addition to the twenty-two (22) units required for graduation by the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE), the district requires an additional 0 units to graduate for a total of 22 units. The additional required units may be taken from any electives offered by the district.⁴. Accelerated learning courses or career education courses that are determined by DESE to be eligible for use in the place of a listed course may be substituted for the course as designated by DESE.

All students must receive a passing score on the Arkansas Civics Exam in order to graduate.

Students shall be trained in quality psychomotor skill bases in cardiopulmonary resuscitation and the use of automated external defibrillators in order to graduate.

Personal and Family Finance

All students shall receive credit in a course covering the Personal and Family Finance Standards in order to graduate.

Computer Science

All students shall earn one (1) unit of credit in a computer science or computer science related career and technical education course in order to graduate.

English: four (4) units – 9th, 10th, 11th, and 12th

Oral Communications: one-half (1/2) unit

Mathematics: four (4) units (all students under Smart Core must take a mathematics course in grade 11 or 12 and complete Algebra II.)

- 1. Algebra I or Algebra A & B*, which may be taken in grades 7-8 or 8-9;
- 2. Geometry or Investigating Geometry or Geometry A & B* which may be taken in grades 8-9 or 9-10:
- *A two-year algebra equivalent or a two-year geometry equivalent may each be counted as two units of the four-unit requirement for the purpose of meeting the **graduation** requirement, but only serve as one unit each toward fulfilling the **Smart Core** requirement.
 - 3. Algebra II; and
 - 4. The fourth unit may be either:
 - A math unit beyond Algebra II: this can include Pre-Calculus, Calculus, AP Statistics, Algebra III, Advanced Topic and Modeling in Mathematics, Mathematical Applications and Algorithms, Linear Systems and Statistics, or any of several accelerated learning courses and other approved courses for weighted credit math courses (Comparable concurrent credit college courses may be substituted where applicable); or
 - A computer science flex credit may be taken in the place of a fourth math credit.

Natural Science: a total of three (3) units with lab experience chosen from One unit of Biology and either:

Two units chosen from the following three categories (there are acceptable options listed by the ADE for each):

- Physical Science;
- Chemistry;
- Physics or Principles of Technology I & II or PIC Physics; or
- One unit from the three categories above and a computer science flex credit may be taken in the place of a third science credit.

Social Studies: three (3) units

- Civics one-half (½) unit
- World History one unit
- American History one unit

Physical Education: one-half (1/2) unit

Note: While one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) unit is required for graduation, no more than one (1) unit may be applied toward fulfilling the necessary units to graduate.

Health and Safety: one-half (1/2) unit

Economics – one half (½) unit – dependent upon the licensure of the teacher teaching the course, this can count toward the required three (3) social studies credits or the six (6) required Career Focus elective credits.⁹

Fine Arts: one-half $(\frac{1}{2})$ unit

CAREER FOCUS: - Six (6) units

All career-focus unit requirements shall be established through guidance and counseling based on the student's contemplated work aspirations. Career focus courses shall conform to the curriculum policy of the district and reflect state curriculum frameworks through course sequencing and career course concentrations where appropriate.

A student who enlists in a branch of the United States Armed Forces or the National Guard through the military delayed entry program, the National Guard Split Training Option, or other similar early entry program and completes basic training before graduating from high school shall receive two (2) units of the Career Focus graduation requirements.

CORE: Sixteen (16) units

English: four (4) units – 9th, 10th, 11th, and 12th

Oral Communications: one-half (½) unit

Mathematics: four (4) units

- Algebra or its equivalent* 1 unit
- Geometry or its equivalent* 1 unit
- All math units must build on the base of algebra and geometry knowledge and skills.
- (Comparable concurrent credit college courses may be substituted where applicable)
- A computer science flex credit may be taken in the place of a math credit beyond Algebra I and Geometry

*A two-year algebra equivalent or a two-year geometry equivalent may each be counted as two units of the four (4) unit requirement.

Science: three (3) units

at least one (1) unit of biology or its equivalent; and Two units chosen from the following three categories:

- Physical Science,
- Chemistry,
- Physics; or
- One unit from the three categories above and a computer science flex credit may be taken in the place of a third science credit.

Social Studies: three (3) units
• Civics: one-half (½) unit

- World history, one (1) unit
- American History, one (1) unit

Physical Education: one-half $(\frac{1}{2})$ unit

Note: While one-half $(\frac{1}{2})$ unit is required for graduation, no more than one (1) unit may be applied toward fulfilling the necessary units to graduate.

Health and Safety: one-half (1/2) unit

Economics – one-half (½) unit – dependent upon the licensure of the teacher teaching the course, this can count toward the required three (3) social studies credits or the six (6) required Career Focus elective credits.9

Fine Arts: one-half (1/2) unit

CAREER FOCUS: - Six (6) units

All career-focus unit requirements shall be established through guidance and counseling based on the student's contemplated work aspirations. Career focus courses shall conform to the curriculum policy of the district and reflect state curriculum frameworks through course sequencing and career course concentrations where appropriate.

A student who enlists in a branch of the United States Armed Forces or the National Guard through the military delayed entry program, the National Guard Split Training Option, or other similar early entry program and completes basic training before graduating from high school shall receive two (2) units of the Career Focus graduation requirements.

Grading

Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of a student, or persons standing in loco parentis shall be kept informed concerning the progress of their student. Parent-teacher conferences are encouraged and may be requested by parents, guardians, persons having lawful control of a student, persons standing in loco parentis, or teachers. If the progress of a student is unsatisfactory in a subject, the teacher shall attempt to schedule a parent-teacher conference. In the conference, the teacher shall explain the reason for the difficulties and shall develop, cooperatively with the parents, a plan for remediation, which may enhance the probability of the student succeeding. The school shall also send timely progress reports and issue grades for each nine (9) week grading period to keep parents/guardians informed of their student's progress.

The evaluation of each student's performance on a regular basis serves to give the parents/guardians, students, and the school the necessary information to help affect academic improvement. Students' grades shall reflect only the extent to which a student has achieved the expressed educational objectives of the course.

The grades of a child in foster care shall not be lowered due to an absence from school due to:

1. A change in the child's school enrollment;

- 2. The child's attendance at a dependency-neglect court proceeding or
- 3. The child's attendance at court-ordered counseling or treatment.

The grading scale for all schools in the district shall be as follows:

```
A = 100 - 90,

B = 89 - 80,

C = 79 - 70,

D = 69 - 60,

F = 59 and below.
```

For the purpose of determining grade point averages, the numeric value of each letter grade shall be:

A = 4 points, B = 3 points, C = 2 points, D = 1 point F = 0 points.

The grade point values for accelerated learning courses and other approved courses for weighted credit shall be one (1) point greater than for regular courses, with the exception that an F shall still be worth zero (0) points. The final grades of students who transfer in for part of the semester will be determined by blending the grades earned in the district with those earned outside the district. Each final grade will be the sum of the percentage of days in the grading period transferred from outside the district times the transferred grade from outside the district plus the percentage of days in the grading period while in the district times, the grade earned in the district. The accelerated learning courses (and other approved courses for weighted credit) grading policy will align with the AP/Honor course contracts.

Grading Policy:

All students' grades will be based on the academic objectives of the class. While behavior will not be used in determining a student's grade, some courses will require a participation grade. Participation points will be used in courses like band, choir, and physical education.

Grading, Class Standing, and Grade Point:

Grades assigned to students for performance in a course shall reflect only the extent to which a student has achieved the expressed academic objectives of the course. Grades that reflect other educational objectives, such as the student learning expectations contained in the curriculum frameworks, may also be given. Class standings and grade points are figured each year. These are available to parents or students upon request. The counselor will have this and other data available if needed. Non-academic courses (Flag line, P.E./Athletics, Athletic Trainer, and Cheerleading) are not included in figuring class standings and grade point. Band and Choir are academic courses and are included in figuring class standings and grade point.

Core Curriculum Courses for Seventh Grade

- Language Arts or Honors Language Arts
- Pre-Algebra or Honors Pre-Algebra
- World History/Arkansas History
- Science

Core Curriculum Courses for Eighth Grade

- Language Arts or Honors Language Arts
- Eighth Grade Mathematics or Algebra I
- Science or Honors Physical Science
- World History

Report Cards and Progress Reports

Students who expect to pass must be regular in attendance, take all tests, make all reports, and do all work assigned by the instructor of the particular course.

Report cards are issued at the end of every nine-week school period. The report is made to the parents and is taken home by the student. The intent is to acquaint the parents with their children's progress. A four-week progress report will be sent home by the student. The progress report will state the student's present grade. Conferences can be requested by the teacher or parent at any time.

Homework Policy

The Beebe School District recognizes that homework is a beneficial addition to the in-school instructional program. For most students, additional study directly related to academic work-in-progress can make the difference between mastery and non-mastery, between satisfactory and exemplary achievement. Homework tells students that learning is more than just a classroom activity, that expectations go beyond minimum effort, and that independent learning is valued. Through a well-formulated homework system, students will acquire academic content while also developing self-discipline, responsibility, and good study/work habits. Students who possess these characteristics will be prepared for both academic and/or vocational careers.

Because of the individual differences and needs of students, it is unsound to require or expect all students to experience the same kind of homework in connection with their school instruction. Purposeful homework varies from day to day, and the professional discretion of the teacher should determine when homework is assigned.

Basically, homework can be classified into three categories: practice, preparation, and extension. When homework is given as an assigned responsibility for the students, such homework will be based on one or more of the following purposes:

- Drill and additional practice to strengthen new skills introduced in the classroom;
- Work on projects of short-term and/or long-term nature;
- Participation in research activities in locating facts and data;
- Expanding reading for pleasure and enjoyment.

A.C.A. § 6-18-101 is amended to add an additional subsection to read as follows: A school district may establish an honor roll system to recognize or reward students for achievement. No school district shall be prohibited from identifying students who qualify for the honor roll or who are eligible to serve as valedictorian or salutatorian of the students' graduating class or who qualify for honor graduate status as provided under this section. Any parent or student who does not want to have the student identified as an honor student or listed on the honor roll shall submit a written request to the principal of the school requesting that the student not be identified (Senate Bill 250).

Student Promotion and Retention

A disservice is done to students through social promotion and is prohibited by state law. The District shall, at a minimum, evaluate each student annually in an effort to help each student who is not performing at grade level. Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons acting in loco parentis shall be kept informed concerning the progress of their student(s). Notice of a student's possible retention or required retaking of a course shall be included with the student's grades sent home to each parent/guardian or the student if 18 or older. Parent-teacher conferences are encouraged and may be held as necessary in an effort to improve a student's academic success.

Each time a student is assessed by use of a high-quality literacy screener, with results at least once each semester, the Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons acting in loco parentis, and teacher(s) of a student in kindergarten through eighth (8th) grade shall be notified in writing of the student's independent grade-level-equivalency in reading and, in a parent-friendly manner, the student's reading progress.

Promotion or retention of students or their required retaking of a course shall be primarily based on the following criteria:

- The following students may receive a good cause waiver:
- Limited English Proficiency students who have had less than three (3) years of instruction in an English language learner program;
- Students with a disability who are not eligible for the alternate assessment and who have an individualized education program or a 504 plan that reflects that the individual student:
 - Has received an intensive, evidence-based literacy intervention program aligned to the science of reading for more than two (2) years; and
 - Still demonstrates a need in reading proficiency or previously was retained in kindergarten, grade one (1), grade two (2), or grade three (3);
- Students who:

- Have received an intensive, evidence-based literacy intervention program aligned to the science of reading for two (2) or more years;
- Still demonstrate a need in reading proficiency and who previously were retained in kindergarten, grade one (1), grade two (2), or grade three (3);
- Have received a special education referral and a full comprehensive evaluation;
 and
- Have not met exceptional education criteria;
- Students who have already been retained in kindergarten, grade one (1), grade two (2), or grade three (3) for one (1) year;
- Students who can demonstrate that they are successful and independent readers and can perform at or above grade level by use of subsequent student assessments or alternative assessments or
- Other students with necessary, justifiable good-cause exemptions identified as appropriate by the state board in consultation with reading experts.

If there is doubt concerning the promotion or retention of a student or his/her required retaking of a course, a conference between the building principal, the student's teacher(s), counselor, a 504/special education representative (if applicable), and the student's parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis shall be held before a final decision is made. The conference shall be held at a time and place that best accommodates those participating in the conference. The school shall document participation or non-participation in required conferences. If the conference attendees fail to agree concerning the student's placement or receipt of course credit, the final decision shall rest with the principal or the principal's designee.

Beginning with the 2018-2019 school year, each student shall have a student success plan (SSP) developed by school personnel in collaboration with the student's parents and student that is reviewed and updated annually. A student's SSP shall use multiple academic measures to personalize learning in order for students to achieve their grade-level expectations and individual growth. The SSP will identify if the student is in need of additional support or acceleration. Academic measures to be used in creating and updating a student's SSP shall include, but are not limited to:

- Statewide student assessment results;
- Subject grades;
- Student work samples and
- Local assessment scores.

The SSP for a student in kindergarten through grade three (K-3) who does not meet the reading standard As set by the state board and determined by a high-quality literacy screener or the statewide assessment shall include an individual reading plan for each student. An individual reading plan shall include:

1. The student's specific, diagnosed reading skill needs, including without limitation:

- a. Phonemic awareness;
- b. Phonics decoding;
- c. Text reading fluency;
- d. Vocabulary-building strategies; and
- e. Self-regulated use of reading comprehension strategies, as identified by high-quality literacy screener data;
- 2. The goals and benchmarks for the student's growth;
- 3. How the student's progress will be monitored and evaluated;
- 4. The type of additional instructional services and interventions the student may receive;
- 5. The intensive, evidence-based literacy intervention program aligned to the science of reading the student's teacher will use to address the areas of phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension;
- 6. The strategies the student's parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis to the student are encouraged to use in assisting the student to achieve the student's reading goal; and
- Any additional services the student's teacher determines are available and appropriate to accelerate the student's reading skill development.

All parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis shall be notified in writing:

- A. Of the content of their child's independent reading plan and progress on the independent reading plan throughout the year; and
- B. By no later than October 1 of each year, or as soon as practicable if a student's reading need is identified after October 1:
 - a. Of their student's eligibility to participate in the literacy tutoring grant program;
 - b. The process for applying for the literacy tutoring grant program; and
 - c. Other information provided by DESE.

For each student who does not meet the reading standard established by the state board by the end of the third (3rd) grade, including students who are promoted to the fourth (4th) grade under a good cause waiver, the District, during the subsequent summer and school year, shall:

- A. Provide at least ninety (90) minutes of evidence-based literacy instruction aligned to the science of reading during each school day;
- B. Assign the student to:
 - a. If the District has a teacher with a value-added model score in the top quartile statewide in English language arts for the past three (3) years, a teacher with a value-added model score in the top quartile statewide in English language arts for the past three (3) years; or

If the District is unable to identify a teacher with a value-added model score in the top quartile statewide in English language arts for the past three (3) years, a teacher:

- b. With a highly effective rating according to the Teacher Excellence and Support System, when possible; or
- c. Deemed to be a high-performing teacher as defined by a Master Professional Educator designation.
- C. Provide parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis to students with a "read-at-home" plan to support student early literacy growth, which shall include evidence-based science of reading strategies and tools that are aligned to a student's individual reading plan for parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis to use with their student;
- D. Notify parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis to a student regarding their student's eligibility for a literacy tutoring grant;
- E. Be given priority to receive a literacy tutoring grant and
- F. Be given the option to participate in additional intensive, evidence-based literacy intervention programs aligned to the science of reading.

The SSP of a student in kindergarten through grade eight (K-8) who is not performing at or above grade level on the state assessment, as defined by the State Board of Education, shall include a math intervention plan. The math intervention plan may include the following:

- 1. Provision of each student with access to high-dosage, targeted math tutoring in the subsequent school year, which shall include three (3) or more tutoring sessions a week in a one-on-one or small-group setting;
- 2. Assignment to:
 - a. If the District has a teacher with a value-added model score in the top quartile statewide in math for the previous three (3) years, a teacher with a value-added model score in the top quartile statewide in math for the previous three (3) years; or
 - b. If the District is unable to find a teacher with a value-added model score in the top quartile statewide in math for the previous three (3) years, a teacher:
 - c. With a highly effective rating in the Teacher Excellence and Support System, when possible; or
 - d. Deemed to be a high-performing teacher as defined by a Master Professional Educator designation; and
- 3. Provision of each student with extended time on math instruction during or after school.

All parents, legal guardians, or persons standing in loco parentis shall receive written notification of their student's math intervention plan and progress on the student's math intervention plan throughout the school year.

By the end of grade eight (8), the student's SSP shall:

- Guide the student along pathways to graduation;
- Address accelerated learning opportunities;
- Address academic deficits and interventions, and
- Include college and career planning components.

Based on a student's score on the college and career assessment:

- The student's SSP will be updated in order to assist the student with college and career readiness skills, course selection in high school, and improved academic achievement; and
- Provide a basis for counseling concerning postsecondary preparatory programs.

A student's SSP shall include the recommended sequence of courses for successful completion of the diploma pathway selected by the student but be sufficiently flexible to allow the student to change the student's selected diploma pathway. The school counselor shall meet with the student's parent, legal guardian, or persons standing in loco parentis and the student to review the student's SSP annually and to revise the student's SSP as necessary to identify the courses to be taken each year until all required core courses are completed. Part of the review shall include an explanation of the possible impacts the revisions to the plan might have on the student's graduation requirements and postsecondary education goals. Any change made to a student's SSP as part of the review that amends the student's diploma pathway shall be structured to ensure that the student will meet the high school graduation requirements for the student's chosen diploma pathway and be qualified for admission to a postsecondary educational institution or to enter the workforce. After each review, the student's SSP shall be signed by the student, the student's parent, legal guardian, or person standing in loco parentis to the student, and the school counselor.

An SSP shall be created:

- 1. By no later than the end of the school year for a student in grade eight (8) or below who enrolls in the District during the school year; or
- 2. As soon as reasonably possible for a student in grade nine (9) or above who enrolls in the District at the beginning or during the school year.

A student's individualized education program (IEP) may act in the place of the student's SSP if the IEP addresses academic deficits and interventions for the student's failure to meet standards-based academic goals at an expected rate or level and includes a transition plan that addresses college and career planning components. Promotion or retention of students with an IEP shall be based on their successful attainment of the goals set forth in their IEP.

Students who either refuse to sit for a Statewide assessment or attempt to boycott a Statewide assessment by failing to put forth a good faith effort on the assessment as determined by the assessment administrator/proctor or whose parents do not send their student to school on the dates the assessments are originally administered or scheduled as make-up days shall not be permitted to participate in any non-curriculum related extracurricular activity, including school dances, prom, homecoming, senior events, and may be prevented from walking or participating in graduation exercises. The student shall remain ineligible to participate until the student takes the same or a following Statewide assessment, as applicable. The Superintendent or designee may waive this paragraph's provisions when the student's failure was due to exceptional or extraordinary circumstances.³ Students falling under the provisions of this paragraph shall be permitted to attend curriculum-related field trips occurring during the school day.

Seventh and Eighth-Grade Promotion Policy

7th and 8th-grade students failing math or language arts or any two of the core classes may be required to attend Summer School and/or Badger Academy or be retained. Students will be required to show mastery of the material in order to complete Summer School or Badger Academy. Placement at Badger Academy is at the discretion of the instructional committee, which is composed of educational staff and may be recommended for students who do not meet the criteria mentioned above. Students who have missed over the maximum number of days allowed may also be required to attend Summer School and/or Badger Academy.

Students who fail three (3) or more of the yearly core curriculum subjects will be retained in the previous grade (ACT 35).

Student Acceleration

The Board believes that acceleration is an effective and research-based intervention for the academic growth of students who are ready for an advanced or faster-paced curriculum. Acceleration can allow a student to move through the traditional educational setting more rapidly based on assessed readiness, capability, and motivation. At the same time, the Board understands that acceleration is not a replacement for gifted education services or programs.

Generally, acceleration can occur through one of two broad categories: content-based and grade-based. Grade-based acceleration shortens the number of years a student would otherwise spend in K-12 education, while content-based acceleration occurs within the normal K-12 time span. Either form of acceleration can be triggered by a parent/guardian, student, or community member's request or by the referral of school personnel. In either case, the process of determining the appropriateness of the request shall be under the direction of the district/school Gifted and Talented Program Coordinator. The district/school Gifted and Talented Program Coordinator shall convene the Acceleration Placement Committee and communicate with the individuals necessary for the Acceleration Placement Committee to make an informed decision, which shall include the student's parents or guardians.

While the needs of the student should dictate when acceleration decisions are considered, the Board believes the optimal time for referrals is in the spring; this gives adequate time for working through the determination process and for preparing those concerned for a smooth transition to the acceleration beginning in the following school year.

The District's Gifted and Talented Program Coordinator will create a written format to govern the referral and determination process, which shall be made available to any parent or staff member upon request.

The parents/guardians of any student whose request for acceleration has been denied may appeal the decision in writing to the District's GT Coordinator. The District's GT Coordinator and the Acceleration Placement Committee will again thoroughly review the case study that was completed on the student. Upon completion of the review, the Committee will either request additional new testing be conducted to help the Committee make its determination, or it will uphold the initial decision. If the parent/guardian does not agree with the committee's decision, the parent/guardian may further appeal the decision to the Director of Curriculum and to the Superintendent. If the parent/guardian does not agree with the decision of the Director of Curriculum and the Superintendent, the decision may be appealed to the Board of Education.

Digital Learning Courses

Definitions

For the purposes of this policy:

"Blended Learning" is education in which instruction and content are delivered through supervised instruction in a classroom and online delivery of instruction with some element of student control over time, place, path, or pace.

"Digital Learning" means a digital technology or internet-based educational delivery model that does not rely exclusively on compressed interactive video (CIV). Digital learning includes online and blended learning.

"Instructional Materials" means:

- 1. Traditional books, textbooks, and trade books in printed and bound form;
- 2. Activity-oriented programs that may include:
 - Manipulatives
 - Hand-held calculators;
 - Other hands-on materials; and
- 3. Technology-based materials that require the use of electronic equipment in order to be used in the learning process.

"Online Learning" is education in which instruction and content are delivered primarily over the Internet. The term does not include print-based correspondence education, broadcast television

or radio, videocassettes, compact disks, and stand-alone educational software programs that do not have a significant Internet-based instructional component.

"Public School Student Accessing Courses at a Distance" means a student who is scheduled for a full course load through the District and attends all classes virtually.

Digital Course Offerings:

The District shall offer one or more digital learning course(s) through one or more district-approved provider(s) as either a primary or supplementary method of instruction. The courses may be in a blended learning, online-based, or other technology-based format and shall be tailored to meet the needs of each student.

All digitally offered courses shall meet or exceed the State Board of Education's curriculum standards and requirements and be capable of being assessed and measured through standardized or local assessments. Additionally, the District shall ensure there is sufficient infrastructure to handle and facilitate a quality digital learning environment.

The District shall annually determine what district-created digital learning courses it will provide to our students. The District may also choose to provide digital learning courses by contracting with outside providers of such courses who have been pre-approved as part of the Arkansas Course Choice Program by the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). The School Board shall determine the provider method or combination of methods for the District. The Superintendent shall ensure that all digital learning courses provided to District students, regardless of the source of the course, have been approved by ADE.

District-created digital courses and any digital courses the district purchases from outside providers shall adhere to the guidelines for the use of digitally transmitted copyrighted materials set forth in Policy 5.8—USE OF COPYRIGHTED MATERIALS as well as applicable statutory requirements.

The District shall require all outside providers to incorporate Policy 5.8 as a condition of the service contract. Failure of the outside provider to abide by Policy 5.8 shall constitute a breach of contract, and the outside provider shall be responsible for any costs resulting from such breach.

A student may elect to take any scheduled courses digitally if offered digitally by the District or, if applicable, through the Arkansas Course Choice Program. The student's attendance in his/her digital course(s) shall be determined by the online attendance and time the student is working on the course rather than the student's physical presence at school.

The District is responsible for providing all instructional materials for each student who enrolls in a district-approved digital learning course.

Except as required by Policy 5.19, the District may restrict a student's access to digital courses when the student's building principal determines the student's participation in such a course

would not be academically appropriate based on the student's past performance in digital courses. Furthermore, the student's building principal may revoke a student's eligibility to continue taking a digital learning course if the student's performance during the semester indicates the student is not succeeding in the course.

Correspondence and Summer School Work:

For a student to complete the requirements for high school graduation by taking correspondence courses or summer school credit, these requirements must be met:

- 1. All work must be done through the school or an accredited institution.
- 2. A school official must approve all work beforehand.

Concurrent Credit:

A ninth (9th) through twelfth (12th) grade student who successfully completes a college course(s) from an institution approved by the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education shall be given credit toward high school grades and graduation at the rate of one (1) high school credit for each three (3) semester hours of college credit. Unless approved by the school's principal **prior to enrolling for the course**, the concurrent credit shall be applied toward the student's graduation requirements as an elective.

As permitted by the DESE Rules of Governing Concurrent College and High School Credit, a student who takes a three (3)-semester hour remedial/developmental education course receives a half (1/2) credit for a high school career focus elective. The remedial/developmental education course cannot be used to meet the core subject area/unit requirements in English and mathematics.

Participation in the concurrent high school and college credit program must be documented by a written agreement between:

- The student:
- The student's parent(s) or legal guardian(s) if the student t is under the age of eighteen (18);
- The District; and
- The publicly supported community college, technical college, four-year college or university, or private institution the student attends to take the concurrent credit course.

Students are responsible for having the transcript for the concurrent credit course(s) they've taken sent to their school in order to receive credit for the course(s). Credit for concurrent credit courses will not be given until a transcript is received. Students may not receive credit for the course(s) they took, or the credit may be delayed if the transcripts are not received at all or in a timely manner; this may jeopardize students' eligibility for extracurricular activities and/or graduation.

Students will retain credit earned through the concurrent credit program that was applied toward a course required for high school graduation from a previously attended, accredited public school.

A student eligible to receive free or reduced-price meals shall not be responsible for any of the costs for the student's first six (6) concurrent credit hours so long as the concurrent credit courses are taught on the District grounds and by a teacher employed by the District.² Any and all costs of concurrent credit courses beyond the six (6) hours permitted that are not taught on the District's campus or are not taught by a teacher employed by the District are the responsibility of the student. Students who are not eligible to receive free or reduced-price meals are responsible for any and all costs associated with concurrent credit courses.

Graduation:

Participation in Graduation Exercises

Before a student can participate in graduation exercises, he/she must meet all the requirements for graduation. Students are required to purchase and wear a specific cap and gown for participation in commencement exercises.

The Graduation ceremony is a privilege, and students must be in good standing in order to participate.

Early Graduation:

Any student who is enrolled in Beebe High School and has earned the number of credits required by the local school district for graduation shall be eligible to graduate from high school without regard to the grade level the student is enrolled in at the time such credits are earned. (Act 275 of 1997)

For the purposes of this section, graduation will be defined as "completing requirements for receiving a diploma." Graduation exercises will be defined as "those exercises during which diplomas are conferred."

Students who plan to graduate early must file an Early Graduation Intent Form with the principal's office. This form must be filed by May 15th before December graduation or by December 15th before a planned spring or summer graduation.

Students who graduate in December may participate in graduation exercises in May but may not be a part of the program. These students will not be included in any senior class activities which occur during the spring semester.

Any student who plans to graduate early but who is classified as a junior will not be eligible for senior activities or privileges. For those students who plan to graduate early, a senior is a student who has earned 17 (seventeen) credits by the time school starts in August. If necessary, special provisions will be made so that semester exams can be completed before the graduation exercises.

Honor or High Honors Graduate

To be considered for Honor Graduate or High Honors status, the following must be completed by the end of eight semesters:

- 1. No fractional Honors/AP credits will be accepted.
- 2. No "F's," "NC's," or "I's" will be permitted on the official transcript in any course, including non-core courses. "NC" will be figured into the GPA as an "F".
- 3. Honor or High Honor graduates will be determined at the end of seven semesters and verified at the end of eight semesters. Students will lose Honor Graduate status if they do not meet requirements at the end of eight semesters. Students may be added to the Honor Graduate status by attaining all requirements at the end of eight semesters.
- 4. A student must be enrolled for a minimum of four semesters in Beebe High School, grades 9-12, to be eligible for valedictorian or salutatorian. A student must be enrolled and in full-time attendance during his/her senior year.
- 5. Students must successfully complete the full year of the Honor or AP course in order to count that course as one of the twelve Honors or AP courses required for Honor Graduate status (ten courses from the list below, plus two years of foreign language). AP weight will not be given toward Honor graduate status unless both semesters of the course are completed. AP weight will only be figured if the student takes the AP exam in the specific course.
- 6. AP exams are ordered during the second week of November. Students taking AP courses will be charged \$40 (this fee goes to the College Board at the end of the school year) if an AP course is dropped after exams are ordered.

Honor Graduate Requirements:

Students may graduate from Beebe High School with HONORS or HIGHEST HONORS if they meet the specified criteria for their particular graduating class.

Beginning with the Class of 2024, a student working for HONORS recognition must:

- 1. Earn 10 academic credits from the courses listed below 3 must be AP courses; and
- 2. Earn 2 academic credits in the same foreign language.

Recognition will be designated as follows:

- a. With HIGHEST HONORS: Grade point of 4.0 and above with 3 of the 10 courses listed below being AP; and
- b. With HONORS: Grade point of 3.50 3.99 with 3 of the 10 courses listed below being AP.

Any student transferring from a private school or who has been previously homeschooled is eligible to be recognized as graduating with HONORS or HIGHEST HONORS if he or she meets the established criteria.

A student graduating with HONORS will be one who has maintained a 3.5 GPA or above. A student graduating with HIGHEST HONORS will be one who has maintained a 4.0 GPA or above.

All core courses, plus any AP class that is not considered a core course (Ex. AP Studio Art), are used to figure GPA when determining honor graduate status.

AP courses are weighted on a 5-point grading scale if an AP student successfully completes their AP course(s) and takes the AP exam(s) in May.

Students working towards HONORS or HIGHEST HONORS must choose from the courses listed below, 3 of which must be AP courses.

Honors Civics/Economics		Honors English 9
Honors Algebra II	Honors Biology	Honors Chemistry
Honors English 10	Honors Geometry	Honors English 11
Honors Pre-Cal/Trig	Honors Spanish II	Honors Spanish III
Honors US History	AP Biology	AP Calculus
AP Chemistry	AP CS – A Level 1	AP CS – A Level 2
AP Environmental Science	AP Government	AP English Lang & Comp
AP English Lit & Comp	AP Music Theory	AP Physics I
AP Physics II	AP Statistics	AP Studio Art: 2 D
AP Studio Art: Drawing	AP US History	AP World History

Valedictorian and Salutatorian Requirements

In order to be eligible for the two top honors in commencement, a student must have completed the last four semesters of his or her high school work at Beebe High School and must have completed the honor graduate requirements. The student(s) with the highest honors core GPA will be recognized as the valedictorian. The student(s) with the second highest honors core GPA will be recognized as the salutatorian. The Valedictorian and salutatorian will be announced when all grades are final.

Arkansas Scholars Program

Students in grades 9 - 12 who meet the following criteria are invited to participate in the Arkansas Scholars Program sponsored by the Beebe Chamber of Commerce and the Arkansas Business and Education Alliance. Students are recognized at the completion of their senior year, and a sticker is attached to their transcript.

- 1. Make a semester grade of "C" or above in all academic courses.
- 2. Achieve a 95% or better attendance record.

- 3. Take the recommended courses to prepare for post-secondary education, including at least 3 years of science, 3 years of math, 3 years of social studies, and 4 years of English. (Two years of a foreign language are encouraged.)
- 4. Complete high school in eight consecutive semesters.

Athletic Scholarship Awards

Seniors who meet graduation requirements and participate in athletics may be nominated for the following awards:

James Hugh Garrett Scholarship -for a male

Requires a 3.0 CUMULATIVE grade point average <u>and participation in two sports for 3 years;</u> recognizes outstanding athletic ability, leadership, and sportsmanship while maintaining a superior scholastic standing.

Amanda Garrett Schieffler – for a female

Requires a 3.0 CUMULATIVE grade point average <u>and participation in two sports for three years</u>; should be given to a senior girl who has shown outstanding athletic ability, leadership, and sportsmanship while maintaining a superior scholastic standing.

A.S. "Bro" Erwin Scholarship -male or female

Requires at least a 2.5 CUMULATIVE grade point average, <u>participation in at least 1 sport in grades 10-12</u>, and <u>participation in 2 sports during his or her senior year</u>. Other areas of consideration are character, leadership, and intent to attend college and major in education.

Transcripts

Any student planning to attend college should request the guidance office to send a transcript of their record to the school of his/her choice.

REGULATIONS FOR SCHOOL ORGANIZATIONS

School Organizations

Students have the right to join an existing club subject to the constitution of that club. No club will restrict membership on the basis of race, sex, national origin, or handicapping conditions.

Holding Student Council Offices

- 1. A student must have passed all subjects in the previous semester and have a 2.50 or better cumulative grade point average.
- 2. A student must have attended Beebe High School the entire semester previous to the election or have attended Beebe schools at least one year in grades seven through eleven.

- 3. A student who received an out-of-school suspension or was convicted of a criminal offense during the current or previous semester, excluding minor traffic offenses, is ineligible for office. (DUI is not considered a minor traffic offense.)
- 4. A student will be removed from office if he/she receives an out-of-school suspension or is convicted of a criminal offense, excluding minor traffic offenses. (DUI is not considered a minor traffic offense.)

Holding Class Office

- 1. A student must have passed four subjects in the previous semester and have a 2.0 or better cumulative grade point average.
- 2. A student must have attended Beebe High School the entire semester previous to the election or have attended Beebe schools at least one year in grades seven through eleven.
- 3. A student who received an out-of-school suspension or was convicted of a criminal offense during the current or previous semester, excluding minor traffic offenses, is ineligible for office. (DUI is not considered a minor traffic offense.)
- 4. A student will be removed from office if he/she receives an out-of-school suspension or is convicted of a criminal offense, excluding minor traffic offenses. (DUI is not considered a minor traffic offense.)

Who's Who

Who's Who is selected from the senior class. A Mr. BHS and a Miss BHS are elected each year in this contest. The pictures of all recipients will appear in the Badger Yearbook. By secret ballot, the senior class will nominate three students for each category. By secret ballot, the senior class will select the recipients for each category. Any student selected for two or more awards must choose the one he/she prefers. The students chosen for Mr. and Miss BHS may receive one other Who's Who honors. The intent is to keep the recipients for Mr. and Miss BHS secret until the yearbooks are distributed.

By secret ballot, the freshman, sophomore, and junior classes will select a boy and a girl from their respective classes as class favorites. The classes will use the same selection process as the seniors use in selecting Who's Who.

Trying Out for Cheerleader/Dancer/Mascot

1. A student must have passed four subjects in the previous semester and have a 2.0 or better cumulative grade point average.

2. A student must be enrolled in January at the beginning of the semester; tryouts are held in order to participate.

Homecoming Queen and Maids:

A Homecoming Queen and twelve maids are elected each year to reign at the Homecoming football game. The queen, a senior girl, has three maids from each of the ninth, tenth, eleventh, and twelfth grades. A girl may not serve as a maid 2 years in a row. Each of the royalty must have been enrolled in Beebe Public Schools during the entire previous spring semester. The Student Council sponsor will be responsible for administering all Homecoming elections. The final voting will be conducted on or by the third Monday prior to the Homecoming game. The royalty will be announced to the student body immediately after the final votes are tabulated. All preliminary and final voting will be by secret ballot.

By secret ballot, the senior class will reduce its candidates to twelve girls. Grades nine through twelve will then select a Queen by secret ballot from the twelve finalists. The senior class will then select a Queen and three maids from the twelve finalists. The three girls receiving the most votes will be the senior maids. If one of the three girls selected has previously been selected as Queen, the girl with the next greatest number of votes will be a maid.

By secret ballot, the junior, sophomore, and freshman classes will each reduce their candidates to twelve girls. The eleventh grade will select three maids from the twelve junior girls. The sophomores will select three maids from the twelve sophomore girls. The freshman will select three maids from the twelve sophomore girls.

The attire for the homecoming royalty for the parade and the homecoming game will be decided by the homecoming royalty. At least one of the events will be informal dress.

Badger Pride Maids

Badger Pride maids will be elected each year to reign at the Badger Pride basketball game. The maids, ninth, sophomore, junior, or senior females, will be elected by their peers from each established club. The football Homecoming Queen and maids may not serve as Badger Pride maids. Badger Pride maids may not serve 2 years in a row. Each participating club will pay \$50 to sponsor their maid. The maid must have been enrolled in Beebe Public Schools during the entire previous fall semester. The Sweethearts will be announced to the student body immediately after final votes are tabulated.

Attire for the Badger Pride royalty will be decided by the maids. At least one of the events will be informal dress. Badger Pride maids will walk during the pep assembly and be presented by a member of the Boys' and Girls' basketball team.

Prom

Prom is a formal event that occurs every spring.

Eleventh and twelfth-grade students are allowed to purchase **two (2)** tickets to the event. Tenth-grade students are allowed to attend prom **if escorted by an eleventh or twelfth-grade student to the event.**

Outside guests are allowed at the event as long as:

- They are accompanied by a current eleventh or twelfth-grade BHS student;
- They are at least in tenth grade;
- They are 20 years of age or younger;
- They are in good standing (and have no major infractions) at their current school/institution.
- All attendees wanting to bring an outside guest to the BHS prom must turn in a
 permission slip signed by both the student's and guest's parent/guardian(s) and school
 principals. A valid copy of the guest's driver's license must also be presented with the
 permission slip.
- Upon entry to prom, all students must check in with their guests at the front door. For example, if John A. purchased tickets for himself and Jane B., John and Jane must arrive and check in together. They may not arrive separately.
- Prom is a formal event. Formal attire of dresses and suits is *strongly encouraged*.
- Ball caps are **not allowed**.
- In the event that formal attire, ticket money, or transportation cannot be acquired, please let any high school administrator or counselor know so that the student can be helped. We want to ensure all students have the opportunity to attend prom if they desire to do so.
- Guidelines for prom, such as location and time, are subject to change at the discretion of the school administration. Changes will be made based upon the previous year's prom.

Other School Dances

All schools occasionally have school dances. The school dances are for students who attend Beebe Schools. Students must purchase a ticket to attend. During the dance students must stay in the designated area for the school dance. Students are expected to follow all rules and dress code requirements listed in the 7-12 student handbook. Students must meet the following criteria:

Behavior

- Students must maintain good academic standing and behavior to be eligible to attend dances.
- Respectful and appropriate behavior is expected at all times.

Dress Code

- Formal attire is encouraged but not mandatory. However, all attire must be school appropriate.
- No revealing clothing, excessively short skirts or shorts, or clothing promoting drugs, alcohol, or violence is permitted.

Assembly Programs and Class Meetings

Assembly programs and class meetings will be held throughout the school year. Any class meeting must first be approved by the class sponsor and the principal before being scheduled.

Student Organizations / Equal Access

Non-curriculum-related secondary school student organizations wishing to conduct meetings on school premises during non-instructional time shall not be denied equal access on the basis of the religious, political, philosophical, or other content of the speech at such meetings. Such meetings must meet the following criteria.

- 1. The meeting is to be voluntary and student-initiated;
- 2. There is no sponsorship of the meeting by the school, the government, or its agents or employees;
- 3. The meeting must occur during non-instructional time;
- 4. Employees or agents of the school are present at religious meetings only in a non-participatory capacity;
- 5. The meeting does not materially and substantially interfere with the orderly conduct of educational activities within the school; and
- 6. Non-school persons may not direct, conduct, control, or regularly attend activities of student groups.

All meetings held on school premises must be scheduled and approved by the principal. The school, its agents, and its employees retain the authority to maintain order and discipline, protect the well-being of students and faculty, and ensure that student's attendance at meetings is voluntary.

Fraternities, sororities, and secret societies are forbidden in the District's schools. Membership to student organizations shall not be by a vote of the organization's members nor be restricted by the student's race, religion, sex, national origin, or other arbitrary criteria. Hazing, as defined by law, is forbidden in connection with initiation into, or affiliation with, any student organization, extracurricular activity, or sports program. Participation in hazing or the failure to report hazing shall be expelled.

Students who are convicted of participation in hazing or the failure to report hazing shall be expelled.

EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

Extra Curricular Activities

Beebe School recognizes that extracurricular activities are an important part of the educational experience. Although we encourage all students to participate in extracurricular activities, we strive to keep classroom interruptions to a minimum.

Definitions:

"Academic Courses" are those courses for which class time is scheduled, which can be credited to meet the minimum requirements for graduation, which are taught by a teacher required to have State licensure in the course or is otherwise qualified under Arkansas statute, and has a course content guide which has been approved by the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE). Any of the courses for which concurrent high school credit is earned may be from an institution of higher education recognized by DESE. If a student passes an academic course offered on a block schedule, the course can be counted twice toward meeting the requirement for students to pass four (4) academic courses per semester as required by this policy.

"Extracurricular activities" are defined as any school-sponsored program where students from one or more schools meet, work, perform, or practice under supervision outside of regular class time or are competing for the purpose of receiving an award, rating, recognition, or criticism, or qualification for additional competition. Examples include, but are not limited to, inter/interscholastic athletics, cheerleading, band, choral, math, or science competitions, field trips, and club activities.

"Field Trips" are when individual students or groups of students are invited to programs or events when there is no competition, and the students are not interacting with each other for the purpose of planning, qualifying, or arranging for future programs or for the purpose of receiving recognition.

"Interscholastic Activities" means athletic or non-athletic/academic activities where students compete on a school vs. school basis.

"Interscholastic Activities" means athletic or non-athletic/academic activities where students compete with students from within the same school.

"Supplemental Improvement Program (SIP)" is an additional instructional opportunity for identified students outside of their regular classroom and meets the criteria outlined in the current Arkansas Activities Association (AAA) Handbook.

Extra-Curricular Eligibility

The Board believes in providing opportunities for students to participate in extracurricular activities that can help enrich the student's educational experience. At the same time, the Board

believes that a student's participation in extracurricular activities cannot come at the expense of his/her classroom academic achievement. Interruptions of instructional time in the classroom are to be minimal, and absences from class to participate in extracurricular activities shall not exceed one per week per extracurricular activity (tournaments accepted). Additionally, a student's participation in, and the District's operation of, extracurricular activities shall be subject to the following policy. All students are eligible for extracurricular activities unless specifically denied eligibility on the basis of criteria outlined in this policy.

Any student who refuses to sit for a State assessment or attempts to boycott a State assessment by failing to put forth a good faith effort on the assessment as determined by the assessment administrator/proctor, or whose parents do not send their student to school on the dates the assessments are administered or scheduled as make-up days shall not be permitted to participate in any non-curriculum related extracurricular activity. The student shall remain ineligible to participate until the student takes the same or a following state-mandated assessment, as applicable, or completes the required remediation for the assessment the student failed to put forth a good faith effort on. The superintendent or designee may waive this paragraph's provisions when the student's failure was due to exceptional or extraordinary circumstances.3 Students falling under the provisions of this paragraph shall be permitted to attend curriculum-related field trips occurring during the school day.

A student who enrolls in the district and meets the definition of "eligible child" in Policy 4.2—ENTRANCE REQUIREMENTS shall be eligible to try out for an extracurricular activity regardless of the date the student enrolls in the District so long as the student meets all other eligibility requirements and the extracurricular activity is still ongoing.

A student and the parent or legal guardian of the student shall sign and return an acknowledgment of receipt and review of an information sheet regarding signs and symptoms of sudden cardiac arrest before the student may participate in an athletic activity and before each school year, the student participates in an athletic activity.

No student shall be required to pay for individual or group instruction in order to participate in an extracurricular activity.

Interscholastic Activities

Each school in the District shall post on its website its schedule of interscholastic activities, including sign-up, tryout, and participation deadlines, at least one semester in advance of those activities. A hard copy of the schedule shall be available upon request.

Academic Requirements: Junior High

A student promoted from the sixth to the seventh grade automatically meets scholarship requirements. A student promoted from the seventh to the eighth grade automatically meets scholarship requirements for the first semester. The second-semester eighth-grade student meets

the scholarship requirements for junior high if he/she has successfully passed four (4) academic courses the previous semester.

The first-semester ninth-grade student meets the scholarship requirements for junior high if he/she has successfully passed four (4) academic courses the previous semester.

The second-semester ninth-grade student meets the scholarship requirements for junior high if he/she has successfully passed (4) academic courses the previous semester, which count toward his/her high school graduation requirements.

Ninth-grade students must meet the requirements of the senior high scholarship rule by the end of the second semester in the ninth grade in order to be eligible to participate in the fall semester of their tenth-grade year.

Academic Requirements: Senior High

In order to remain eligible for competitive interscholastic activity, a student must have passed (4) academic courses the previous semester and either:

- 1. Have earned a minimum Grade Point Average (GPA) of 2.0 from all academic courses the previous semester; or
- 2. If the student has passed four (4) academic courses the previous semester but does not have a 2.0 GPA, the student must be enrolled and successfully participate in an SIP to maintain their competitive interscholastic extracurricular eligibility.

Students with an Individual Education Program:

In order to be considered eligible to participate in competitive interscholastic activities, students with disabilities must pass at least four (4) courses per semester as required by their individual education program (IEP).

Homeless Students

Students who are determined to be experiencing homelessness by the school's homeless LEA shall be eligible for participation in interscholastic activities.

Arkansas Activities Association

In addition to the foregoing rules, the district shall abide by the rules and regulations of AAA governing interscholastic activities. AAA provides catastrophic insurance coverage for students participating in AAA-governed extracurricular activities who are enrolled in school. As a matter of District policy, no student may participate in a AAA-governed extracurricular activity unless he or she is enrolled in a district school to ensure all students are eligible for AAA catastrophic insurance.

Interscholastic Activities

AAA Governed Activities

Students participating in interscholastic extracurricular activities that would be governed by AAA if they were to occur between students of different schools shall meet all interscholastic activity eligibility requirements to be eligible to participate in the comparable interscholastic activity. The District will abide by the AAA Handbook for such activities to ensure District students are not disqualified from participating in interscholastic activities.7

Non-AAA Governed Activities

Unless made ineligible by District policies, all students shall be eligible to participate in non-AAA governed interscholastic extracurricular activities. Interscholastic activities designed for a particular grade(s) or course(s) shall require the student to be enrolled in the grade(s) or course(s).

School Choice Transfers

A student who transfers under a legal school choice option shall not be denied participation in an extracurricular activity where the student transfers based exclusively on the student's decision to transfer. A student who transfers after June 1 of the year the student enters grades seven through ten (7-10) shall complete a Changing Schools/Athletic Participation form as defined by AAA, which must be signed by the:

- Superintendent of the student's resident school district;
- Superintendent of the nonresident school district to which the student transfers; and
- Parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student.

The completed Changing Schools/Athletic Participation form shall be filed with the non-resident school district where the student transfers and the AAA. The Changing Schools/Athletic Participation form shall be signed by the superintendent of a student's resident school district and the superintendent of the nonresident school district to which a student transfers unless there is demonstrable evidence of recruiting by the receiving school district personnel or that the student is transferring to the nonresident school district solely for athletic purposes.

Extracurricular Activity Eligibility for Home-Schooled Students

A Home-schooled student means a student legally enrolled in an Arkansas home school and who meets or has met the criteria for being a home-schooled student, as established by A.C.A. § 6-15-503.

Interscholastic activity means an activity between schools subject to rules of the Arkansas Activities Association that is outside the regular curriculum of the school district, such as an athletic activity, fine arts program, or a special interest group or club.

Each school in the District shall post on its website its schedule of interscholastic activities, including sign-up, tryout, and participation deadlines, at least one semester in advance of those activities. A hard copy of the schedule shall be available upon request.

Home-schooled students whose parents or guardians are legal residents of the school district will be permitted to pursue participation in an interscholastic activity in the student's resident school zone2 as permitted by this policy.

Home-schooled students whose parent or legal guardian are not residents of the school district will be permitted to pursue participation in an interscholastic activity in the District if:

- The superintendent of the student's resident district and the superintendent of the District both agree in writing to allow the student to participate in interscholastic activities at the District; or
- The student's resident school does not offer the interscholastic activity and the superintendent of the non-resident district agrees to allow the student to enroll in the interscholastic activity.

Although not guaranteed participation in an interscholastic activity, home-school students who meet the provisions of this policy, AAA Rules, and applicable Arkansas statutes shall have an equal opportunity to try out and participate in interscholastic activities without discrimination. The District shall provide a reasonable alternative to any prerequisite for eligibility to participate in an interscholastic activity that the home-schooled student is unable to meet because of his or her enrollment in a home school.

No student shall be required to pay for individual or group instruction in order to participate in an interscholastic activity.

To be eligible to try out and participate in interscholastic activities, the student or the parent of a student shall mail or hand deliver the student's request to participate to the student's school's principal before the signup, tryout, or participation deadline established for traditional students. Additionally, the student shall demonstrate academic eligibility by obtaining a minimum test score of the 30th percentile or better in the previous 12 months on the Stanford Achievement Test Series, Tenth Edition; another nationally recognized norm-referenced test; or a minimum score on a test approved by the State Board of Education.

A student who meets the requirements for eligibility to participate in an interscholastic activity is required to register for no more than one non-academic course in the District's school where the student intends to participate in an interscholastic activity that coincides with the interscholastic activity in which the homeschooled student participates and shall be required to be at school only when participation in the interscholastic activity requires other students who participate in the interscholastic activity to be at school.

The student shall regularly attend the class in which the student is registered beginning no later than the eleventh (11th) day of the semester in which the student's interscholastic activity participation is desired. The student must attend the practices for the interscholastic activity to the same extent as is required of traditional students.

A student and the parent or legal guardian of the student shall sign and return an acknowledgment of receipt and review of an information sheet regarding signs and symptoms of sudden cardiac arrest before the student may participate in an athletic activity and before each school year, the student participates in an athletic activity.

A home-schooled student who has met the tryout criteria and who has been selected to participate in the interscholastic activity shall meet the following criteria that also apply to traditional students enrolled in the school:

- Standards of behavior and codes of conduct:
- Attend the practices for the interscholastic activity to the same extent as is required of traditional students;
- Required drug testing;
- Permission slips, waivers, physical exams; and
- Participation or activity fees.

A home-schooled student who is not a resident of the District may begin participating in interscholastic activities:

- Immediately upon being approved for participation in all interscholastic activities other than athletic activities; and
- One (1) calendar year after being approved to participate in interscholastic activities that are athletic activities unless the approval is before July 1 of the school year the student would have been enrolled in seventh (7th) grade if the student were enrolled in public school.

A home-schooled student who is not a resident of the District and is prohibited under this policy from participating in an interscholastic activity that is an athletic activity for one (1) calendar year may immediately participate in rehearsals, tryouts, practices, auditions, classes, or other endeavors associated with the interscholastic activity.

Students who participate in extracurricular or athletic activities under this policy will be transported to and from the interscholastic activities on the same basis as other students are transported.

A home-schooled student may begin participating in an interscholastic activity immediately upon being approved to participate by the District if:

 The home-schooled student has not withdrawn from an Arkansas Activities Association member school; or

- The student has withdrawn from an AAA member school and enrolled in a home school but did not participate in an interscholastic activity that is a varsity sport at the student's resident district prior to the student's withdrawal from the AAA member school.
- 1. The District is the homeschooled student's resident district and the home schooled student is not approved to participate in an interscholastic activity at the District by June 1 of the school year the student will be enrolled in grade seven (7), eight (8), nine (9), or ten (10);
- 2. The District is not the homeschooled student's resident district and the home schooled student is not approved to participate in an interscholastic activity that is a varsity athletic activity at the District by June 1 of the school year the student will be enrolled in grade seven (7), eight (8), nine (9), or ten (10); or
- 3. The home schooled student withdrew from an AAA member school and participated in an interscholastic activity that is a varsity athletic activity at the student's resident district during the previous three hundred sixty-five (365) days and is seeking to participate in an interscholastic activity that is a varsity athletic activity in the District.

A student who is prohibited from participation in an interscholastic activity due to number 1 shall not become eligible to participate in any interscholastic activity until the completion of the three hundred sixty-five (365) day period. A student who is prohibited from participation in an interscholastic activity that is a varsity athletic activity due to numbers 2 or 3 shall not be eligible for full participation in an interscholastic activity that is a varsity athletic activity until the completion of the three hundred sixty-five (365) day period. A student who is not eligible for full participation may participate in tryouts, practices, classes, or other endeavors associated with the interscholastic activity until the completion of the three hundred sixty-five (365) day period.

EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITY ELIGIBILITY FOR PRIVATE SCHOOL STUDENTS

Interscholastic activity means an activity between schools subject to rules of the Arkansas Activities Association that is outside the regular curriculum of the school district, such as an athletic activity, fine arts program, or a special interest group or club.

"Private school" means a nonpublic elementary or secondary school that is a registered nonprofit and accredited or licensed by an accrediting association recognized by the State Board of Education.

"Private school student" means a student attending a private school.

Each school in the District shall post on its website its schedule of interscholastic activities, including signup, tryout, and participation deadlines, at least one semester in advance of those activities. A hard copy of the schedule shall be available upon request.¹

Private school students whose parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis are legal residents of the school district will be permitted to pursue participation in an interscholastic activity in the student's resident school zone² if the private school the student attends does not offer the interscholastic activity.

Although not guaranteed participation in an interscholastic activity, private students who meet the provisions of this policy, AAA Rules, and applicable Arkansas statutes shall have an equal opportunity to try out and participate in interscholastic activities without discrimination. The District shall provide a reasonable alternative to any prerequisite for eligibility to participate in an interscholastic activity that the private school student is unable to meet because of his or her enrollment in a private school.

No student shall be required to pay for individual or group instruction in order to participate in an interscholastic activity.

To be eligible to try out and participate in interscholastic activities, the student or the parent of a student shall mail or hand deliver the student's request to participate to the student's school's principal before the signup, tryout or participation deadline established for traditional students.

A student who meets the requirements for eligibility to participate in an interscholastic activity is required to register for no more than one non-academic course³ in the District's school where the student is intending to participate in an interscholastic activity that coincides with the interscholastic activity in which the private school student participates and shall be required to be at school only when participation in the interscholastic activity requires other students who participate in the interscholastic activity to be at school.

The student shall regularly attend the class in which the student is registered beginning no later than the eleventh (11th) day of the semester in which the student's interscholastic activity participation is desired. The student must attend the practices for the interscholastic activity to the same extent as is required of traditional students.

A student and the parent or legal guardian of the student shall sign and return an acknowledgement of receipt and review of an information sheet regarding signs and symptoms of sudden cardiac arrest before the student may participate in an athletic activity and before each school year the student participates in an athletic activity.

A private school student who has met the tryout criteria and who has been selected to participate in the interscholastic activity shall meet the following criteria that also apply to traditional students enrolled in the school:

- Standards of behavior and codes of conduct;
- Attend the practices for the interscholastic activity to the same extent as is required of traditional students;
- Required drug testing;⁴
- Permission slips, waivers, physical exams; and
- Participation or activity fees.

Students who participate in extracurricular or athletic activities under this policy will be transported to and from the interscholastic activities on the same basis as other students are transported.

Random Drug Testing

Philosophy

It is the philosophy of the Beebe School District that students should be encouraged and supported to be drug and alcohol-free in order to promote good health and well-being. The District recognizes that drug and/or alcohol abuse or misuse is a significant health problem for students, detrimentally affecting overall health, behavior, learning ability, reflexes, and the total development of each individual.

Scope

The entire Random Drug Testing Policy can be found on the BPS District Webpage. The provisions of this policy apply to Beebe students in grades 7-12. By signing the student handbook, grades 7-12, you are agreeing to the Drug Testing Policy. If a parent or guardian wishes for their student **NOT** to participate in the random drug testing, An "**Opt Out**" form is available and must be filled out prior to a student being pulled for testing. This form is available in the student handbook for grades 7-12, on the Beebe website, and in the offices of grades 7-12.

Selection Process

Random drug testing will be conducted throughout the school year as determined by the superintendent. The testing agency will provide a random list of students to be tested. Selection will be by lottery drawing from a "pool" of all students with the expectation of those who have completed the "Opt Out" Form.

Mandatory Drug Testing Student Drug Testing Policy Beebe Public Schools

Mission Statement:

The Beebe School District recognizes that drug abuse is a significant health problem for students, detrimentally affecting the overall health, behavior, learning ability, reflexes, and the total development of each individual. The Beebe Board of Education is determined to help students by providing another option for them to say "No." Drug abuse includes, but is not limited to, the use of illegal drugs, alcohol and the misuse of legal drugs and medications.

Definitions:

Drugs: Any substance considered illegal by Arkansas Statutes or which is controlled by the Food & Drug Administration unless prescribed by a licensed physician.

Activity Programs: Any Activity that meets the guidelines of the Arkansas Activities Association and /or is sponsored by the Beebe School District. These activities are listed below, but are not limited to:

Football	Trap Shooting	Mathletes	
Basketball	Band	Volleyball	
Track	Beta Club	Drivers Education	
Golf	Choir	Foreign Language	
Cheerleading	FBLA	Student Council	
Cross Country	FCCLA	Newspaper	
Softball	FFA	Yearbook	
Baseball	FCA	Quiz Bowl	
Rodeo Club	Skills USA	Drama Club	
Amime	Chess Club	Bowling	
Tennis	Library Club	Key Club	
ROTC	Special Olympics	Student Driver	
Youth Alive	Wrestling	HOSA	
Science Club	FTA	Dances/Prom	

Any others that may be formed

School Year: From the first day of classes in the fall, unless the activity begins prior to the first day of classes, in which event, from the first day of practice through the last day of classes in the spring.

Testing Agency:

The district will choose a certified agency for the purpose of processing sample results and maintaining privacy with respect to test results and related matters.

Prescription Medication:

Students who are taking prescription medication may provide a copy of the prescription or doctor's verification, which will be considered in determining whether a "positive" test has been satisfactorily explained. That documentation will be forwarded to the testing lab with instructions for the lab to consider the student's use of such medication to assure the accuracy of the result. Students who refuse to provide verification and test positive will be subject to the actions specified below for "positive tests."

Scope of Tests:

The drug screen tests for one or more illegal drugs, including synthetic marijuana. The superintendent or his designee shall decide from week to week which illegal drugs shall be screened, but in no event shall that determination be made after the selection of students for testing. Student samples will not be screened for the presence of any substances other than an illegal drug or for the existence of any physical condition other than drug intoxication. As a quality control measure, the school reserves the right to send any urine sample that appears unusual in color and /or consistency to a laboratory for testing and confirmation or non-confirmation.

Limited Access Results:

The results will be reported only to the superintendent or to such a person as the superintendent may designate.

Procedures in the Event of a Positive Result:

Whenever a student's test result indicates the presence of illegal drugs ("positive test"), the following will occur:

If a sample tests **positive**, a custodial parent or legal guardian will be notified, and a meeting will be scheduled with the Superintendent or his designee. The student, the custodial parent or legal guardian, and the student's principal, school counselor, and head coach or sponsor may all be included in the scheduled meeting.

Policy Statement:

Beebe School District is conducting a <u>mandatory drug-testing program for students</u>. Its purpose is threefold: (1) to provide for the health and safety of students in all Activity Programs grades **7-12**; (2) to undermine the effects of peer pressure by providing a legitimate reason for students to refuse to use illegal drugs; and (3) to encourage students who use drugs to participate in drug treatment programs.

Procedures for Students:

Consent: Each student wishing to participate in any activity program and the student's custodial parent or guardian shall consent to drug testing pursuant to the District's drug testing program.

Students <u>not</u> involved in activities may be allowed to "opt out" of the testing pool with a consent form signed by the parent.

Student Selection: At the option of the district, all students in activity programs may be drug tested at the beginning of the school year. In addition, random testing will be conducted bi-weekly during the school year. Selection for random testing will be by lottery drawing from a "pool" of all students who have not opted out of testing.

A single test can be required by a principal from a student for reasonable suspicion. The superintendent shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the integrity, confidentiality, and random nature of the selection process, including, but not ensuring, that the person drawing names has no way of knowingly choosing or failing to choose particular students for the testing, assuring that the identity of students drawn for testing is not known to those involved in the selection process and assuring direct observation of the process by the least intrusive means while assuring brevity and privacy.

Sample Collection: Samples will be collected at a **mutually** convenient time on the designated testing day. The student will be dismissed from class when the testing has been completed. All students providing samples will be given the option of doing so alone in an individual stall with the door closed.

First Positive Result

For a **positive** result, the student <u>will be placed on probation and will not be allowed to participate in competitions, presentations, and activities of Beebe Schools for a period of **thirty** (30) days from the time of the positive result notification to the school. The student will be recommended for school counseling. If outside counseling is needed, any charges incurred will be the responsibility of the parent/guardian.</u>

A student may be required to practice or participate in off-season activities at the head coach's or sponsor's discretion. He/she cannot compete or dress out for any competition.

After day thirty, the student will be able to be retested (at the expense of the parent-guardian). If the test results are found to be negative, the student will again become eligible for competitions, presentations, and activities relating to Beebe Schools. However, the student must submit to a mandatory drug screen or lab test 4 additional times or until the end of the school year, at the expense of the parent/guardian.

Second Positive Result

For the **second positive** result in the **same year** or **any two consecutive calendar years**, the student will be **suspended from participating in activities for the remainder of the school year.** If this positive test is in the spring semester, the student will not be able to participate during the following fall semester.

Third Positive Result

For the **third positive result**, the student will be <u>suspended from participating in</u> <u>activities for the remainder of his enrollment with the school</u> (may be appealed to the board).

Any refusal to participate in the random drug test will be treated as a positive unless an "opt-out" form has been completed.

Non-Punitive Nature of Policy:

No student shall be penalized academically for testing positive for illegal drugs. The results of drug tests pursuant to this policy will not be documented in any student's academic records. Information regarding the results of drug tests will not be disclosed to criminal or juvenile authorities absent legal compulsion by valid and binding subpoena or other legal process; the student and the student's custodial parent or legal guardian will be notified as soon as possible by the district.

Other Disciplinary Measures:

The District, by accepting this policy, is not precluded from utilizing other disciplinary measures set forth in the Student Discipline Policy, and this policy does not preclude the District from taking disciplinary procedure and resulting action when founded upon reasonable belief and suspicion that a student has participated in drug-related activities.

Notification of Initial Violation of Drug Testing Policy

I,	the custodial parent/guardian of		
, a stu	udent in the Beebe School District, has been		
notified by officials of Beebe School that			
has tested positive during the drug test admini	(student name) istered under the provisions set by the Beebe		
School District.			
needed, any charges incurred will be the restudent will also be placed on probation an presentations, and activities of Beebe School After thirty days, the student will be able /guardian) under the guidelines set in the parent/legal guardian, understand that if the so-named student will again become eliginated as the screen or lab test 4 additional times at the If the test results are positive, the so-not competition, presentations, and activities related school year. If the positive test is in the spring	d not be allowed to participate in competitions, ols for a period of thirty days. to be retested (at the expense of the parent Drug Screen Test Policy. I, the custodial the test results are found to be negative, the lible for competitions, presentations, and activities and that there will be a minimum mandatory drug expense of the parent/guardian. amed student will be suspended from ting to Beebe Schools for the remainder of the greenester, the student will not be able to In addition to the suspension, the student will		
Custodial parent/legal guardian	School Official		
Custodial parent/legal guardian	Date		

Notification of Second Positive Results of Drug Screen Test

I,	custodial
parent/legal guardian of	a student in the
Beebe School System, was notified on	_(Date) of the first positive drug
screen test results of the so-named student b	y(School
Official).	
to participate in Beebe Schools competitions	dent would be on probation and not be allowed s, presentations, and activities for a period of t, at my own expense, additional tests would be the Beebe School District's Drug Screen
I, custodial parent/legal guardian of	the so-named student, was notified of
the second positive test results on the date of	fby
(School Official).	
custodial parent/guardian, consented to whe student will be suspended from competitions	s, presentations, and activities for the remainder he spring semester, the student will not be able understand that I should seek professional
Custodial parent/legal guardian	School Official
Custodial parent/legal guardian	Date

Parental Request for Drug Testing

I am requesting that my child be drug tested at the next earliest testing date.

I understand that this will not be a random drawing (the student will be added to the random list) and that if my child tests positive, they will fall under the rules of the random drug testing program (if involved in any activities) and that I am responsible for any extra expense incurred.

Student Name	Grade
Parental Signature	Date

Beebe School District Opt Out Form Student Random Drug Testing Grades 7-12

The Beebe School District recognizes that drug abuse is a significant health problem for students, detrimentally affecting overall health, behavior, learning ability, reflexes, and the total development of each individual. The Beebe Board of Education is determined to help students by providing another option for them to say "NO." Drug abuse includes, but is not limited to, the use of illegal drugs, alcohol and the misuse of legal drugs and medication.

The Beebe School District has implemented a random drug testing policy. This policy is in place for any students in grades 7-12 enrolled in Beebe School District. By signing the student handbook, grades 7-12, you are agreeing to the Drug Testing Policy. If a parent or guardian wishes for their student **NOT** to participate in the random drug testing, this "Opt Out" form is available and must be filled out prior to a student being pulled for testing. This form is available in the student handbook for grades 7-12, on the Beebe website, and in the offices of grades 7-12.

By completing this form, you are agreeing that your student **will not** participate in any activity that meets the guidelines of the Arkansas Activities Association and/or is sponsored by the Beebe School District. Such activities may include but are **not limited to**

Mathletes

Baskethall

Rand

Tran Shooting

Football

FUULDAII	Trap Shooting	Mannetes	Daskethall	Dallu	
Golf	Track	Beta Club	Drivers Ed.	Choir	
Cheerleading	FBLA	Student Council	FCCLA	FFA	
Volleyball	Foreign Lang.	Cross Country	Skills USA	FCA	
Newspaper	Yearbook	Softball	Soccer	FTA	
Science Club	Wrestling	Youth Alive	ROTC	Key Club	
Special Olympics	Tennis	Library Club	Dance	Anime	
Rodeo Club	Drama Club	Student Driver	Quiz Bowl	Chess Club	
Bowling	DND	Baseball	HOSA		
Dances/Prom					
I (please print your na	me)	wish fo	r my student (print		
student's name) to NOT participate in the random drug testing. By					
signing this form, I realize that my student will not be eligible for any activities that meet the guidelines					
of the Arkansas Activities Association and/or are sponsored by the Beebe School District.					
Parent Signature:		Date:			
Student Signature:					

Activities Conduct

- 1. Rules regarding functions and entertainment will be discussed by the sponsors, principal, and superintendent. Those activities not first considered by the above authorities cannot be carried out.
- 2. All student handbook policies are in effect for at-home and away activities. Students not complying with these policies may, at the discretion of the administration, be asked to leave the activity. Further, students violating handbook policies may be subject to discipline in addition to being asked to leave the event.
- 3. Students leaving a student activity will not be readmitted.
- 4. Before a student may participate in any extracurricular activity, he/she must be in attendance at school for at least four periods on the day of the activity unless special permission has been granted by the principal.
- 5. Students who have received an out-of-school suspension will not be allowed to attend on or off-campus activities.
- 6. Students who have demonstrated a lack of self-control by excessive misbehavior at school will not be allowed to attend on or off- campus activities.

STUDENT CONDUCT & DISCIPLINE:

Who is Responsible for Student Conduct?

Freedom is a constitutional right, but it does not mean the absence of reasonable rules and regulations which serve to guide the actions of individuals. Along with freedom comes the responsibility to act in such a manner as to ensure that all participants may enjoy the same freedom. To obtain the greatest possible benefit to the students, teachers, administrators, parents, Board of Education, and the entire community, it is essential that all work together to ensure that all persons are treated equally and with dignity in respect to their rights and responsibilities.

Students

Students have the responsibility to pursue their education in the Beebe Special School District in a manner that shows respect for other students, faculty members, parents, and other citizens. Students should be aware that they have a responsibility to cooperate with the assistance of the school staff in the orderly and efficient conduct of the schools by abiding by rules and regulations established by the Board of Education and the school of attendance and implemented by teachers and school administrators. Each student is responsible for his/her own conduct at all times. Anytime students are on campus or attending a school-sponsored event, they must abide by all school rules and regulations. Students are responsible for their conduct that occurs:

- At any time on the school grounds;
- Off school grounds at a school-sponsored function, activity, or event; and
- Going to and from school or a school activity.

Parents or Guardians

Parents or guardians are responsible for exercising the required controls so that their children's behavior at school will be conducive to their own progress and not disruptive to the school's educational program. They are responsible for alerting school personnel when they have reason to believe that their children are experiencing difficulties at school or at home and that by actively soliciting the help of the school, behavior standards may be maintained.

Teachers

All teachers are responsible for the supervision of the behavior of all the students in the school. This includes not only the students who are regularly assigned to the teacher but all other students with whom the teacher comes in contact. Each teacher is expected to maintain the kind of atmosphere and decorum that will promote the learning process and to utilize sound techniques which seem appropriate. These techniques include conferences with students and parents, referrals to counselors at the school, or referrals to other supportive service personnel of the district (nurse, attendance caseworker, educational examiner, and psychologist). The teacher is authorized to administer corporal punishment according to the guidelines established by District policy. When the teacher is unable to assist the student in maintaining proper control of his/her behavior, the student is to be referred to the appropriate administrator in the school.

Bullying

Respect for the dignity of others is a cornerstone of civil society. Bullying creates an atmosphere of fear and intimidation, robs a person of his/her dignity, detracts from the safe environment necessary to promote student learning, and will not be tolerated by the Board of Directors. Students who bully another person shall be held accountable for their actions whether they occur on school equipment or property; off school property at a school-sponsored or approved function, activity, or event; going to or from school or a school activity in a school vehicle or school bus; or at designated school bus stops.

Definitions:

"Attribute" means an actual or perceived personal characteristic including without limitation race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, socioeconomic status, academic status, disability, gender, gender identity, physical appearance, health condition, or sexual orientation;

"Bullying" means the intentional harassment, intimidation, humiliation, ridicule, defamation, or threat or incitement of violence by a student against another student or public school employee by a written, verbal, electronic, or physical act that:

- May address an attribute of the other student, public school employee, or person with whom the other student or public school employee is associated;
- Involves an actual or reasonably perceived power imbalance;
- Is repeated or has a high likelihood of repetition; and
- Causes or creates actual or reasonably foreseeable:
- Physical harm to a public school employee or student or damage to the public school employee's or student's property;
- Substantial interference with a student's education or with a public school employee's role in education;
- A hostile educational environment for one (1) or more students or public school employees due to the severity, persistence, or pervasiveness of the act; or
- Substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school or educational environment;

Examples of "Bullying" include, but are not limited to, a pattern of behavior involving one or more of the following:

- 1. Cyberbullying;
- 2. Sarcastic comments "compliments" about another student's personal appearance or actual or perceived attributes,
- 3. Pointed questions intended to embarrass or humiliate,
- 4. Mocking, taunting or belittling,
- 5. Non-verbal threats and/or intimidation such as "fronting" or "chesting" a person,
- 6. Demeaning humor relating to a student's actual or perceived attributes,
- 7. Blackmail, extortion, demands for protection money or other involuntary donations or loans.
- 8. Blocking access to school property or facilities,
- 9. Deliberate physical contact or injury to person or property,
- 10. Stealing or hiding books or belongings,
- 11. Threats of harm to student(s), possessions, or others,
- 12. Sexual harassment, as governed by policy 4.27, is also a form of bullying, and/or
- 13. Teasing or name-calling related to sexual characteristics or the belief or perception that an individual is not conforming to expected gender roles or conduct or is homosexual, regardless of whether the student self-identifies as homosexual or transgender (Examples: "Slut", "You are so gay.", "Fag", "Queer").

"Cyberbullying" means any form of communication by electronic act that is sent with the purpose to:

- Harass, intimidate, humiliate, ridicule, defame, or threaten a student, school employee, or person with whom the other student or school employee is associated; or
- o Incite violence towards a student, school employee, or person with whom the other student or school employee is associated.

Cyberbullying of School Employees includes but is not limited to:

- A. Building a fake profile or website of the employee;
- B. Posting or encouraging others to post on the Internet private, personal, or sexual information pertaining to a school employee;
- C. Posting an original or edited image of the school employee on the Internet;

- Accessing, altering, or erasing any computer network, computer data program, or computer software, including breaking into a password-protected account or stealing or otherwise accessing a school employee's passwords;
- E. Making repeated, continuing, or sustained electronic communications, including electronic mail or transmission, to a school employee;
- F. Making, or causing to be made, and disseminating an unauthorized copy of data pertaining to a school employee in any form, including without limitation the printed or electronic form of computer data, computer programs, or computer software residing in, communicated by, or produced by a computer or computer network;
- G. Signing up a school employee for a pornographic Internet site; or
- H. Without the authorization of the school employee, signing up a school employee for electronic mailing lists or to receive junk electronic messages and instant messages.

Cyberbullying is prohibited whether or not the cyberbullying originated on school property or with school equipment, if the cyberbullying results in the substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school or educational environment, or is directed specifically at students or school personnel and is maliciously intended for the purpose of disrupting school and has a high likelihood of succeeding in that purpose.

"Harassment" means a pattern of unwelcome verbal or physical conduct relating to another person's constitutionally or statutorily protected status that causes, or reasonably should be expected to cause, substantial interference with the other's performance in the school environment; and

"Substantial disruption" means without limitation that any one or more of the following occurs as a result of the bullying:

- Necessary cessation of instruction or educational activities;
- Inability of students or educational staff to focus on learning or function as an educational unit because of a hostile environment;
- Severe or repetitive disciplinary measures are needed in the classroom or during educational activities; or
- Exhibition of other behaviors by students or educational staff that substantially interfere
 with the learning environment.

Respect for the dignity of others is a cornerstone of civil society. Bullying creates an atmosphere of fear and intimidation, robs a person of his/her dignity, detracts from the safe environment necessary to promote student learning, and will not be tolerated by the Board of Directors. Students who bully another person shall be held accountable for their actions whether they occur on school equipment or property; off school property at a school-sponsored or approved function, activity, or event; going to or from school or a school activity in a school vehicle or school bus; or at designated school bus stops.

Students are encouraged to report behavior they consider to be bullying, including a single action which if allowed to continue, would constitute bullying, to their teacher or the building principal. The report may be made anonymously. Teachers and other school employees who have

witnessed or are reliably informed that a student has been a victim of behavior they consider to be bullying, including a single action that, if allowed to continue, would constitute bullying, shall report the incident(s) to the building principal, or designee, as soon as possible. Parents or legal guardians may submit written reports of incidents they feel constitute bullying, or if allowed to continue would constitute bullying, to the building principal or designee.

The person or persons reporting behavior they consider to be bullying shall not be subject to retaliation or reprisal in any form.

A building principal or designee who receives a credible report or complaint of bullying shall:

- 1. As soon as reasonably practicable, but by no later than the end of the school day following the receipt of the credible report of bullying:
 - a. Report to a parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis of a student that their student is the victim in a credible report of bullying; and
 - b. Prepare a written report of the alleged incident of bullying;
- 2. Promptly investigate the credible report or complaint of bullying, which shall be completed by no later than the fifth (5th) school day following the completion of the written report.
- 3. Notify within five (5) days following the completion of the investigation the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis of a student who was the alleged victim in a credible report of bullying whether the investigation found the credible report or complaint of bullying to be true and the availability of counseling and other intervention services.
- 4. Notify within five (5) days following the completion of the investigation the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person acting in loco parentis of the student who is alleged to have been the perpetrator of the incident of bullying:
 - a. That a credible report or complaint of bullying against their student exists;
 - b. Whether the investigation found the credible report or complaint of bullying to be true:
 - c. Whether an action was taken against their student upon the conclusion of the investigation of the alleged incident of bullying; and
 - d. Information regarding the reporting of another alleged incident of bullying, including potential consequences of continued incidents of bullying;
- 5. Make a written record of the investigation, which shall include:
 - a. A detailed description of the alleged incident of bullying, including without limitation a detailed summary of that, statements from all material witnesses to the alleged incident of bullying;
 - b. Any action taken as a result of the investigation; and
- 6. Discuss, as appropriate, the availability of counseling and other intervention services with students involved in the incident of bullying.

Students found to be in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. In determining the appropriate disciplinary action, consideration may be

given to other violations of the student handbook that may have simultaneously occurred.¹ In addition to any disciplinary actions, the District shall take appropriate steps to remedy the effects resulting from bullying.

Notice of what constitutes bullying, the District's prohibition against bullying, and the consequences for students who bully shall be conspicuously posted in every classroom, cafeteria, restroom, gymnasium, auditorium, and school bus. Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of a student, persons standing in loco parentis, students, school volunteers, and employees shall be given copies of the notice annually.

The superintendent shall make a report annually to the Board of Directors on student discipline data, which shall include, without limitation, the number of incidents of bullying reported and the actions taken regarding the reported incidents of bullying. (A.C.A. § 5-71-217 A.C.A. § 6-18-514)

Copies of this policy shall be available upon request.

Note: Different consequences are permitted depending on the age or grade of the bullying student.

Demonstrations and Strikes

The Board of Education directs, in order to ensure the orderly process of education and business affairs of the School District and the safety of persons and property that the procedures below be followed in case of any type of disruptive demonstration on school property or within school buildings.

- 1. It is not intended to discourage or prohibit the peaceful expression of opinions or ideas. However, since the Board is required by law to provide proper school facilities and to maintain an appropriate program on instruction and is further required to bar any disruption of the school or interference with their normal operation, the following steps will be taken in the event of any disruption of the schools.
- 2. The disruption shall be immediately brought to the attention of the Superintendent or his representative by the administrative head of the school. The Superintendent shall have the authority at his discretion to alert the proper authorities.
- 3. Students participating in a disruptive demonstration shall be directed by the building principal or his representative to go to their regular classroom assignment. At the same time, the principal or his representative will arrange for a meeting between the administration and the individuals, leaders of a group, or the group, if feasible, to discuss in a rational, orderly manner the problem which has caused the disorder.

- 4. Non-student demonstrators and other unauthorized persons will be directed by the building principal or his representative to remove themselves from school property forthwith.
- 5. In the event steps 2 and/or 3 fail to stop the demonstration, the Superintendent or his representative will ask the police to remove the demonstrators and any individuals failing to comply under step 3.
- 6. Any student who does not report to their assigned classroom after being instructed to do so under item 2 will be subject to suspension.

Dress Code

The Beebe Board of Education recognizes that dress can be a matter of personal taste and preference. At the same time, the District has a responsibility to promote an environment conducive to student learning. This requires limitations to student dress and grooming that could be disruptive to the educational process because they are immodest, disruptive, unsanitary, unsafe, could cause property damage, or are offensive to common standards of decency.

Dress and appearance must not present health and safety hazards or cause disruption of the educational process.

The following are guidelines for student appearance and dress, but the final decision will be at the discretion of the principal /assistant principal.

The following guidelines outline appropriate dress:

- All students shall wear shoes;
- Shirts/blouses with cap sleeves or longer
- Skirts, dresses, and shorts that reach or go beyond the end of student's fingertips

Clothing and accessories **not allowed** include, but are not limited to the following:

- Bulletproof or tactical vests.
- No shirts, blouses, tops, dresses, etc. without sleeves.
- No apparel that exposes bare midriff in any position
- Pants with holes above the knee with exposed skin or undergarments;
- Hats/Caps, or any head covering (hoods), with the exception of uniforms (ROTC), approved spirit days or as part of a uniform, are not to be worn inside the building.
- Clothing or accessories that display obscenities, promote violence, including pictures of guns or other weapons, have sexual implication/content or has reference to alcoholic beverages, tobacco or illegal substances;
- Bandanas;
- No see-through blouses and/or skirts;
- Belts, purses etc. with inappropriate writing, pictures, symbols, etc.
- House shoes, blankets, and pillows;

- Face paint, drawing, or writings on body;
- Apparel that allows excessive exposure at the neck, chest, back, sides, or that shows any part of undergarments;
- Pants/shorts that sag or show undergarments;
- Trench coats, except those worn as part of a school uniform.
- Full-sized flags worn as capes or clothing.
- Pajama pants

Act 835 of 2011-Prohibits students from wearing clothing that exposes underwear, buttocks, or breasts of a female while on the grounds during regular school day and at school-sponsored activities and events. This will not apply to costumes or uniforms in a school-sponsored activity or event.

A student shall not be disciplined or discriminated against based upon the student's natural, protective, or cultural hairstyle. A student's natural, protective, or cultural hairstyle includes without limitation afros, dreadlocks, twists, locs, braids, cornrow braids, Bantu knots, curls, and hair styled to protect hair texture or for cultural significance.

The final decision of any wearing apparel will be at the discretion of the principal/assistant principal. Failure to adhere to the provisions of the dress code will result in the following penalties:

- 1st offense Warning: Students cannot attend class and will be counted absent from class until provisions are made to attain proper clothing. If provisions cannot be made, the student will be placed in ISS for the day.
- 2nd offense Saturday School or 1 day of ISS and provisions will be made to attain proper clothing.
- 3rd offense- 2 days of ISS and provisions will be made to attain proper clothing.
- 4th offense- 5 days of ISS and provisions will be made to attain proper clothing.
- 5th and additional offenses- 3 days of Out of School Suspension

Drug and Alcohol Policy

Reason for Policy

An orderly and safe school environment that is conducive to promoting student achievement requires a student population free from the deleterious effects of alcohol and drugs. Their use is illegal, disruptive to the educational environment, and diminishes the capacity of students to learn and function properly in our schools.

When and Where Applicable

Therefore, no student in Beebe Public School District shall possess, consume, use, distribute, sell, attempt to sell, give to any person, or be under the influence of any substance as defined in this policy, or what the student represents or believes to be any substance as defined in this

policy. This policy applies to any student who; is on or about school property, is in attendance at school or any school-sponsored activity, has left the school campus for any reason and returns to the campus, is in route to or from school, or any school-sponsored activity.

Prohibited Activities

Upon verification by local law enforcement or school authorities or admission by the student or substantiated evidence, any student possessing, or under the influence (legal intoxication not required), or using alcohol or drugs or illegal paraphernalia on school grounds or at school-sponsored events will be in violation of this policy.

Upon verification by local law enforcement or school authorities or admission by the student or substantiated evidence, any student purchasing or attempting to purchase drugs or alcohol on school grounds or at school-sponsored events will be in violation of this policy.

If, through observation, the principal suspects a student of using drugs or alcohol, the student may be required to be examined by a medical doctor. The student can only re-enter school with a doctor's statement dated that day stating that the student was not under the influence (legal intoxication not required) of alcohol or drugs as revealed by appropriate medical tests.

Prohibited Substance and Paraphernalia

Prohibited substances shall include, but are not limited to, alcohol or any alcoholic beverage; inhalants or any ingestible matter that alters a student's ability to act, think, or respond; LSD, or any other hallucinogen; marijuana, CBD, THC, cocaine, heroin, or any other narcotic drug; PCP; amphetamines; steroids; "designer drugs"; look-alike drugs; or any controlled substance. Any amount of alcohol or drugs consumed or in possession by a student will be a violation of the drug and alcohol policy. The possession or use of drug paraphernalia, i.e. clips, pipes, containers, etc., used in connection with drugs, will be a violation of this policy. Any item intended to be representative of a drug or any item designed as a counterfeit and/or look-alike drug/alcohol will be considered an illegal drug, and any student using or possessing such substances will be in violation of the drug and alcohol policy.

Definitions

"Alcohol" includes any alcoholic beverage, malt beverage, fortified wine, or other intoxicating liquor or any substance represented as alcohol.

"Controlled substances" include but are not limited to narcotic drugs, hallucinogenic drugs, amphetamines, barbiturates, marijuana, anabolic steroids, or any controlled substance as defined in Schedules I through VI of the Arkansas Controlled Substance Act (5-64-201), including analogs and look-alike drugs.

The sale, distribution, or attempted sale or distribution of over-the-counter (OTC) medications, dietary supplements, or other perceived health remedies not regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration or prescription drugs is prohibited. The possession or use of OTC medications, dietary supplements, or other perceived health remedies not regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration or prescription drugs is prohibited except as permitted under Policy 4.35—STUDENT MEDICATIONS.

Penalties

Any student engaging in any of the situations listed above will be subject to one of the following penalties:

- 1. The first violation during a student's enrollment in grades seven through twelve will result in suspension, with a possible recommendation for expulsion. A provision may be made for reentry after ten (10) days if the student is enrolled in a counseling or rehabilitation program. These services will be at the student's expense and must be approved by the building administrator. Upon readmission, continued enrollment will be contingent upon successful completion of the counseling or rehabilitation program. (A list of approved counseling and rehabilitation resources is available in the counselor's office.) Law enforcement will be notified, and a citation may be issued.
- 2. Any student in violation of the alcohol/drug policy a second time during grades seven through twelve will be recommended for expulsion. Law enforcement will be notified of the possibility of a citation being issued.

Mandatory Compliance

Compliance with the standards of conduct stated in this policy is mandatory for all students.

Students are also expected to report knowledge or suspicion of drug and alcohol violations to school authorities immediately. Any student who fails to do so will be considered an accessory to the act and will be disciplined accordingly.

All violations of the drug and alcohol policy may be subject to referral to the appropriate law enforcement agency(ies).

Sexual Harassment

The Beebe School District is committed to maintaining an environment in which all employees and students are free from unsolicited and unwelcome sexual overtures. We will not tolerate Sexual harassment that is directed toward employees or students.

Sexual harassment is a form of misconduct that undermines the integrity of the employment relationship. Sexual harassment does not refer to occasional compliments. It refers to behavior

that is not welcomed and is personally offensive. That behavior debilitates morale and, therefore, interferes with the work effectiveness of employees or students.

Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, unwelcome touching, and other inappropriate oral, written, or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitute Sexual harassment when:

- 1. Submission to or toleration of such conduct is made a term or condition of receiving preferential treatment.
- 2. Submission to or toleration of such conduct is made a term or condition to avoid an unpleasant or threatening situation.
- 3. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as a basis for academic decisions affecting the individual.

Any person who alleges Sexual harassment by any staff member to a student in the district should use the following procedure to address the problem.

- 1. Complainant should inform the offender that the behavior is offensive and will not be tolerated.
- 2. Report the offense to the supervisor of the person accused of committing the offense. If circumstances do not permit reporting to the immediate supervisor, complaints may be made to another school administrator. The complaint should be in writing.
- 3. The supervisor will meet confidentially with the accused and document statements from him or her as well as from any witnesses. Appropriate action will be taken depending on the severity and/or frequency of the offense. Documentation of any disciplinary action will be placed in the file of the accused.
- 4. The complainant may appeal the decision of the supervisor to the superintendent and to the school board using normal district appeal procedures.

Filing a complaint or otherwise reporting Sexual harassment will not reflect upon the individual's status, nor will it affect future employment, grades, or work assignments.

The right to confidentiality, both of the complainant and of the accused, will be respected consistent with the district's legal obligations and with the necessity to investigate allegations of misconduct and take corrective action when this conduct has occurred.

A substantiated charge against a student in the school district shall subject that student to disciplinary action, including suspension, expulsion consistent with the student discipline policies and regulations.

Search, Seizure, and Interrogations:

The District respects the rights of its students against the arbitrary intrusion of their persons and property. At the same time, it is the responsibility of school officials to protect the health, safety, and welfare of all students enrolled in the District in order to promote an environment conducive to student learning. The Superintendent, principals, and their designees have the right to inspect and search school property and equipment. They may also search students and their personal property in which the student has a reasonable expectation of privacy when there is reasonable and individualized suspicion to believe such student or property contains illegal items or other items in violation of Board policy or dangerous to the school community. School authorities may seize evidence found in the search, and disciplinary action may be taken. Evidence found which appears to be in violation of the law shall be reported to the appropriate authority.

Refusal of search by students will result in ten (10) days of out of school suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion.

School property shall include, but not be limited to, lockers, desks, and parking lots, as well as personal effects left there by students. When possible, prior notice will be given, and the student will be allowed to be present along with an adult witness; however, searches may be done at any time with or without notice or the student's consent. A personal search must not be excessively intrusive in light of the age and sex of the student and the nature of the infraction.

The Superintendent, principals, and their designees may request the assistance of law enforcement officials to help conduct searches. Such searches may include the use of specially trained dogs.

A school official of the same sex shall conduct personal searches with an adult witness of the same sex present.

State Law requires that Department of Human Services employees, local law enforcement, or agents of the Crimes Against Children Division of the Division of Arkansas State Police may interview students without a court order for the purpose of investigating suspected child abuse. In instances where the interviewers deem it necessary, they may exercise a "72-hour hold" without first obtaining a court order. Other questioning of students by non-school personnel shall be granted only with a court order directing such questioning, with permission of the parents of a student (or the student if above eighteen [18] years of age) or in response to a subpoena or arrest warrant.

If the District makes a report to any law enforcement agency concerning student misconduct or if access to a student is granted to a law enforcement agency due to a court order, the principal or the principal's designee shall make a good-faith effort to contact the student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis. The principal or the principal's designee shall not attempt to make such contact if presented documentation by the investigator that notification is prohibited because a parent, guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis is named as an

alleged offender of the suspected child maltreatment. This exception applies only to interview requests made by a law enforcement officer, an investigator of the Crimes Against Children Division of the Division of Arkansas State Police, or an investigator or employee of the Department of Human Services.

In instances other than those related to cases of suspected child abuse, principals must release a student to either a police officer who presents a subpoena for the student, or a warrant for arrest, or to an agent of state social services or an agent of a court with jurisdiction over a child with a court order signed by a judge. Upon release of the student, the principal or designee shall give the student's parent, legal guardian, or other person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis notice that the student has been taken into custody by law enforcement personnel or a state's social services agency. If the principal or designee is unable to reach the parent, he or she shall make a reasonable, good-faith effort to get a message to the parent to call the principal or designee and leave both a day and an after-hours telephone number.

Terroristic Threats:

Any student who threatens to commit or commits a violent act against any other student or staff member will be taken seriously. Such acts may result in out-of-school suspension up to a maximum of ten (10) days and a possible recommendation for expulsion for up to one calendar year. School Resource Officers will be notified, and local authorities may be notified according to the severity of the threat. Consideration will be given if a student makes a terroristic threat towards a student or staff member on more than one occasion. The administration will follow the district threat assessment protocol. Students are expected to report knowledge or suspicion of terroristic threats immediately to school authorities. Any student who fails to do so will be considered an accessory to the threatening and will be disciplined accordingly. Act 1046 established this as a Class C Felony.

Student Discipline

The Beebe Board of Education has a responsibility to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the District's students and employees. To help maintain a safe environment conducive to high student achievement, the Board establishes policies necessary to regulate student behavior to promote an orderly school environment that is respectful of the rights of others and ensures the uniform enforcement of student discipline. Students are responsible for their conduct that occurs:

- At any time on the school grounds;
- Off school grounds at a school-sponsored function, activity, or event; and
- Going to and from school or a school activity.

The District's administrators may also take disciplinary action against a student for off-campus conduct occurring at any time that would have a detrimental impact on school discipline, the educational environment, or the welfare of the students and/or staff. A student who has committed a criminal act while off campus and whose presence on campus could cause a substantial disruption to school or endanger the welfare of other students or staff is subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. Such acts could include, but are not limited to

a felony or an act that would be considered a felony if committed by an adult, an assault or battery, drug law violations, or sexual misconduct of a serious nature. Any disciplinary action pursued by the District shall be in accordance with the student's appropriate due process rights.

The District's personnel policy committees shall annually review the District's student discipline policies, including State and District student discipline data, and may recommend changes in the policies to the Beebe School Board. The Board has the responsibility of determining whether to approve any recommended changes to student discipline policies.

The District's student discipline policies shall be distributed to each student during the first week of school each year and to new students upon their enrollment. Each student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis shall sign and return to the school an acknowledgment form documenting that they have received the policies.

The District shall develop and provide programs, measures, or alternative means and methods for continued student engagement and educational access during periods of suspension or expulsion.

The superintendent is authorized to modify the penalties set forth in the District's student discipline policies on a case-by-case basis.

It is required by law that the principal or the person in charge report to the police any incidents the person has personal knowledge of or has received information leading to a reasonable belief that a person has committed or threatened to commit an act of violence or any crime involving a deadly weapon on school property or while under school supervision. If the person making the report is not the Superintendent, that person shall also inform the Superintendent of the incident. Additionally, the principal shall inform any school employee or other person who initially reported the incident that a report has been made to the appropriate law enforcement agency. The Superintendent or designee shall inform the Board of Directors of any such report made to law enforcement.

The superintendent shall make an annual report to the Board of Directors on student discipline data, which shall include, without limitation, the number of incidents of bullying reported and the actions taken regarding the reported incidents of bullying.

The School Board feels good discipline is essential to good instruction. The Board supports the administration's effort to maintain a learning environment in the classroom. The Board realizes as should each student and parent, that it would be impossible to prescribe rules and punishments for every situation that may arise. However, some specific rules are set forth in this and subsequent sections, which warrant special attention. Students are expected to be honest, polite, punctual, and obedient.

They are expected not to violate state and federal laws and to conduct themselves in such a manner that the educational system and process is not hindered or thwarted.

Misconduct/Discipline

The following student conduct is not permitted. Violation of these rules of conduct shall result in a minimum penalty of verbal reprimand up to a maximum penalty of expulsion from school. The penalty will be determined by the nature of the offense committed. The principal/assistant principal may bypass steps and go directly to a more severe penalty. The options of consequences for misbehavior are listed for the consideration of the principal and not the student.

Physical Abuse or Assault of Staff:

Any student who commits assault and/or battery or communicates a threat upon any member of the faculty or staff will be given a ten (10) day suspension with a recommendation for expulsion and possible citation.

Weapons and Dangerous Instruments:

Definitions

"Firearm" means any device designed, made, or adapted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive or any device readily convertible to that use.

"Possession" means having a weapon on the student's body or in an area under the student's control.

"Weapon" means any:

- Firearm
- Knife
- Razor
- Ice pick
- Dirk
- Box cutter
- Nunchucks
- Pepper spray, mace, or other noxious spray
- Explosive
- Taser or other instrument that uses electrical current to cause neuromuscular incapacitation or
- Any other instrument or substance capable of causing bodily harm.

No student, except for Military personnel (such as ROTC cadets) acting in the course of their official duties or as otherwise expressly permitted by this policy, shall possess a weapon, display what appears to be a weapon, or threaten to use a weapon before or after school while:

- In a school building;
- On or about school property;
- At any school-sponsored activity or event;

- On route to or from school or any school-sponsored activity; or
- Off the school grounds at any school bus stop.

If a student discovers prior to any questioning or search by any school personnel that he/she has accidentally brought a weapon, other than a firearm, to school on his/her person, in a book bag/purse, or in his/her vehicle on school grounds, and the student informs the principal or a staff person immediately, the student will not be considered to be in possession of a weapon unless it is a firearm. The weapon shall be confiscated and held in the office until such time as the student's parent/legal guardian shall pick up the weapon from the school's office. Repeated offenses are unacceptable and shall be grounds for disciplinary action against the student as otherwise provided for in this policy.

Except as permitted in this policy, students found to be in possession of a firearm on the school campus shall be recommended for expulsion for a period of one (1) year. The superintendent shall have the discretion to modify such expulsion recommendation for a student on a case-by-case basis.

Parents or legal guardians of students expelled under this policy shall be given a copy of the current laws regarding the possibility of parental responsibility for allowing a child to possess a firearm on school property. Parents or legal guardians shall sign a statement acknowledging that they have read and understand said laws prior to readmitting the student. Parents or legal guardians of a student enrolling from another school after the expiration of an expulsion period for a firearm policy violation shall also be given a copy of the current laws regarding the possibility of parental responsibility for allowing a child to possess a firearm on school property. The parents or legal guardians shall sign a statement acknowledging that they have read and understand said laws prior to the student being enrolled in school.

The mandatory expulsion requirement for possession of a firearm does not apply to a firearm brought to school for the purpose of participating in activities approved and authorized by the district that include the use of firearms. Such activities may include ROTC programs, hunting safety or military education, or before or after-school hunting or rifle clubs. Firearms brought to school for such purposes shall be brought to the school employee designated to receive such firearms. The designated employee shall store the firearms in a secure location until they are removed for use in the approved activity.

The district shall report any student who brings a firearm to school to the criminal justice system or juvenile delinquency system by notifying local law enforcement.

A student shall not knowingly possess, handle or transmit a knife, razor, ice pick, explosives, pistol, rifle, shotgun, pellet gun, ammunition, pepper spray, mace, Taser, or any other instrument that uses electrical current to cause neuromuscular incapacitation or any other object that might reasonably be considered a weapon or readily converted to a weapon or any contraband materials.

A student who uses or threatens to use a firearm or any of the above-mentioned objects that might reasonably be considered a weapon to inflict injury to any person on school campus or at school functions at any time **shall be suspended up to ten (10) days with a possible recommendation for expulsion for one (1) year.** (Act 567 of 1995)

If a student discovers that he/she has unintentionally taken a knife, or any other object(s) that is a weapon or could be used as a weapon to school, he/she may give it to school officials voluntarily and immediately without penalty.

If school officials discover that a student has in his/her possession an object that may be considered a weapon (for example, a common pocket knife, etc.) and it was not used in malice, the student will be assigned a consequence ranging from detention to suspension.

Any student who participates in any incident to give the impression of harming another person will receive a consequence commensurate to the act. This will range from detention to a recommendation for expulsion.

Tobacco, Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems, and Related Products Regulations (Act 1555) (Ark. Code 6-21-609)

No tobacco products, including electronic cigarettes, will be allowed at school. Any such items will be confiscated and not returned. The penalty for having tobacco items at school:

- 1st offense One (1) day Out of School Suspension plus two (2) days of In School Suspension, which includes participation in a school-provided tobacco cessation program. Refusal to participate in the tobacco cessation program will result in Out of School Suspension for the remaining days of In School Suspension.
- 2nd offense Three (3) days Out of School Suspension & citation
- 3rd offense Five (5) days Out of School Suspension & citation
- 4th offense and additional offenses Ten (10) days Out of School Suspension & citation with possible recommendation for alternative learning environment (ALE) and/or expulsion.

Fighting:

The penalty for each fight will be administered according to the severity of the fight determined by the administrator and/or his/her designee. Parents will be notified of each incident. The penalty for anyone who communicates a threat to another student will be administered according to the severity of the threat. All violations of the fighting policy may be subject to referral to the appropriate law enforcement agency(ies) with possible citation.

- Three (3) days out-of-school suspension.
- Five (5) days out-of-school suspension
- Ten (10) days out-of-school suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion.

(See Disruption and Interference with School policy on page 117 for students who record fighting.)

♦ Theft:

A student shall not steal or attempt to steal property belonging to the school or public or private property while under the jurisdiction of the school.

The school is not responsible for items stolen, and the administration is not required to spend time looking for items (iPods, cell phones, radios, etc.). These will all be referred to the School Resource Officer.

Students shall make restitution of any property stolen by them and shall be subject to other disciplinary measures.

- First Offense 3 days Out of School Suspension
- Second Offense 5 days Out of School Suspension
- Third Offense 10 days Out of School Suspension with a recommendation for expulsion.

Forging Doctor Notes:

Doctor's notes may be verified by the doctor's office from which they originated. If a doctor's note is found to be forged, then depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from Saturday School to suspension.

Damage or Destruction of School Property:

A student shall not cause or attempt to cause damage to school property. Students may be held financially responsible for accidental damage or destruction of school property.

Parents of students will be liable for any damages caused by their students.

Students should walk on sidewalks and paved areas. Students are not allowed to lean on, push against, or otherwise damage fences surrounding grassy areas. Skateboards, hoverboards, or skates are prohibited at all times.

Malicious destruction of school property will result in the following penalties.

- Three (3) days suspension, restitution, and legal authorities will be notified.
- Five (5) days suspension, restitution, and legal authorities will be notified.
- Ten (10) days suspension with recommendation for expulsion, restitution, and legal authorities will be notified.

♦ Personal Electronic Devices/Cell Phones

Students in grades seven through twelve, from the time the student arrives at school until after the last bell, are forbidden from using personal electronic devices, including cellular phones, smart watches, headphones, earbuds, speakers, or any listening device. Students found in violation of the use of cell phones and other electronic devices shall have them confiscated per the consequences listed below. Cell phones will be returned to the student at the end of the school day. The use of cell phones for incentives are at the principals' discretion.

Policy is in accordance with Act 122: "Bell to Bell, No Cell Act"

A student and the student's parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis expressly assume any risk associated with a student's possession or use of a student's personal electronic device that is not issued by the District. The District shall not be liable for a personal electronic device that is confiscated if the personal electronic device is lost, stolen, or damaged.

Consequences

- 1st offense Student turns their phone into the office and receives lunch detention. Parents are called and notified of consequences if student violates policy again.
- 2nd offense Student loses their phone privileges for the remainder of the semester. Each day, students will turn their phones into the office to be placed in a secure storage device. Student will also receive one (1) day of Saturday school.
- 3rd offense 3 days Out of School suspension (OSS)
- 4th offense 5 days Out of School suspension
- 5th Offense 10 days Out of School suspension
- 6th Offense Recommendation for Expulsion

OASIS

Junior High and High School students assigned to the Oasis Center will turn in their cellphones to be locked up in a secure device upon their arrival after 8:05 a.m. Cell phones will remain locked up until the student leaves for the day or at 3:15 p.m. whichever comes first. Refusal to turn in cell phones will result in the following:

```
1st offense — 3 days of Out of School Suspension
2nd offense —5 days of Out of School Suspension
3rd offense —10 days of Out of School Suspension
4th offense — Possible recommendation for expulsion from school
```

Possessing, viewing, distributing, or electronically transmitting sexually explicit or vulgar images or representations, whether electronically, on a data storage device, or in hard copy form.

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendations for expulsion.

♦ Profanity: Inappropriate Language / Gestures / Slurs / Antisemitism

A student shall not use, possess, or distribute profane, violent, vulgar, abusive, or insulting communication which includes any type of racial or ethnic slurs directed toward a student or an adult at any time. A student shall not use physical gestures or implied verbal language that convey a connotation of obscene or highly disrespectful acts, infringe upon the rights of others, or cause or begin an overt and immediate disruption of the educational process.

"Antisemitism" means a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities. Antisemitism may be expressed in speech; writing; visual forms; and actions, and employs sinister stereotypes and negative character traits. (per District policy 4.65)

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendations for expulsion.

Act 1565 makes it unlawful for a student to verbally abuse any member of the faculty or staff while he/she is performing the duties assigned by the school. Consideration will be given to recommending expulsion and possible citation.

Sang Signs, Symbols, and Attire:

No gang signs, symbols, or attire will be allowed. Failure to comply will lead to disciplinary action.

Consequences

- Three (3) days out of school suspension
- Five (5) days out of school suspension
- Ten (10) days out of school suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion

False Alarms of Danger:

Act 567 makes the act of communicating a false alarm to or about an educational institution a Class D Felony.

May result in 10 days of out-of-school suspension and a recommendation of expulsion for up to one calendar year. Local law enforcement will be notified.

A Hazing

Hazing, aiding in hazing of another student.

Consequences:

 Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendations for expulsion.

Insubordination (Disregard of Directions or Commands):

A student shall comply with reasonable directions or commands of teachers, substitute teachers, teacher aids, principals, administrative personnel, school bus drivers, or any other authorized personnel.

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion

Disruption and Interference with School

A student shall not engage in behavior that produces situations in which instruction or activities of other students and/or staff members are adversely affected. This includes students engaged in behavior that would result in that student having to be removed from the classroom environment. This may also include social media posts created on or off campus that are related to school activities, students, and/or staff. In addition, students using a camera, videotape, photo-optical, photoelectric, or any other image recording device for the purpose of malicious intent is prohibited.

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion or a placement in an alternative learning environment.

♦ Fireworks

Students will not be allowed to bring fireworks of any nature to school-sponsored activities.

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion

Gambling

A student shall not participate in any activity which may be termed gambling or wagering where the stakes are money or any other of value. A parent conference will be required for re-admittance to school.

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendations for expulsion.

♦ Leaving Campus/Skipping Class

Beebe High School and Beebe Junior High have a closed campus policy. After arriving at school no student is allowed to leave the campus or not attend class without permission. Students must sign out through the office. Students who leave without following the proper procedure will be considered truant.

A truant student may be assigned a minimum of Saturday School to a maximum of In School Suspension.

A student truant a second time must be accompanied by a parent to the office of the principal. Juvenile and/or local authorities will be notified of truant children for appropriate action (Act 473 of 1989).

A student checking out during the school day may not return to school that day unless he/she left for one of the following reasons: documentation from the appointment is required for the student to return to school.

- Official school-sponsored activity
- Required court appearance
- Medical appointment for the student
- Extenuating circumstances as determined by the school or (receive <u>prior</u> approval from school administration)

♦ Loitering

Students are not allowed on campus before or after school hours except for school-sponsored activities. Riding bikes (other than riding to and from school), skateboarding, and rollerblading are not permitted on school grounds. Anyone using school buildings must be accompanied by an employee of the district at all times. Any unauthorized use of school buildings or property may result in being ticketed by the city police.

When students arrive for the school day, they must exit their vehicles. Students are not allowed to congregate in the parking lots. At the end of the school day, students are to exit the school campus immediately unless they are attending a school function.

♦ Public Display of Affection

Public display of affection is not appropriate behavior at school or at school-sponsored activities. Public display of affection is defined as any affectionate physical contact, including "holding

hands". Failure to comply with reasonable expectations of school staff will lead to disciplinary action.

Consequences:

• Depending on the severity of the event, consequences could range from after-school detention to suspension with possible recommendation for expulsion.

Repeated Violations:

• Students who have repeated violations of policies will be subject to suspension and/or expulsion from school.

♦ Cheating:

Cheating, copying, or claiming another person's work to be his/her own, plagiarism, and the use of artificial intelligence to do work.

Consequences:

 Students caught cheating will lose credit for the assignment plus possible detention, Saturday detention, or in- school suspension. Repeated offenses may result in out-of-school suspension and possible failure of the subject.

Use of Artificial Intelligence (AI):

Students must ensure all submitted work is their own and properly acknowledge or cite any assistance from AI tools. Students are encouraged to ask questions if they are unsure about the acceptable use of AI tools.

The following actions regarding AI tools are strictly prohibited:

- Misuse of AI tools for cheating, plagiarism, or any form of academic dishonesty, including the submission of assignments that were fully generated by an AI tool and presented as original student work;
- Altering or falsifying academic documents or records using AI tools;
- Using AI tools to:
 - o Gain unauthorized access to District systems; or
 - Bypass District security measures;
- Using AI tools to produce misleading or false information, imagery, or any form of false outputs about themselves, other students, or staff members.

Consequences:

• Students caught in violation of this policy will lose credit for the assignment plus possible detention, Saturday detention, or in-school suspension. Repeated offenses may result in out-of-school suspension and possible failure of the subject.

Behavior Not Covered

The school district reserves the right to pursue disciplinary action for behavior which is subversive to good order and discipline in the school even though behavior may not be specified in written rules.

Student Use of Multiple Occupancy Room

Definitions

"Multiple occupancy room" means an area in a District building that is designed or designated to be used by one (1) or more individuals at the same time and in which one (1) or more individuals may be in various stages of undress in the presence of other individuals, which includes, without limitation, a restroom, locker room, changing room, or shower room.

"Sex" means the physical condition of being male or female based on genetics and physiology, which may be demonstrated by the sex identified on a student's original birth certificate.

Each multiple occupancy room in a District building shall be designated as either male or female. Except as permitted by this policy, a student shall not enter a multiple occupancy room that does not correspond to the student's sex.

An individual who is unwilling or unable to use a multiple occupancy room designated for the individual's sex shall be granted a reasonable accommodation, which may include, without limitation, access to a single-occupancy restroom or changing area. A reasonable accommodation shall not include access to a restroom or changing area that is designated for use by members of the opposite sex to an individual while members of the opposite sex of the individual are present or may be present in the restroom or changing area.

The prohibitions in this policy do not apply to an individual who enters a multiple occupancy room designated for use by the opposite sex when the individual enters for any of the following reasons:

- Custodial, maintenance, or inspection purposes;
- To render emergency medical assistance;
- To address an ongoing emergency, including without limitation a physical altercation;
- To accommodate individuals protected under the Americans with Disabilities Act; or
- To assist young children who are in need of physical assistance when using a restroom or changing facility that is located in the District.

Discipline for Disabled Students

Students with disabilities are subject to the same disciplinary rules as non-disabled. The individualized education plan (IEP) will address any particular disciplinary procedures that may deviate from the usual rules. State and Federal guidelines will be followed to maintain compliance and protect the rights of students with disabilities to a free appropriate public education.

Corporal Punishment:

The Board of Education authorizes the use of corporal punishment to be administered in accordance with this policy by the Superintendent or the superintendent's designated staff members, who are required to have a state-issued license as a condition of their employment.

Prior to the administration of corporal punishment, the student receiving corporal punishment shall be given an explanation of the reasons for the punishment and be given an opportunity to refute the charges.

All corporal punishment shall be administered privately, i.e. out of the sight and hearing of other students, shall not be excessive or administered with malice, and shall be administered in the presence of another school administrator or designee who shall be a licensed staff member employed by the District.

Corporal punishment shall not be used as a form of discipline for a student who is intellectually disabled, non-ambulatory, non-verbal, or autistic.

Suspension from School

Students who are not present at school cannot benefit from the educational opportunities the school environment affords. Administrators, therefore, shall strive to find ways to keep students in school as participants in the educational process. There are instances, however, when the needs of the other students or the interests of the orderly learning environment require the removal of a student from school. The Board authorizes school principals or their designees to suspend students for disciplinary reasons for a period of time not to exceed ten (10) school days, including the day upon which the suspension is imposed. The suspension may be in school or out of school. Students are responsible for their conduct that occurs:

- At any time on the school grounds;
- Off school grounds at a school-sponsored function, activity, or event; and
- Going to and from school or a school activity.

A student may be suspended for behavior including, but not limited to, that:

- 1. Is in violation of school policies, rules, or regulations;
- 2. Substantially interferes with the safe and orderly educational environment;

- 3. School administrators believe will result in the substantial interference with the safe and orderly educational environment; and/or
- 4. Is insubordinate, incorrigible, violent, or involves moral turpitude.

Out-of-school suspension (OSS) shall not be used to discipline a student in kindergarten through fifth (5th) grade unless the student's behavior:

- A. Poses a physical risk to himself or herself or to others;
- B. Causes a serious disruption that cannot be addressed through other means; or
- C. Is the act of bringing a firearm onto the school campus.

OSS shall not be used to discipline a student for skipping class, excessive absences, or other forms of truancy.

The school principal or designee shall proceed as follows in deciding whether or not to suspend a student:

- 1. The student shall be given written notice or advised orally of the charges against him/her;
- 2. If the student denies the charges, he/she shall be given an explanation of the evidence against him/her and be allowed to present his/her version of the facts; and
- 3. If the principal finds the student guilty of misconduct, he/she may be suspended.

When possible, a notice of the suspension, its duration, and any stipulations for the student's re-admittance to class will be given to the parent(s), legal guardian(s), person(s) with lawful control of the student, person(s) standing in loco parentis, or to the student if age eighteen (18) or older prior to the suspension. Such notice shall be handed to the parent(s), legal guardian(s), person(s) with lawful control of the student, person(s) standing in loco parentis, or to the student if age eighteen (18) or older or mailed to the last address reflected in the records of the school district.

Generally, notice and hearing should precede the student's removal from school, but if prior notice and hearing are not feasible, as where the student's presence endangers persons or property or threatens disruption of the academic process, thus justifying immediate removal from school, the necessary notice and hearing should follow as soon as practicable.

It is the responsibility of a student's parents, legal guardians, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to provide current contact information to the district, which the school shall use to immediately notify the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis upon the suspension of a student. The notification shall be by one of the following means, listed in order of priority:

- A primary call number
- The contact may be by voice, voice mail, or text message.
- An email address:
- A regular first-class letter to the last known mailing address.

The district shall keep a log of contacts attempted and made to the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis.

The District shall establish programs, measures, or alternative means and methods to continue student engagement and access to education during a student's period of OSS.

During the period of their suspension, students serving OSS are not permitted on campus except to attend a student/parent/administrator conference or when necessary as part of the District's engagement or access to education program.

During the period of their suspension, students serving in-school suspension shall not attend or participate in any school-sponsored activities during the imposed suspension. Students may participate in school-sponsored activities after after school dismissal on the last school day of the imposed in-school suspension.

Suspensions initiated by the principal or his/her designee may be appealed to the Superintendent but not to the Board.

Suspensions initiated by the Superintendent may be appealed to the Board.

Expulsion

The Board of Education may expel a student for a period longer than ten (10) school days for violation of the District's written discipline policies. The Superintendent may make a recommendation of expulsion to the Board of Education for student conduct:

- Deemed to be of such gravity that suspension would be inappropriate;
- Where the student's continued attendance at school would disrupt the orderly learning environment; or
- Would pose an unreasonable danger to the welfare of other students or staff.

Expulsion shall not be used to discipline a student in kindergarten through fifth (5th) grade unless the student's behavior:

- A. Poses a physical risk to himself or herself or to others;
- B. Causes a serious disruption that cannot be addressed through other means; or
- C. Is the act of bringing a firearm on school campus.

The Superintendent or his/her designee shall give written notice to the parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis (mailed to the address reflected on the District's records) that he/she will recommend to the Board of Education that the student be expelled for the specified length of time and state the reasons for the recommendation to expel. The notice shall give the date, hour, and place where the Board of Education will consider and dispose of the recommendation.

The hearing shall be conducted not later than ten (10) school days following the date of the notice, except that representatives of the Board and student may agree in writing to a date not conforming to this limitation.

The President of the Board, Board attorney, or other designated Board member shall preside at the hearing. The student may choose to be represented by legal counsel. Both the district administration and School Board also may be represented by legal counsel. The hearing shall be conducted in open session of the Board unless the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, person standing in loco parentis, or student if age eighteen (18) or older requests that the hearing be conducted in executive session. Any action taken by the Board shall be in open session.

During the hearing, the Superintendent, or designee, or representative will present evidence, including the calling of witnesses who gave rise to the recommendation of expulsion. The student or his/her representative may then present evidence, including statements from persons with personal knowledge of the events or circumstances relevant to the charges against the student. Formal cross-examination will not be permitted; however, any member of the Board, the Superintendent, or designee, the student, or his/her representative may question anyone making a statement and/or the student. The presiding officer shall decide questions concerning the appropriateness or relevance of any questions asked during the hearing.

Except as permitted by policy 4.22, the Superintendent shall recommend the expulsion of any student for a period of one (1) year for possession of any firearm prohibited on school campus by law. The Superintendent shall, however, have the discretion to modify the expulsion recommendation for a student on a case-by-case basis. Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of a student, or persons standing in loco parentis of a student enrolling from another school after the expiration of an expulsion period for a weapons policy violation shall be given a copy of the current laws regarding the possibility of parental responsibility for allowing a child to possess a weapon on school property. The parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of a student, or persons standing in loco parentis shall sign a statement acknowledging that they have read and understand said laws prior to the student being enrolled in school.

The Superintendent and the Board of Education shall complete the expulsion process of any student that was initiated because the student possessed a firearm or other prohibited weapon on school property, regardless of the student's enrollment status.

The District shall establish programs, measures, or alternative means and methods to continue student engagement and access to education during a student's period of expulsion.

Student and Parent Complaints and Grievances

The Board of Education believes that students have the right to express school-related concerns and grievances when they arise. Any student, parent, student organization, or group of students should request a meeting with the principal or appropriate authority for any discussion or consideration of a grievance, complaint, or other concern. It shall be the aim of the Board to have the consideration of student problems and concerns discussed and resolved as quickly and equitably as possible.

The proper channels for all student complaints, concerns, or grievances should be as follows:

- 1. Teacher or group sponsor
- Principal
- 3. Superintendent
- 4. Board of Education

Due Process:

The Board of Education recognizes due process, through a basically flexible and imprecise concept, to be defined as fair and reasonable approaches to all areas of student governance and discipline on the part of all school officials. The Board also realizes that observance of applicable substantive due process entails two basic considerations: (1) any objective sought relative to student governance must be legally defensible, e.g., based upon a rational or compelling state interest; and (2) the means taken to accomplish such objective must be within the constitutional limitations applicable to the in loco parentis position of school officials with the school district. To ensure compliance with these two substantive aspects, the Board has endorsed the following applicable policies, rules, and regulations.

- Each local school policy, rule, or regulation shall spell out its purpose as it relates to accomplishment of a legally defensible objective.
- Each local regulation shall be based on a board policy.
- All policies, rules, and regulations at any level shall be consistent with local, county, or city ordinances, statutes of the State of Arkansas, administrative regulations of duty-authorized agencies, e.g., State Board or State Department of Education; Department of Education.
- Both policies of the Board and regulations designated by local school administrators shall be specific and precise.
- No Board policies or local school codes of conduct shall deny any student his/her constitutional right.
- Discharge of administrative responsibilities and exercise of authority shall recognize applicable legal parameters placed upon the in loco parentis position of school officials.
- To be fair and reasonable in a legal sense, all exercises of administrative authority or that of other school officials, i.e., classroom teachers, shall be capable of withstanding close judicial scrutiny relative to freedom from arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or otherwise illegal practices.
- Students, parents, citizens, teachers, and administrators should be participants in drawing up local school codes of conduct.

The area of procedural due process within the school district shall relate primarily to the area of discipline and disciplinary measures, e.g., corporal punishment, short-term suspension, long-term suspension, and expulsion.

The degree of procedural due process afforded in each of the above situations shall be dependent upon two vital factors: (1) the gravity of the offense a student is alleged to have committed and (2) the severity of the contemplated penalty. For example, a much greater degree of procedural due process shall be applicable in an expulsion situation than in one where the penalty is short-term suspension.

Under due process, each student shall be guaranteed a fair hearing, a fair judgment, a written record of the decision, and a notice of his right to appeal. This is applicable to serious penalties such as suspension.

The full panoply of procedural due process shall be afforded any student facing possible long-term suspension (over ten (10) days) or expulsion. In both of these situations, the Board of Education shall follow an adversary-type procedure with legal counsel permitted, a transcribed record of the hearing, and related safeguards.

Definitions

- 1. CORPORAL PUNISHMENT: Swats on the buttocks with a paddle.
- 2. DETENTION STUDY HALL: A supervised study conducted in the morning 20 minutes before Morning Bell or in the afternoon 30 minutes after dismissal.
- 3. EXTRACURRICULAR: Extracurricular activities are defined as any school-sponsored program where students from two or more schools compete for the purpose of receiving an award, rating, recognition, criticism, or qualification for additional competition. Examples include, but are not limited to, interscholastic athletics, cheerleading, band, choral, math, or science competitions, and club activities.
- 4. IN-SCHOOL SUSPENSION: Students will be placed in isolation and will not be allowed to attend classes or school activities. Students may participate in school-sponsored activities after 3:15 pm on the last day of the imposed in-school suspension.
- 5. SUSPENSION (Out of School Suspension): Prohibition of a student from entering the school or school grounds (except for a prearranged conference with an administrator) for a period of time set by the principal of the school or superintendent. Students will not be allowed to attend school-sponsored activities during this suspension. A student, while suspended out of school, will not be allowed to receive credit for daily assigned work unless approved by the principal. If a student misses a test or major project while suspended, the student will be allowed to take the test the day the student returns from

- suspension. It is the student's responsibility to communicate with the teacher about possible missed tests.
- 6. EXPULSION: Prohibition of a student from entering the school or school grounds (except for a prearranged conference with an administrator) until the end of the semester, end of the school year, or for a calendar year. Students will be provided a virtual option to obtain academic credits.
- 7. SATURDAY DETENTION: Supervised study conducted from 8:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. on Saturday.

MEDICAL INFORMATION

Health Services

The Board believes that healthy children promote a better learning environment, are more capable of high student achievement, and will result in healthier, more productive adults. Therefore, the goal of the District's health services is to promote a healthy student body. This requires both the education of students concerning healthy behaviors and the provision of health care services to pupils.

The District shall develop an age-appropriate seizure education program for the District's students consistent with training programs and guidelines developed by the Epilepsy Foundation of America.

While the school nurse is under the supervision of the school principal, the delegation of health care duties shall be in accordance with the Arkansas Nurse Practice Act and the Arkansas State Board of Nursing Rules Chapter Five: Delegation of Nursing Care.

A safe and healthy school environment positively impacts the physical and mental health of students. While the primary responsibility for the provision of ongoing health care remains with the parents/guardians, the family physician, and other health professionals, the District will provide supportive health services and a coordinated health services program. School nurses have the primary responsibility for the delivery of the school health program. This includes educating students on health issues, working with the staff and students to ensure a safe and healthy school environment, and providing direct health care.

Student health records will be maintained by the school nurse. Health records are confidential and written parent/guardian permission will be obtained before information is released. In connection with an emergency, personally identifiable information from a student's health record

may be disclosed to appropriate parties to protect the health and safety of the student or other individuals.

Physical Examinations / Screenings

The District conducts routine health screenings such as hearing, vision, and scoliosis due to the importance these health factors play in the ability of a student to succeed in school. The screenings will be billed to Medicaid at no charge to the parents or guardians. The intent of the exams or screenings is to detect defects in hearing, vision, or other elements of health that would adversely affect the student's ability to achieve his/her full potential.

The rights provided to parents under this policy transfer to the student when he/she turns eighteen (18) years old.

Except in instances where a student is suspected of having a contagious or infectious disease, parents shall have the right to opt their student out of the exams or screenings by using form 4.41F or by providing certification from a physician that he/she has recently examined the student. Parents may request a copy of the objection form by contacting the school.

Student Illness/Accident

If a student becomes too ill to remain in class and/or could be contagious to other students, the principal or designee will attempt to notify the student's parent or legal guardian. The student will remain in the school's health room or a place where he/she can be supervised until the end of the school day or until the parent/legal guardian can check the student out of school. If a student becomes seriously ill or is injured while at school and the parent/legal guardian cannot be contacted, the failure to make such contact shall not unreasonably delay the school's expeditious transport of the student to an appropriate medical care facility. The school assumes no responsibility for the treatment of the student. When available, current, and applicable, the student's emergency contact numbers and medical information will be utilized. Parents are strongly encouraged to keep this information up to date.

Personal Illness

In order to provide students with a healthy environment in which to learn, these guidelines should be followed:

- 1. If a child complains before school, take his/ her temperature and keep the child home if the temperature exceeds 100.4 degrees, without medication.
- 2. If a child complains with stomach disorders such as nausea, vomiting, or diarrhea, he/she should not be sent to school. Stomach viruses are contagious.

- 3. If a child has a rash of unknown origin or has a suspected condition (such as chicken pox), that may be contagious, do not send him/her to school until a physician has diagnosed the condition.
- 4. If a student is sent home from school with a fever, he/she should not return to school the next day. A child should be fever-free for twenty-four (24) hours without medication before returning to school.
- 5. If a student is sent home from school for vomiting, diarrhea, rash, or any other symptom that is suspected to be contagious, he/she should not return to school the next day. A child should be free from any signs or symptoms that are believed to be contagious for 24 hours before returning to school.

Many times, children become ill at school, and it is necessary for the school to notify the parents. The following criteria will be used as a guide before notifying parents:

- 1. Fever of 100.4 degrees or higher;
- 2. Vomiting and/or diarrhea;
- 3. Symptoms of contagious conjunctivitis/pink eyes (students may return to school after being on medication for 24 hours);
- 4. Symptoms of a contagious disease;
- 5. Serious injuries (deemed such by the teacher, principal, or school nurse);
- 6. Symptoms of head lice; or
- 7. Symptoms that the teacher, principal, or school nurse deems as a possible health risk to the student and/or to the other students in this school.

Administration of Medication

Prior to the administration of any medication, including any dietary supplement or other perceived health remedy not regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration, to any student under the age of eighteen (18), written parental consent is required. The consent form shall include authorization to administer the medication and relieve the Board and its employees of civil liability for damages or injuries resulting from the administration of medication to students in accordance with this policy. All signed medication consent forms are to be maintained by the school nurse.

Unless authorized to self-administer or otherwise authorized by this policy, students are not allowed to carry any medications, including over-the-counter medications or any perceived health remedy not regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration, while at school. The parent or legal guardian shall bring the student's medication to the school nurse. The student may bring the medication if accompanied by written authorization from the parent or legal guardian. When medications are brought to the school nurse, the nurse shall document, in the presence of the parent, the quantity of the medication(s). If the medications are brought by a student, the school nurse shall ask another school employee to verify, in the presence of the student, the

quantity of the medication(s). Each person present shall sign a form verifying the quantity of the medication(s).

Medications, including those for self-administration, must be in the original container and be properly labeled with the student's name, the ordering provider's name, the name of the medication, the dosage, frequency, and instructions for the administration of the medication (including times). Additional information accompanying the medication shall state the purpose of the medication, its possible side effects, and any other pertinent instructions (such as special storage requirements) or warnings. Schedule II medications that are permitted by this policy to be brought to school shall be stored in a double-locked cabinet.

Students with an individualized health plan (IHP) may be given over-the-counter medications to the extent that giving such medications is included in the student's IHP.

The district's supervising registered nurse is responsible for creating procedures for the administration of medications on and off campus.

The school shall not keep outdated medications or any medications past the end of the school year. Parents shall be notified ten (10) days in advance of the school's intention to dispose of any medication. Medications not picked up by the parents or legal guardians within the ten (10) day period shall be disposed of by the school nurse in accordance with current law and rules.

A Student Medication Administration Release form is located on the school website. The form should be completed, signed, and returned to your child's school nurse in order for your child to receive any stock medications supplied by the school nurse.

Schedule II Medications

Option 1: The only Schedule II medications that shall be allowed to be brought to the school are methylphenidate (e.g. Ritalin or closely related medications as determined by the school nurse), dextroamphetamine (Dexedrine), and amphetamine sulfate (e.g., Adderall or closely related medications as determined by the school nurse).

For the student's safety, no student will be allowed to attend school if the student is currently taking any other Schedule II medication than permitted by this policy. Students who are taking Schedule II medications which are not allowed to be brought to school, shall be eligible for homebound instruction if provided for in their IEP or 504 plans.

Option 2: Students taking Schedule II medications methylphenidate (e.g., Ritalin or closely related medications as determined by the school nurse), dextroamphetamine (Dexedrine), and amphetamine sulfate (e.g., Adderall or closely related medications as determined by the school nurse) shall be allowed to attend school.

Students taking Schedule II medications not included in the previous sentence shall be allowed to bring them to school under the provisions of this policy and shall be permitted to attend and

participate in classes **only** to the extent the student's doctor has specifically authorized such attendance and participation. A doctor's prescription for a student's Schedule II medication is **not** an authorization. Attendance authorization shall specifically state the degree and potential danger of physical exertion the student is permitted to undertake in the student's classes and extracurricular activities. Without a doctor's written authorization, a student taking Schedule II medications other than those specifically authorized in this policy shall not be eligible to attend classes but shall be eligible for homebound instruction if provided for in their IEP or 504 plans.

Self-Administration of Medication

Students who have written permission from their parent or guardian and a licensed health care practitioner on file with the District may:

- Self-administer either a rescue inhaler or auto-injectible or nasal spray epinephrine.
- Perform his/her own blood glucose checks;
- Administer insulin through the insulin delivery system the student uses;
- Treat the student's own hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia; or
- Possess on his or her person;
 - o A rescue inhaler or auto-injectable epinephrine; or
 - Auto-injectable or nasal spray epinephrine; or
 - The necessary supplies and equipment to perform his/her own diabetes monitoring and treatment functions.

Students who have a current consent form on file shall be allowed to carry and self-administer such medication while:

- In school
- At an on-site school-sponsored activity;
- While traveling to or from school, or
- At an off-site school-sponsored activity.

A student is prohibited from sharing, transferring, or in any way diverting his/her medications to any other person. The fact that a student with a completed consent form on file is allowed to carry a rescue inhaler, auto-injectable epinephrine, diabetes medication, or combination does not require him/her to have such on his/her person. The parent or guardian of a student who qualifies under this policy to self-carry a rescue inhaler, auto-injectable epinephrine, diabetes medication, or any combination on his/her person shall provide the school with the appropriate medication, which shall be immediately available to the student in an emergency.

Students may possess and use a topical sunscreen that is approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for OTC use to avoid overexposure to the sun without written authorization from a parent, legal guardian, or healthcare professional while the student is on school property or at a school-related event or activity. The parent or guardian of a student may provide written documentation authorizing specifically named District employee(s), in addition to the school nurse, to assist a student in the application of sunscreen. The District employee(s) named in the parent or legal guardian's written authorization shall not be required to assist the student in the application of sunscreen.

Emergency Administration of Glucagon and Insulin

Students may be administered Glucagon, insulin, or both in emergency situations by the school nurse or, in the absence of the school nurse, a trained volunteer school employee designated as a care provider, provided the student has:

- an IHP that provides for the administration of Glucagon, insulin, or both in emergency situations; and
- a current, valid consent form on file from their parent or guardian.

A student shall have access to a private area to perform diabetes monitoring and treatment functions as outlined in the student's IHP.

Emergency Administration of Epinephrine

The school nurse or other school employees designated by the school nurse as a care provider who have been trained and certified by a licensed physician may administer an epinephrine auto-injector in emergency situations to students who have an IHP that provides for the administration of an epinephrine auto-injector in emergency situations.

The parent of a student who has an authorizing IHP, or the student if over the age of eighteen (18), shall annually complete and sign a written consent form provided by the student's school nurse authorizing the nurse or other school employee(s) certified to administer auto-injector epinephrine to administer auto-injector epinephrine to the student when the employee believes the student is having a life-threatening anaphylactic reaction.

Students with an order from a licensed health care provider to self-administer auto-injectable epinephrine and who have written permission from their parent or guardian shall provide the school nurse an epinephrine auto-injector. This epinephrine will be used in the event the school nurse or other school employee certified to administer auto-injector epinephrine, in good faith, professionally believes the student is having a life-threatening anaphylactic reaction and the student is either not self-carrying his/her /epinephrine auto-injector or the nurse is unable to locate it.

The school nurse for each District school shall keep epinephrine auto-injectors on hand that are suitable for the students the school serves. The school nurse or other school employee designated by the school nurse as a care provider who has been trained and certified by a licensed physician may administer auto-injector epinephrine to those students whom the school nurse or other school employee certified to administer auto-injector epinephrine in good faith professionally believes is having a life-threatening anaphylactic reaction.

Emergency Administration of Albuterol

The school nurse or other school employees designated by the school nurse as a care provider who has been trained⁶ and certified by a licensed physician, advanced practice registered nurse, or physician assistant may administer albuterol in emergency situations to students who have an IHP that provides for the administration of albuterol in emergency situations.

The parent of a student who has an authorizing IHP, or the student if over the age of eighteen (18), shall annually complete and sign a written consent form provided by the student's school nurse authorizing the nurse or other school employee(s) certified to administer albuterol to administer albuterol to the student when the employee believes the student is in perceived respiratory distress.

The school nurse for each District school shall keep albuterol on hand. The school nurse or other school employee designated by the school nurse as a care provider who has been trained⁶ and certified by a licensed physician, advanced practice registered nurse, or physician assistant may administer albuterol to those students whom the school nurse or other school employee certified to administer albuterol, in good faith professionally believes is in perceived respiratory distress.

Emergency Administration of Anti-opioid:

The school nurse for each District school shall keep anti-opioid injectors on hand, and the school nurse and school resource officer shall possess an anti-opioid at all times when on duty. The school nurse, other school employee, volunteer, or student may administer anti-opioid in accordance with the District's procedures to a student who the school nurse or other observers, in good faith, believes is having an opioid overdose.

An opioid overdose rescue kit shall be placed within all storage locations in the District high school buildings that currently contain an automated external defibrillator for public use. The opioid overdose rescue kits shall be located where it is readily available to the public, be visually free of advertisement, and contain an anti-opioid.

Seizure Disorder Medications

Students who have been diagnosed with a seizure disorder shall have a seizure action plan that shall be a written IHP designed to acknowledge and prepare for the healthcare needs of the student. The student's seizure action plan shall be created in collaboration between District staff and the student's Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons acting in loco parentis or the student if over eighteen (18). As part of the creation of the student's seizure action plan, the student's Parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons acting in loco parentis shall:

1. Provide the school with written authorization to administer the seizure medication at school;

- 2. Provide a written statement from the student's healthcare provider that shall contain the following information:
 - a. The student's name;
 - b. The name and purpose of the medication;
 - c. The prescribed dosage;
 - d. The route of administration;
 - e. The frequency that the medication should be administered; and
 - f. The circumstances under which the medication should be administered;
- 3. Provide the prescribed medication to the school in its unopened, sealed package with the label affixed by the dispensing pharmacy intact, which shall be stored in a safe and secure location accessible only by District personnel or volunteers with training to administer seizure medication.

The written authorization, written statement, and seizure action plan shall be kept on file in the office of the school nurse or school administrator and distributed to any school personnel or volunteers responsible for the supervision or care of the student.

Communicable Diseases and Parasites

The Beebe Public School District will work cooperatively with the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education and other public agencies to enforce and adhere to Arkansas Public Health Policies for the prevention, control, and containment of infectious/communicable diseases in school.

Students with communicable diseases or with human host parasites that are transmittable in a school environment shall demonstrate respect for other students by not attending school while they are capable of transmitting their condition to others. Students whom the school nurse determines are unwell or unfit for school attendance or who are believed to have a communicable disease or condition will be required to be picked up by their parent or guardian. Specific examples include but are not limited to, Varicella (chicken pox), measles, scabies, conjunctivitis (Pink Eye), impetigo/MRSA (Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus), streptococcal and staphylococcal infections, ringworm, mononucleosis, Hepatitis A, B, or C, mumps, vomiting, diarrhea, and fever (100.4 F when taken orally).1 A student who has been sent home by the school nurse will be subsequently readmitted, at the discretion of the school nurse, when the student is no longer a transmission risk. In some instances, a letter from a healthcare provider may be required prior to the student being readmitted to the school.

To help control the possible spread of communicable diseases, school personnel shall follow the district's exposure control plan when dealing with any exposure to blood-borne, foodborne, and airborne pathogens. Standard precautions shall be followed relating to the handling, disposal, and cleanup of blood and other potentially infectious materials such as all body fluids, secretions, and excretions (except sweat).

In accordance with 4.57—IMMUNIZATIONS, The District shall maintain a copy of each student's immunization record and a list of individuals with exemptions from immunization, which shall be education records as defined in policy 4.13. That policy provides that an education record may be disclosed to appropriate parties in connection with an emergency if knowledge of the information is necessary to protect the health or safety of the student or other individuals.

A student enrolled in the District who has an immunization exemption may be removed from school at the discretion of the Arkansas Department of Health during an outbreak of the disease for which the student is not vaccinated. The student may not return to the school until the outbreak has been resolved and the student's return to school is approved by the Arkansas Department of Health.

The parents or legal guardians of students found to have live human host parasites that are transmittable in a school environment will be asked to pick their child up at the end of the school day. The parents or legal guardians will be given information concerning the eradication and control of human host parasites. A student may be readmitted after the school nurse or designee has determined the student no longer has live human host parasites that are transmittable in a school environment.

Each school may conduct screenings of students for human host parasites that are transmittable in a school environment as needed. The screenings shall be conducted in a manner that respects the privacy and confidentiality of each student.

Head Lice

The following procedures will be used with students to address head lice:

- Screening for lice may occur when a student shows signs of itching and scratching, when
 a student has had exposure to a sibling or another child with head lice, or when parents or
 their child make a self-referral.
- Three (3) non-related cases of head lice in a classroom within ten (10) consecutive days will require all students in the classroom to be screened by the following school day.
- The parent or guardian of a student found with head lice will be asked to pick up their child. The parent or guardian will be given information concerning the eradication and control of head lice. A student may be readmitted after the school nurse or designee has determined the student no longer has live head lice.
- Parents who identify head lice on their child at home are to complete treatment prior to coming to school. Parents should notify the school of their child's condition so that appropriate action can be taken at school.
- The day of initial treatment for head lice will be an excused absence. After the first day, other absences will be covered under the regular attendance policy. Parents whose child accumulates excessive absences for head lice may be reported to the White County truancy officer.

 Each school may conduct screenings of students for head lice as needed. The screenings shall be conducted in a manner that respects the privacy and confidentiality of each student.

Wellness Policy

The health and physical well-being of students directly affects their ability to learn. Childhood obesity increases the incidence of adult diseases occurring in children and adolescents such as heart disease, high blood pressure and diabetes. The increased risk carries forward into their adulthood. Research indicates that a healthy diet and regular physical activity can help prevent obesity and the diseases resulting from it. It is understood that the eating habits and exercise patterns of students cannot be magically changed overnight, but at the same time, the Board of Directors believes it is necessary to strive to create a culture in our schools that consistently promotes good nutrition and physical activity.

The problem of obesity and inactivity is a public health issue. The Board of Directors is keenly aware that it has taken years for this problem to reach its present level and will similarly take years to correct. The responsibility for addressing the problem lies not only with the schools and the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) but with the community and its residents, organizations, and agencies. Therefore, the District shall enlist the support of the larger community to find solutions that improve the health and physical activity of our students.

Wellness Committee

To enhance the district's efforts to improve the health of our students, a School Nutrition and Physical Activity Advisory Committee (SNPAAC) shall be formed. It shall be structured in a way that ensures age-appropriate recommendations that correlate to the District's grade configurations are made. The SNPAAC shall have the powers and responsibilities delegated to it by statute and Rule and are incorporated into this policy by reference. The overarching goal of the committee shall be to promote student wellness by monitoring how well the District is doing at implementing this policy. The SNPAAC shall use modules 1, 2, 3, 4, 10, and 11 of the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) School Health Index as a basis for annually assessing each school's progress toward meeting the requirements of this policy. The results of the annual assessment shall be included in the school district's support plan (SDSP), provided to each school's principal, and reported to the board. Goals and objectives for nutrition and physical activity shall also be included in the SDSP.

The SNPAAC shall be made up of Individuals from the following groups to the extent interested persons from each group desire to be included in the development, implementation, and periodic review of the District's wellness policy:

- Members of the District's Board of Directors;
- School administrators;
- School nutrition personnel;
- Teacher organizations;
- Teachers of physical education;

- Parents;
- Students;
- Professional groups (such as nurses);
- School health professionals (such as school nurses, school counselors, and social workers); and
- Community members.

The SNPAAC shall provide written recommendations to the District's Child Nutrition Director concerning menus and other foods sold in the school cafeteria. Such recommendations shall be based, at least in part, on the information the Committee receives from the District on the requirements and standards of the National School Lunch Program and from menus for the National School Lunch Program and other food sold in the school cafeteria on a quarterly basis.

The SNPAAC will meet at least quarterly. Meeting dates for the SNPAAC will be placed on the District's calendar.

School Health Coordinator

To assist the SNPAAC in ensuring that the District fulfills the requirements of this policy, a District level School Health Coordinator (Designated District Official) shall be appointed. In addition, a school-level School Health Coordinator shall be appointed who shall be responsible for assisting the District level School Health Coordinator in ensuring that each school fulfills the requirements of this policy.

Goals

In its efforts to improve the school nutrition environment, promote student health, and reduce childhood obesity, the District will adhere to the DESE Rules Governing Nutrition and Physical Activity Standards And Body Mass Index For Age Assessment Protocols. To promote nutrition, physical activity, and other school-based activities that will improve student wellness, the District, working with the SNPAAC, has established the following goals:

- 1. Implement a grade-appropriate nutrition education program that will develop an awareness of and appreciation for nutrition and physical activity throughout the curriculum;
- 2. Enforce existing physical education requirements and engage students in healthy levels of vigorous physical activity;
- 3. Strive to improve the quality of physical education curricula and increase the training of physical education teachers;
- 4. Follow the Arkansas Physical Education and Health Education Frameworks in grades K-12;
- 5. Not use food or beverages as rewards for academic, classroom, or sports performances;
- 6. Establish class schedules and bus routes that do not directly or indirectly restrict meal access:
- 7. Provide students with ample time to eat their meals in pleasant cafeteria and dining areas;
- 8. Abide by the current allowable food and beverage portion standards;

- 9. Meet or exceed the more stringent of Arkansas' or the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) Nutrition Standards for reimbursable meals and a la carte foods served in the cafeteria;7
- 10. Restrict access to competitive foods as required by law and Rule
- 11. Conform new and/or renewed vending contracts to the content restrictions contained in the Rules and reduce district dependence on profits from the sale of competitive foods.
- 12. Provide professional development to all district staff on the topics of nutrition and/or physical activity;
- 13. Utilize the School Health Index available from the CDC to assess how well the district is doing at implementing this wellness policy and at promoting a healthy environment for its students.

Food and Beverages Outside of the District's Food Service Programs

The District will ensure that drinking water is available without charge to all students throughout the school, including, but not limited to, in the District's food service areas. Students are allowed to drink water in class.

All food and beverages sold to students on school campus during the school day by school administrators or school non-licensed or licensed staff (principals, coaches, teachers, club sponsors, etc.); students or student groups; parents or parent groups; or another person, company, or organization associated with the school shall meet the Federal Smart Snacks requirements and Arkansas Nutrition Standards at a minimum These restrictions include, but are not limited to, food and beverages sold in vending venues (machines, ice chests, cabinets) in school stores or as part of school fundraisers.

All food and beverages provided, but not sold, to students on the school campus during the school day by school administrators or school non-licensed or licensed staff (principals, coaches, teachers, club sponsors, etc.); students or student groups; parents or parent groups; or another person, company, or organization associated with the school shall meet the Federal Smart Snacks requirements and Arkansas Nutrition Standards at a minimum. These restrictions include but are not limited to, food and beverages provided in vending venues (machines, ice chests, cabinets) in school stores or as part of school fundraisers.

Up to a maximum of nine (9) times per school year, school administration may schedule school-wide events where food and beverages provided to students are not required to meet the Federal Smart Snacks standards during the scheduled time. The schedule of the events shall be by school, approved by the principal, and shall be part of the annual school calendar.

Food and beverages outside of the District's food service programs may not be sold, served, or provided to students in the District's food service areas during meal times.

Elementary students shall not have in-school access to vending machines.

The District does not place nutrition restrictions on food or beverages brought from home that are intended for personal consumption only.

Advertising

In accordance with the USDA regulations, oral, written, or graphic statements made for the purpose of promoting the sale of a food or beverage product that are made by the producer, manufacturer, seller, or any other entity with a commercial interest in the product shall only be permitted on the school campus during the school day if they meet or exceed the Federal Smart Snacks standards. This restriction does not apply to:

- Materials used for educational purposes in the classroom, including, but not limited to
 - The use of advertisements as a media education tool; or
 - o Designing and implementing the health or nutrition curriculum;
- Clothing, apparel, or other personal items used by students and staff;
- The packaging of products brought from home for personal consumption; and
- Currently existing advertisements on school property, including but not limited to, the
 exterior of vending machines, posters, menu boards, coolers, trash cans, cups used for
 beverage dispensing, and other food service equipment; however, all future contracts and
 replacement items shall meet the Federal Smart Snacks standards.

Adoption Awareness Instruction

The District shall provide any information provided to students on the District's adoption awareness instruction that was in written form to the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to a pregnant student who is enrolled in the District.

Community Engagement

- A. The District will work with the SNPAAC to:
- B. Encourage participation in extracurricular programs that support physical activity, such as walk-to-school programs, biking clubs, after-school walking, etc.;
- C. Encourage the implementation of developmentally appropriate physical activity in after-school childcare programs for participating children;
- D. Promote the reduction of time youth spend engaged in sedentary activities such as watching television and playing video games; and
- E. Encourage the development of and participation in family-oriented, community-based physical activity programs.

The District will annually inform the public:

- Of the web address where the policy is located;
- Of any changes made to this policy since the previous year;
- Of the health and wellness priority goals in the District's SDSP;

- That a printed copy of the policy may be picked up at the District's central office; and
- The amounts and specific sources of funds received and expenditures made from competitive food and beverage contracts.

Assessment of District's Wellness Policy

At least once every three years, with input from the SNPACC, the District shall assess both the District as a whole and individual schools' status in regard to the implementation and compliance of the goals of this policy, including the health and wellness goals in the District's SDSP. The assessment shall be based, at least in part, on:

- The extent to which District schools are in compliance with this policy;
- The extent to which this policy compares to other model local school wellness policies;
- The annual reviews of this policy based on modules 1, 2, 3, 4, 10, and 11 of the CDC's School Health Index; and
- A description of the progress made in attaining the goals of this policy.

During the years the assessment occurs, the assessment results shall be reported to the public, including parents, students, and other members of the community, as part of the district's annual report to the public.

The District will update the wellness policy based on the results from the three (3) year assessment.

District Website

The District will place on its website:

- The name, District phone number, and District email address of the District Level School Health Coordinator;
- The names, district phone numbers, and district email addresses of the School Level School Health Coordinators;
- The names of the members of the SNPAAC;
- Meeting dates for the SNPAAC;
- Information on how community members may get involved with the SNPAAC;
- A copy of this policy;
- A copy of the annual review of this policy based on modules 1, 2, 3, 4, 10, and 11 of the CDC's School Health Index; and
- A copy of the most recent three (3) year assessment of this policy.

ELECTRONICS

District Website

The Beebe School District shall maintain a web page to provide information about its schools, students, and activities to the community. This policy is adopted to promote continuity between the different pages on the district website by establishing guidelines for their construction and operation.

The Beebe School District website shall be used for educational purposes only. It shall not create either a public or a limited public forum. Any link from any page on the District's site may only be to another educational site. The website shall not use "cookies" to collect or retain identifying information about visitors to its website nor shall any such information be given to "third parties." Any data collected shall be used solely for the purpose of monitoring site activity to help the district improve the usefulness of the site to its visitors.

Each school's web page shall be under the supervision of the school's Web Master, and the District's website shall be under the supervision of the District's Web Master. They shall have the responsibility for ensuring that web pages meet appropriate levels of academic standards and are in compliance with these guidelines and any additional administrative regulations. To this end, the District and School Web Masters shall have the authority to review and edit any proposed changes to web pages to ensure their compliance with this policy. All such editing shall be viewpoint-neutral.

District and school web pages shall also conform to the following guidelines::

- 1. All pages on the District's website may contain advertising and links only to educational sources.
- 2. The District's home page shall contain links to existing individual schools' web pages, and the school home pages shall link back to the District's home page. The District's home page may also include links to educational extracurricular organization's web pages, which shall also link back to the District's home page.
- 3. Photos along with the student's name shall only be posted on web pages after receiving written permission from the student's parents or the student if the student is over the age of eighteen (18).
- 4. The District's web server shall host the Beebe District's website.
- 5. No web page on the District website may contain public message boards or chat rooms.
- 6. All web pages on the District website shall be constructed to download in a reasonable length of time.
- 7. The District's home page shall contain a link to a privacy policy notice, which must be placed in a clear and prominent place and manner.
- 8. With the exception of students who may retain the copyright of material they have created that is displayed on a District web page, all materials displayed on the District website are owned by Beebe School District.

- 9. Included on the District's website shall be:
 - a. Local and state revenue sources;
 - b. Administrator and teacher salary and benefit expenditure data;
 - c. District balances, including legal balances and building fund balances;
 - d. Minutes of regular and special meetings of the school board;
 - e. The district's budget for the ensuing year;
 - f. A financial breakdown of monthly expenditures of the district;
 - g. The salary schedule for all employees includes extended contracts and supplementary pay amounts;
 - h. Current contract information (not including social security numbers, telephone numbers, personal addresses, or signatures) for all district employees:
 - i. The district's annual budget;
 - j. The annual statistical report of the district;
 - k. The district's personnel policies.; and
 - 1. The annual School Performance Report;
 - m. School-Level Improvement Plans;
 - n. The School District Support Plan;
 - o. Student discipline policies;
 - p. Student services plan;
 - q. The District financial policies;
 - r. Student handbooks;
 - s. The Annual Report to the Public;
 - t. The parent, family, and community engagement plan;
 - u. The Immunization waiver report from Policy 4.57—IMMUNIZATIONS;
 - v. The total amount of State funds used for teacher salaries;

The information and data required for items A through K in 9 above shall be the actual data for the previous two (2) school years and the projected data for the current school year.

Before July 15 of each year, the District shall post on its website the following information:

- The dyslexia intervention programs used during the previous school year that were specifically responsive to assisting students with dyslexia;
- The number of students during the previous school year who received dyslexia intervention; and
- The total number of students identified with dyslexia during the previous school year.

The District and school webmasters are responsible for ensuring all District webpages meet the required standards to be accessible to individuals with disabilities.

Beebe School Technology for Parent Use

Students perform better academically when parents communicate their expectations by closely monitoring student progress. Also, many students desire to keep a close watch on their grades as

the year passes. In addition to parent-teacher conferencing, students and parents can obtain academic information in two different ways:

- A. Students and parents may access the Home Access Center (Gradebook) via the internet at the Beebe Public School's home page. The home page address is www.beebebadger.org.
 - The student's ID number is located on the student's schedule.
 - The student's password can be reset by the user or by contacting the school's
 office.

Network User Policy/Internet Safety/ School Issued Electronic Policy

Section I: Definition

For the purposes of this policy, "electronic device" means anything that can be used to transmit or capture images, sound, or data.

The District makes electronic device(s) and/or electronic device Internet access available to students to permit students to perform research and to allow students to learn how to use electronic device technology. The use of district electronic devices is for educational and/or instructional purposes only. Student use of the electronic device(s) shall only be as directed or assigned by staff or teachers; students are advised that they enjoy no expectation of privacy in any aspect of their electronic device use, including email, and that monitoring of student electronic device use is continuous.

If a student owes the school a piece of equipment or money from an invoice for damage/loss of equipment, the student will **NOT** receive another school-issued electronic device.

Before a student receives his/her Chromebook, charger, or hotspot, the student and a parent/ legal guardian (if the student is under the age of eighteen [18]) must read and sign the signature page of the Student Internet/School Issued Electronic Device Use Agreement as well as the Beebe Public School Student Handbook. These documents contain acceptable use policies and guidelines that students **MUST** follow. **Also**, if a student owes the school a piece of equipment or money from an invoice for damage/loss of equipment, the student will **NOT** receive another school-issued device. The current version of the Internet and Student Internet/ School Issued Device Use Agreement is incorporated by reference into board policy and is considered part of the student handbook.

Students are expected to abide by the rules and behavioral expectations both at home and at school.

Section II: Technology Protection Measures

The District is dedicated to protecting students from materials on the Internet or the World Wide Web that are inappropriate, obscene, or otherwise harmful to minors1; therefore, it is the policy of the District to protect each electronic device with Internet filtering software2 that is designed

to prevent students from accessing such materials. For purposes of this policy, "harmful to minors" means any picture, image, graphic image file, or other visual depiction that:

- A. taken as a whole and with respect to minors, appeals to a prurient interest in nudity, sex, or excretion;
- B. depicts, describes, or represents, in a patently offensive way with respect to what is suitable for minors, an actual or simulated sexual act or sexual contact, actual or simulated normal or perverted sexual acts, or a lewd exhibition of the genitals; and
- C. taken as a whole, lacks serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific value as to minors.

Section III: Internet Use and Safety

The District is dedicated to ensuring that students are capable of using the Internet in a safe and responsible manner. The District uses technology protection measures to aid in student safety and shall also educate students on appropriate online behavior and Internet use, including, but not limited to:

- Interacting with other individuals on social networking websites and in chat rooms
- Cyberbullying awareness
- Cyberbullying response

Section IV: Misuse of Internet

The opportunity to use the District's technology to access the internet is a privilege and not a right. Students who misuse electronic devices or Internet access in any way will face disciplinary action, as specified in the student handbook and/or Internet safety and electronic device use agreement. Misuse of the Internet includes:

- The disabling or bypassing of security procedures, compromising, attempting to compromise, or defeating the district's technology network security or Internet filtering software
- The altering of data without authorization
- Disclosing, using, or disseminating passwords, whether the passwords are the student's own or those of another student/faculty/community member
- Divulging personally identifying information about himself/herself or anyone else either
 on the internet or in an email unless it is a necessary and integral part of the student's
 academic endeavor. Personally identifying information includes full names, addresses,
 and phone numbers
- Using electronic devices for any illegal activity, including electronic device hacking and copyright or intellectual property law violations
- Using electronic devices to access or create sexually explicit or pornographic text or graphics
- Using electronic devices to violate any other policy or is contrary to the internet safety and electronic device use agreement

Section V: Proper Respect for Copyright

In an effort to encourage the proper respect for copyright on the Internet, the following guide for staff and student users is provided:

- A. If the user did not create a non-public domain written work, piece of art, photograph, or music or obtain distribution rights to it, the user does own it.
- B. If the user does not own the non-public domain material, the user may not copy or distribute it to others.
- C. The author or owner of a document or other types of information must explicitly relinquish rights in order to: place work in the "public domain' and thereby make copying/distribution without specific authorization possible.
- D. Fair use allows the user to copy small portions of a work the user does not own without permission, but only for criticism, education, news reporting, and the like.
- E. When in doubt, the user should ask the creator or owner of the material for permission to use the work
- F. The user understands that Freeware is free; however, before downloading and using the Freeware, the user must honor any statements that place restrictions upon the use of the Freeware and limitations on changes in the program code.
- G. The user understands that Shareware may be used on a trial basis. However, the use of Shareware (including the sharing with others) carries with it the obligation to pay the specified price by some specified time in the future. Likewise, before downloading and using the Shareware, the user must honor any statements that place restrictions upon the use of the Shareware and limitations on charges in the program code.

Use of Copyrighted Works in Digital Transmissions

The District recognizes that advances in technology have resulted in the need for guidelines for the use of copyrighted materials that are transmitted to students through a digital network. While the requirements to use a copyrighted work in a digital transmission have many similarities to those required to use a copyrighted work in a face-to-face classroom, Federal law places several additional requirements on the District's teachers, IT staff, and librarians for the use of a digitally transmitted copyrighted work. The District is dedicated to providing the tools necessary for teachers, IT staff, and librarians to meet these additional Federal requirements.

The District shall make sure the server where materials are stored is secured, whether the server is located locally or remotely. (See Board Policy 5.8)

Section VI: Internet and Computer System Service Account

The Internet Account Assignment Form shall be used to provide a record of the assignments of user account names and ID numbers. This applies to all users regardless of their individual current Internet use status.

The Network User Contract Permission Form must be completed and turned in to the office before an account will be assigned and access to the Internet is provided through the district's access provider.

Section VII:

With regard to all matters described or implied within the Beebe School District's Network User Policy document, the Board shall follow its current general policies for due process relative to students and staff. The primary purpose of enforcing these policies shall be to maintain an atmosphere of a wholesome learning environment for both students and staff and to promote personal responsibility and professionalism. The Board recognizes and hereby acts responsibly relative to existing federal and state laws that apply to the areas addressed in this policy document.

Penalties

Any student who does not abide by the above policy will be subject to one of the following penalties:

- 1. Internet and electronic device privileges will be revoked and morning, afternoon, or lunch detention or Saturday detention will be assigned.
- 2. Internet and electronic device privileges will be revoked, and in-school suspension will be assigned.
- 3. Internet and electronic device privileges will be revoked, and out-of-school suspension will be assigned.

Possession and Use of Personal Electronic Devices

Students are responsible for conducting themselves in a manner that respects the rights of others. Possession and use of any electronic device, whether district or student-owned, that interferes with a positive, orderly classroom environment does not respect the rights of others and is expressly forbidden.

To protect the security of statewide assessments, no electronic device, as defined in this policy, shall be accessible by a student at any time during assessment administration unless specifically permitted by a student's IEP or individual health plan¹; this means that when a student is taking an AESAA assessment, the student shall not have his/her electronic device in his/her possession. Any student violating this provision shall be subject to this policy's disciplinary provisions. As used in this policy, "electronic devices" means anything that can be used to transmit or capture images, sound, or data. The prohibition in this policy does not extend to the electronic device the District provides the student for the student's use during assessment administration to the extent the student is using the district-provided device to complete the assessment.

Misuse of electronic devices includes, but is not limited to:

- 1. Using electronic devices during class time in any manner other than specifically permitted by the classroom instructor;
- 2. Permitting any audible sound to come from the device when not being used for reason #1 above;
- 3. Engaging in academic dishonesty, including cheating, intentionally plagiarizing, wrongfully giving or receiving help during an academic examination, or wrongfully obtaining test copies or scores;
- 4. Using the device to take photographs in locker rooms or bathrooms;
- 5. Creating, sending, sharing, viewing, receiving, or possessing an indecent visual depiction of oneself or another person.
- 6. Social media posts created on or off campus that are related to school activities, students, and/or staff and create a disruption to school.
- 7. Taking pictures or recordings of other students or staff members without their permission.

Use of an electronic device is permitted to the extent it is approved in a student's IEP, 504 plan, Individual Health Plan (IHP) for health reasons, or it is needed in an emergency that threatens the safety of students, staff, or other individuals. Before and after normal school hours, possession of electronic devices is permitted on the school campus. The use of such devices at school-sponsored functions outside the regular school day is permitted to the extent and within the limitations allowed by the event or activity the student is attending.

The student and/or the student's parents or guardians expressly assume any risk associated with students owning or possessing electronic devices. Students misusing electronic devices shall have them confiscated. Confiscated devices may be picked up at the school's administration office by the student's parents or guardians. Students have no right of privacy as to the content contained on any electronic devices that have been confiscated. A search of a confiscated device shall meet the reasonable individualized suspicion requirements of Policy 4.32—SEARCH, SEIZURE, AND INTERROGATIONS.

Students who use school-issued cell phones and/or computers for non-school purposes, except as permitted by the district's Internet/computer use policy, shall be subject to discipline, up to and including suspension or expulsion. Students are forbidden from using school-issued cell phones while driving any vehicle at any time. Violation may result in disciplinary action up to and including expulsion.

No student shall use any wireless communication device for the purposes of browsing the internet, composing or reading emails and text messages, or making or answering phone calls while driving a motor vehicle that is in motion and on school property. Violation may result in disciplinary action up to and including suspension.

FOOD SERVICE

Beebe Public Schools' cafeterias provide a nutritious breakfast and lunch for the students. These are provided at a minimal charge. Parents may apply for free or reduced-price meals by completing an application and returning it to the school office, cafeteria, or district central office.

Payment Procedures

Parents are encouraged to pay for student meals at least one week in advance but may be paid daily, weekly, or monthly. Payments may be given to the classroom teacher, the school office or paid in the cafeteria at breakfast and/or lunchtime, or paid online at www.EZSchoolPay.com (with a small transaction fee). Parents may call or email the cafeteria manager or child nutrition director to check a student's account balance at any time. EZSchoolPay.com may also be used to keep track of a student's account balance and account history with no fee to the parent.

Student Meal Charges

Policy

The district does not provide credit for students to charge for meals, a la carte, or other food and beverage items available for purchase in the school food service areas. Meals, a la carte, or other food and beverage items may be purchased by either providing payment for the items at the time of receipt or by having a prepaid account with the district that may be charged for the items. Parents or students choosing to do so may pay in advance for meals, a la carte, or other food and beverages through any of the following methods:

- Submitting cash or check payment in the cafeteria, school office, or classroom.
- Depositing funds through the district's online service at <u>www.EZSchoolPav.com</u>

Free Breakfast

In accordance with A.C.A. § 6-18-722, a student shall be provided one (1) breakfast at no cost during each school day upon the student's request regardless of whether the student qualifies for a federally funded free or reduced-price meal.

Procedures

- 1. In accordance with Arkansas law, the district allows students whose accounts do not have enough funds to purchase a meal to receive an unpaid reimbursable meal at no charge.
- 2. At the beginning of each school year, each student will be provided a printed copy of the district's meal policy as well as printed information regarding the procedures and various options for meal payment at their particular school site, one of which is an online option. All students will also be provided with an application for free and reduced-price meals.

These documents may be included as part of the student handbook and in a separate information packet.

- 3. Once per week, automated phone calls will be made to the parent/guardian of each student who owes lunch charges in any amount.
- 4. Once per week, balance reminders will be sent via email to parents with a valid email address on file.
- 5. Refunds of positive account balances may be processed at the end of each school year, when/if a student is approved for free meals, or upon student withdrawal from the district. A request for a refund form signed by the parent/guardian must be submitted to the Child Nutrition Department for any refunds. Unclaimed funds for students leaving the district must be requested within 30 calendar days after the end of the school year during which the student left. Unclaimed funds will then become the property of the Beebe Public Schools Child Nutrition Program.
- 6. Meal charge collection will be included in the office checklist for any student who transfers out of the district or graduates, and requests for payment of outstanding meal charges will be made at the time of withdrawal.

Grades Pre K – 8:

- 1. Once per week, on a day chosen by the individual school's Child Nutrition Manager in conjunction with office personnel, meal charge notices will be printed and sent home with all students who owe any amount. A list of charges will be provided to each building principal prior to parent/teacher conferences. Charge slips will also be made available to parents at this time.
- 2. Charging of individual / a la carte items such as bottled beverages and other "extra" items will not be permitted unless a written or emailed note from the parent is on file and there is a consistent history of prepayment.

Grades 9-12

- 1. Once per month, on a day chosen by the individual school's Child Nutrition Manager in conjunction with office personnel, meal charge notices will be printed and sent home with all students who owe any amount. A list of charges will be provided to each building principal prior to parent/teacher conferences. Charge slips will also be made available to parents at this time.
- 2. Charging of individual / a la carte items such as bottled beverages, snacks, and other "extra" items will not be permitted in any situation.

Revised - June 2019

School Meal Modifications

The district only provides modified meal components on menus to accommodate students with a disability. A parent/guardian wishing to request dietary accommodations for their student with a disability must submit to the district's Director of Child Nutrition a medical statement completed by a State licensed healthcare professional, which includes:

- Physicians, including those licensed by:
 - o The Arkansas State Medical Board;
 - o The Arkansas State Board of Chiropractic Examiners (Chiropractors);
 - o The Arkansas Board of Podiatric Medicine (Podiatrists);
- Nurse Practitioners (APRNs in family or pediatric practice with prescriptive authority);
- Physician Assistants (PAs who work in collaborative practice with a physician); and
- Dentists.

The medical statement should include:

- 1. A description of the student's disability that is sufficient to understand how the disability restricts the student's diet;
- 2. An explanation of what must be done to accommodate the disability, which may include:
 - a. Food(s) to avoid or restrict;
 - b. Food(s) to substitute;
 - c. Caloric modifications; or
 - d. The substitution of a liquid nutritive formula.

If the information provided in the medical statement is unclear or lacks sufficient detail, the district's Director of Child Nutrition1 shall request additional information so that a proper and safe meal can be provided.

When choosing an appropriate approach to accommodate a student's disability, the District will consider the expense and efficiency of the requested accommodations. The District will offer a reasonable modification that effectively accommodates the child's disability and provides equal opportunity to participate in or benefit from the program, which may include a generic version of a product.

Parents may file a grievance regarding the request for accommodations with the District's 504 Coordinator3, who will schedule a hearing on the grievance to be held as soon as possible. The 504 coordinator shall provide a copy of the procedures governing the hearing, including that the parent has the right to be accompanied by counsel, and the appeal process upon request.

The district will not prepare meals outside the normal menu to accommodate a family's religious or personal health beliefs.

Rules Governing Nutrition in Arkansas Public Schools

Parent Rights – This policy does not restrict what parents may provide for their own child's lunch or Snacks. Parents may provide foods of minimal nutritional value or candy items for their own child's consumption, but they may not provide restricted items to other children at school. **School Events** – Students may be given any food and/or beverage items during the school day for up to nine (9) different events each school year to be determined and approved by school officials. These items may not be given during meals in the areas where school meals are being served or consumed.

No food or beverage shall be used as a reward for academic, classroom, or sports performance and/or activities. For exceptions, contact the schools.

Arkansas Food Code: 3-201.11 All foods brought to school must be prepared in a commercial food service establishment.

TRANSPORTATION

Policies for Students Riding School Buses

Students are under the supervision of the bus drivers and are responsible to the driver for their conduct.

The District's Student Code of Conduct applies to students while traveling to and from school or to and from a school activity to the same extent as if the students were on school grounds. Appropriate disciplinary actions may be taken against commuting students who violate the District's Student Code of Conduct.

The preceding paragraph also applies to student conduct while on school buses. Students shall be instructed in safe riding practices. The driver of a school bus shall not operate the school bus until every passenger is seated. In addition to other disciplinary measures provided for violations of the District's Student Code of Conduct, the student's bus transportation privileges may be suspended or terminated for violations of the Student Code of Conduct related to bus behavior.

Students are eligible to receive district bus transportation if they meet the following requirements.

Bus drivers are to report student disrespect or misbehavior to the principal. Students thus reported by the bus driver will be subject to disciplinary action, including removal from the bus for indefinite periods. Bus regulations are as follows:

- Be at the bus stop at the scheduled time. Stand back about ten feet from the bus stop and
 wait until the door is opened before moving closer to the bus. Do not play on highways or
 roads. If you miss the bus, do not attempt to hitchhike a ride or walk to or from school.
- If a pupil must cross the highway to enter the bus, wait until the bus has come to a complete stop and the driver has signaled you to cross the highway.
- While loading or unloading, enter or leave the bus in an orderly and quick manner.
- While riding the bus, students are under the supervision of the driver at all times.
- Students are expected to conduct themselves in a manner that will not distract the
 attention of the driver or disturb other riders on the bus (which indicates keeping your
 hands to yourself, attending to your own matters, let other pupils alone, and being
 reasonably quiet).
- No knives, sharp objects of any kind, or firearms are allowed. Neither pets nor other living animals, etc., are allowed.
- Students will remain in assigned seats at all times.
- Pupils must keep seated while the bus is in motion
- You are not to tamper with any of the safety devices, such as door latches, fire extinguishers, etc.
- Pupils are not to put their hands, arms, heads, or bodies out of the window. Do not yell at anyone outside the bus. Do not throw any objects out the bus window.
- Students are not to deface the bus or any school property. Do not throw paper, food, or any other object on the floor of the bus. Do not eat on the bus. No smoking, dipping, or chewing while at the bus stop or riding a school bus. Keep the aisle of the bus clear of books, lunches, coats, etc.
- High school and Junior High students will catch the afternoon bus at the Bus Rack.
- Do not ask the driver to let you off the bus up town, at the store, to get mail out of the box, or any place except at your regular stop.
- Pupils who must cross the road after leaving the bus in the afternoon must go to a point on the shoulder of the road ten feet in front of the bus. Cross the highway only after the driver has signaled you to do so.
- Do not damage road signs or warning signals placed on the highway by the Highway Department.
- All hard materials must be covered, properly secured, and located so as not to block the aisles or exits.
- It is unlawful for any person or persons to threaten, curse, or use abusive language to a school bus driver in the presence of students.
- Riding home with other students is not permitted without a note from the parent or guardian, signed by the building principal, and may be rejected if excessive crowding on the bus occurs.
- No inappropriate use of cell phones (as deemed by administration).
- School policies are in effect on the bus as they are in the classrooms. This is not intended to cover all of the "do's" and "don'ts," but it is a very specific guide.

Penalties ranging from a warning to suspension from school and/or the bus will be applied according to the severity of the offense and at the discretion of the Administrator.

The transportation to and from school of students who have lost their bus transportation privileges is the responsibility of the student's parent or guardian.

Bus Offenses & Consequences (Revised per Board Approval 10/21/24)

- First minor offense 3 days off the bus
- Second minor offense 5 days off the bus
- Third minor offense 10 days off the bus
- Fourth minor offense Off the bus for the semester
- Profanity (not directed at a student or driver) = 5 days off the bus
- Profanity (directed at a student or driver) = 10 days off the bus
- Minor Offense = Out of seat, leaning over seat, destruction of property, general non-compliance
- Major Offense = Fighting/Sexually suggestive behavior
 - o First offense 10 days off the bus
 - Second offense Off the bus for the semester

Student Parking

Student driving on campus is a privilege. In order to keep that privilege, students must meet the following requirements.

- The Students' parking area is located behind the high school building. Students must obtain a parking permit from the office and attach the appropriate tag to their car. The tag MUST BE CLEARLY VISIBLE ON THE REAR VIEW MIRROR OF THE CAR (HANGING TAG) or CLEARLY VISIBLE ON THE FRONT WINDOW (STICKER TAG). Each grade level will be assigned a designated parking area.
- Students will be allowed to park only in designated parking areas. No parking is allowed in front of access gates to the stadium, on side streets, or in any area that is not marked specifically for parking.
- Students are not to drive on campus while talking on a cell phone.
- When students arrive at school, they are to lock their cars and leave the parking lot.
 Students are not allowed to sit in their cars at any time after arriving at school.
 Students are not allowed back in their vehicles until departing school for the academic day.
- Students are not allowed to move their cars during school hours.
- In order to use school parking facilities, each driver must have a valid, unrestricted driver's license.
- Liability insurance is required on all vehicles using the parking area.
- Jr. High students are not allowed to drive automobiles to school.
- Students must drive in a safe and courteous manner at all times. Students who drive motorcycles and are under the age of 18 must wear a helmet.
- Any student cited for a driving violation may experience a loss of driving privileges.

Failure to adhere to any of the above provisions will result in the following penalties:

Consequences

- Option of detention hall or loss of car privileges for one or more days
- Loss of car privileges for one week
- Loss of car privileges for a semester

CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT & SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT

Curriculum Development

Sequential curricula should be developed for each subject area. Curricula are to be aligned with the curriculum frameworks and used to plan instruction leading to student proficiency on Arkansas' content standards. Curricula should be in alignment with the District's vision, mission, goals, and educational philosophy. Student achievement is increased through an integrated curriculum that promotes continuity and growth in skills and knowledge from grade to grade and from school to school. Therefore, the Board desires that unnecessary duplication of work among the various grades and schools be eliminated and that courses of study and their corresponding content guides be coordinated effectively.

The Board of Education is responsible for reviewing and approving all instructional programs offered by the District as well as approving significant changes to courses or course materials before they are implemented. The Superintendent is responsible for making curriculum recommendations.

Each school shall review each curriculum area annually to address the continued relevance, adequacy, and cost-effectiveness of individual courses and instructional programs and to ensure each area is aligned with the current curriculum frameworks and course content standards approved by the State Board of Education.1 Each school's administration shall implement a monitoring process to ensure that the instructional content of each course offered is consistent with the content standards and curriculum frameworks approved by the State Board of Education.

No curriculum or classroom instruction shall be provided on the following topics before grade five (5):

- Sexually explicit materials;
- Sexual reproduction;
- Sexual intercourse;
- Gender identity; or
- Sexual orientation.

Beebe Public Schools Planning for Education

The district and each school in the district shall develop a comprehensive, long-range school improvement plan focused on student achievement. The plan shall be developed with input from staff, parents, community, and students (when appropriate). The purpose of the plan shall be to ensure that all students meet the state assessment standards established by the State Board of Education, as well as student achievement goals established by the District.

The superintendent and administrative staff shall annually review various student assessment data to evaluate the progress the District is making toward attaining goals and objectives identified in this plan. They shall make and submit a report of their findings to the Board, along with the proposal for addressing problem areas. The report shall also be part of the District's annual report to the public and will include an evaluation of student achievement data for students participating in programs funded with specific categorical funding.

The plan shall be reviewed annually and altered to reflect changes in State standards, as well as changes within the District, such as attendance, growth, or discipline; funding; or school climate or alignment considerations.

School Improvement Team

A team structure is officially incorporated into the school-level improvement plan. New school administrators shall receive a description of the teams' purposes and how each team is constituted; In addition, each new administrator shall receive training on methods for effective teams.

All teams shall create work plans for the year, which shall include specific work products for the team to produce. To aid in maintaining the work plan, all teams shall develop an agenda and keep minutes for each meeting. The school principal shall be responsible for maintaining a file of the agendas, work products, and minutes of all teams.

Team meetings shall take place outside of the student instructional day.

Leadership Team

Each school shall have a Leadership Team that consists of members that include:

- 1. The principal;
- 2. The chair of each Instructional Team;
- 3. The school guidance counselor;
- 4. An instructional facilitator; and
- 5. Other key professionals designated by the principal.

The Leadership Team shall meet for a minimum of one (1) hour at least two (2) times each month during the school year. Based on school performance data and aggregated classroom observation data, the Leadership Team shall make decisions and recommendations on

curriculum, instruction, and professional development; in addition, the Leadership Team shall serve as a conduit of communication to the rest of the faculty and staff.

Instructional Teams:

The teachers in each school shall belong to an Instructional Team. The instructional teams shall be organized by:

- A. Grade level;
- B. Grade level cluster; and/or
- C. Subject area.

Each Instructional Team shall appoint a chair for the school year who shall conduct the team meetings and shall be part of the school Leadership Team. Each Instructional Team shall meet for a minimum of forty-five (45) minutes at least two (2) times a month during the school year.3

The purpose of the Instructional Teams is to develop and refine units of instruction and review student learning data.

Beebe School District Opt Out Form Student Random Drug Testing Grades 7-12

The Beebe School District recognizes that drug abuse is a significant health problem for students, detrimentally affecting overall health, behavior, learning ability, reflexes, and the total development of each individual. The Beebe Board of Education is determined to help students by providing another option for them to say "NO". Drug abuse includes, but is not limited to, the use of illegal drugs, alcohol and the misuse of legal drugs and medication.

The Beebe School District has implemented a random drug testing policy. This policy is in place for any students in grades 7-12 enrolled in Beebe School District. By signing the student handbook, grades 7-12, you are agreeing to the Drug Testing Policy. If a parent or guardian wishes for their student **NOT** to participate in the random drug testing, this "Opt Out" form is available and must be filled out prior to a student being pulled for testing. This form is available in the student handbook for grades 7-12, on the Beebe website, and in the offices of grades 7-12.

By completing this form, you are agreeing that your student **will not** participate in any activity that meets the guidelines of the Arkansas Activities Association and/or is sponsored by the Beebe School District. Such activities may include but are **not limited to:**

Football	Trap Shooting	Mathletes	Basketball	Band
Golf	Track	Beta Club	Drivers Ed.	Choir
Cheerleading	FBLA	Student Council	FCCLA	FFA
Volleyball	Foreign Lang.	Cross Country	Skills USA	FCA
Newspaper	Yearbook	Softball	Soccer	FTA
Science Club	Wrestling	Youth Alive	ROTC	Key Club
Special Olympics	Tennis	Library Club	Dance	Anime
Rodeo Club	Drama Club	Student Driver	Quiz Bowl	Chess Club
Bowling	DND	Baseball	HOSA	
Prom/Dances				
I (please print your name)		wish for my student (print		
student's name) to NOT participate in the random drug testing. By				
signing this form, I realize that my student will not be eligible for any activities that meet the guidelines				
of the Arkansas Activities Association and/or are sponsored by the Beebe School District.				
Parent Signature:		Date:		
Student Signature:				

Beebe Schools Alternative Education Programs



All programs under the Beebe Alternative Education umbrella follow the Beebe School District Student Handbook policies for each grade level. This provides a detailed description of each program as well as program-specific guidelines and rules. Please keep in mind that it is the goal of Beebe Alternative Education to meet the needs of students who require an alternative setting or placement to meet their educational needs.

Programs

- 1. Oasis Center
- 2. Oasis Rooms (K-6)
- 3. Dream Academy
- 4. Connect Care
- 5. Virtual Academy

Oasis Center

The Oasis Center is designed for students in grades 7-12. Good candidates for admission are students who meet at least two of the following criteria.

- Ongoing, persistent lack of gaining proficiency in Math and English
- Abuse: Mental, Physical, or Sexual
- Frequent relocation of residency
- Homelessness
- Inadequate emotional support
- Mental/Physical Health problems
- Personal or Family problems or situations
- Recurring absenteeism
- At risk of dropping out of school
- Disruptive behavior

Placement in the Oasis Center is not punitive. It is also not intended to be a long-term solution to any of the issues listed above. However, with time and support, students are expected to transition back to their referring campus or seek admission into the Dream Academy.

Classrooms

Students at the Oasis Center will be grouped with age and grade-level peers in one of three small groups. The groups will rotate between in-person learning for Math, Science, History, and English as well as dedicated times to work on their electives. Electives for the Oasis Center are delivered with the help of an instructor/facilitator and utilizing the Edmentum online platform. Students are expected to attend every day they are able and participate in all scheduled rotations.

Cell Phones

The following is provided as a reminder from the Beebe School District handbook:

Junior High and High School students assigned to the Oasis Center will turn in their cellphones to be locked up in a secure device upon their arrival after 8:05 a.m. Cell phones will remain locked up until the student leaves for the day or at 3:15 p.m.. Refusal to turn in cell phones will result in the following:

1st offense — 3 days of Out of School Suspension

2nd offense —5 days of Out of School Suspension

3rd offense —10 days of Out of School Suspension

4th offense — Possible recommendation for expulsion from school

Level System

The Beebe Oasis Center Level System is crafted as a way to keep track of a student's progress toward returning to their referring campus. There are five levels and students are eligible to begin the process of returning to their referring campus at level four. This process is individualized and may look different for each student. The process will include a progression that begins with a single class back at their referring school. If the student continues to make progress and receive positive feedback from their referring school, the student will move to half days at their referring school. Finally, the student will be eligible for a full return if the student continues to make progress, makes it to level five, and has the support of the referring school. The timeline for this process is varied, but it usually takes at least nine weeks to get to level four. Then, on average the one period day step lasts at least four weeks, followed by four weeks for the half day step.

Students receive points for their efforts in the classroom, during breaks, and at lunch. They can earn up to 10 points a day for their behavior and meeting their goals.

Please note: The level system is an integral part of returning to the referring school, but it isn't the only criterion. Students will have two goals on their action plans and success in both areas is required for returning to their referring schools.

Student Action Plans

Student Action Plans serve as an individual roadmap for a student's return to their referring school. Students will assess their present level of performance in the following areas: Academic, Behavioral, Career, and social. These plans are reviewed every 90 days by Oasis staff and a report is sent home to parents with each student's report card.

Related Services

The Oasis Center provides space for all related services including, but not limited to physical therapy, occupational therapy, counseling, probation officers, DHS workers, speech, and any other services that a qualifying student may need.

Oasis Rooms (K-6)

The Oasis Rooms are limited to 10 students and students may be referred for meeting two of the following criteria:

- Ongoing, persistent lack of gaining proficiency in Math and English
- Abuse: Mental, Physical, or Sexual
- Frequent relocation of residency
- Homelessness
- Inadequate emotional support
- Mental/Physical Health problems
- Personal or Family problems or situations
- Recurring absenteeism
- Disruptive behavior

Placement in an Oasis Classroom should not be seen as a punishment. It is also not intended to be a long term solution to any of the issues listed above. However, with time and support students are expected to transition back to their referring classroom.

Student Action Plans

Students placed in an Oasis Classroom, will be eligible for re-entry to their referring classrooms based on the completion of the goals outlined in their Student Action Plans. Students may return in various stages including, but not limited to beginning with pullout/activities/electives and grade level recess. The timeline for re-entry is flexible and will be based on progress and accomplishments in the classroom.

Student Action Plans serve as an individual roadmap for a student's return to their referring school. Students will assess their present level of performance in the following areas: academic, behavioral, career, and social. These plans are reviewed every 90 days by Oasis Classroom staff and a report is sent home to parents with each student's report card.

Dream Academy

Students accepted into the Dream Academy are at least in the 11th grade and meet at least two of the following criteria:

- Ongoing, persistent lack of gaining proficiency in Math and English
- Abuse: Mental, Physical, or Sexual
- Frequent relocation of residency
- Homelessness
- Inadequate emotional support
- Mental/Physical Health problems
- Personal or Family problems or situations
- Recurring absenteeism
- Pregnancy
- Students who are single parents

While not required, it is expected that students who attend the Dream Academy work part or full-time. Students are scheduled to attend at least one day a week for synchronous instruction. The expectation is that they will work independently on their coursework the rest of the week. Students who do not maintain good attendance and stay current on all coursework will be disqualified and dismissed from the program at the coordinator's discretion.

Please note: The Dream Academy is designed for those students who have extenuating circumstances, but are serious about graduating from high school, no misbehavior will be tolerated and any student receiving a behavior referral for any reason may be dismissed and disqualified from the program immediately at the coordinator's discretion.

Cellphones

High School students given the privilege to attend the Dream Academy will turn in their cellphones to be locked up in a secure device upon their arrival after 8:05 a.m. Cell phones will remain locked up until the student leaves for the day or at 3:15 p.m. whichever comes first. Students who refuse to do so may be dismissed from the program.

Coursework

Students at the Dream Academy utilize the Edmentum online platform. Dream Academy teachers are available to assist students and teach mini-lessons in each subject area to help students be more successful.

Connect Care

The Connect Care program is a program that Beebe School District offers to students with extensive extenuating circumstances or who are expelled from campus so those students may still have access to curriculum. The Dream Academy teachers oversee most of the Connect Care students, however, the AE Coordinator may assist and oversee specific cases.

Coursework

Students in the Connect Care program utilize the Edmentum online platform and/or virtual Arkansas. Dream Academy teachers are available to assist students and teach virtual mini-lessons in each subject area to help students be more successful.

Virtual Option

The Beebe School District virtual option is only available to students in 7-12th grade that have shown exceptional progress in the classroom and have extensive extenuating circumstances that require them to be off campus. Potential virtual students must apply for the virtual option and each student's file is reviewed and presented to a district committee before acceptance is granted.

Coursework

Students in the Virtual program utilize Virtual Arkansas courseware. There is a facilitator available on campus to assist with opening and facilitating assessments, but all coursework and instruction is provided by Virtual Arkansas and not Beebe School District personnel.